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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which statements involve substantial risk and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future
events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “project,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of
these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q include statements about:
a.

our future financial performance, including our expectations regarding our revenue, cost of revenue, operating expenses, our ability to determine reserves and our ability
to achieve and maintain future profitability;
b. our future operational performance, including our expectations regarding ARR, dollar-based net retention rate, and the number of large customers;
c. the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to meet our liquidity needs;
d. the demand for our products and services or for security solutions in general, including our recently introduced SaaS offering, the ForgeRock Identity Cloud;
e. our ability to attract and retain customers and partners;
f. our ability to cross-sell to our existing customers;
g. our ability to develop new products and features and bring them to market in a timely manner and make enhancements to our offerings;
h. our ability to compete with existing and new competitors in existing and new markets and offerings;
i. our expectations regarding the effects of existing and developing laws and regulations, including with respect to privacy, data protection and information security, as well
as taxation;
j. the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and associated economic downturn on our business and results of operations;
k. our ability to manage and insure risk associated with our business;
l. our expectations regarding new and evolving markets;
m. our ability to develop and protect our brand;
n. our ability to maintain the security and availability of our platform and protect against data breaches and other security incidents;
o. our expectations and management of future growth;
p. our ability to continue to expand internationally;
q. our expectations concerning relationships with third parties;
r. our ability to obtain, maintain, protect, enhance, defend or enforce our intellectual property;
s. our ability to successfully acquire and integrate companies and assets;
t. the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel; and
u. the increased expenses associated with being a public company.
We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects. The outcomes of the events described in these forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors described in the section
titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and
uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
The forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or to reflect new information or the
occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements,
and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments we may make.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
FORGEROCK, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
September 30,
2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $26 and $159, respectively
Contract assets
Deferred commissions
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets
Deferred commissions
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Contract and other assets

$

$

Total assets

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
$
Accrued compensation
Accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of operating lease liability
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Long-term operating lease liability
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; zero and 41,557 shares authorized at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively; zero and 40,843 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively (liquidation
preference of zero and $268,619 at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000 and zero shares authorized as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively;
and zero shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Class A common stock; $ 0.001 par value; 1,000,000 and zero shares authorized as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively; 12,650 and zero shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Class B common stock; $0.001 par value; 500,000 and zero shares authorized as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively; 69,052 and zero shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Common stock; $0.001 par value; zero and 83,500 shares authorized as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively; zero
and 24,186 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
$
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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December 31,
2020

197,221
180,872
36,071
23,079
6,267
7,224
450,734
12,242
2,106
4,358
1,543
470,983

$

878
15,319
5,927
—
1,766
49,890
2,700
76,480
39,451
2,876
7,300
1,568
127,675

$

$

99,953
—
35,372
11,167
5,923
3,802
156,217
8,825
2,535
—
817
168,394

1,370
13,891
3,179
58
—
50,341
10,192
79,031
39,338
—
5,162
3,538
127,069

—

231,503

—

—

13

—

69

—

—
587,371
7,322
(251,467)
343,308
470,983 $

24
20,602
5,253
(216,057)
(190,178)
168,394
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FORGEROCK, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Revenue:
Subscription term licenses
Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance
Perpetual licenses
Total subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total revenue
Cost of revenue:
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Foreign currency gain (loss)
Fair value adjustment on warrants and preferred stock tranche option
Interest expense
Other, net
Interest and other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

$

$

Net loss per share attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders:
$
Basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
Class A and Class B common stockholders:
Basic and diluted

19,364 $
22,940
183
42,487
1,739
44,226

16,102
14,910
158
31,170
953
32,123

4,517
3,977
8,494
35,732

62,949 $
61,543
885
125,377
3,652
129,029

42,204
41,686
739
84,629
2,865
87,494

2,976
2,069
5,045
27,078

12,312
10,658
22,970
106,059

9,003
6,434
15,437
72,057

10,827
22,509
11,188
44,524
(8,792)
(2,684)
(2,729)
(1,195)
339
(6,269)
(15,061)
205
(15,266) $

9,432
18,135
6,214
33,781
(6,703)
2,699
(2,415)
(1,201)
(65)
(982)
(7,685)
124
(7,809) $

31,214
64,795
28,091
124,100
(18,041)
(3,003)
(10,068)
(3,572)
(66)
(16,709)
(34,750)
660
(35,410) $

26,792
56,375
19,469
102,636
(30,579)
(5,142)
(4,196)
(3,318)
(225)
(12,881)
(43,460)
303
(43,763)

(0.44) $

(0.32) $

(1.26) $

(1.83)

34,680

24,039

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

$

28,124

23,941
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FORGEROCK, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)
(unaudited)

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Net change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Total comprehensive loss

Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
$
(15,266) $
(7,809) $
(35,410) $
(43,763)
20
2,804
(12,442)

$

$

—
(2,792)
(10,601) $

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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24
2,045
(33,341) $

—
5,826
(37,937)
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FORGEROCK, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Redeemable convertible
preferred stock
Shares
Amount

Balances at June 30, 2021
Stock-based compensation expense
Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock into Class B common stock in
connection with initial public offering
Issuance of common stock upon initial public
offering net of underwriting discounts,
commissions and issuance costs
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
warrants
Exercise of common stock options
Common stock issued upon vesting of
restricted stock units, net of tax withholding
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale
securities
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at September 30, 2021
Balances at June 30, 2020
Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of common stock options
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at September 30, 2020

42,778,408 $ 263,178
—
—
(42,778,408) (263,178)

Class A and Class B
common stock and
Common stock
Shares
Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

26,358 $
3,109

4,498
—

Accumulated
deficit

$

Total
stockholders'
equity
(deficit)

25,421,137 $
—

25
—

(236,201) $
—

(205,320)
3,109

42,778,408

43

263,135

—

—

263,178

—

—

12,650,000

13

289,307

—

—

289,320

—
—

—
—

344,085
328,417

1
—

8,272
718

—
—

—
—

8,273
718

—

—

179,763

—

(3,528)

—

—

(3,528)

—
—
—
— $

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
81,701,810 $

—
—
—
82

—
—
—
$ 587,371 $

40,842,619 $ 231,503
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
40,842,619 $ 231,503

24,002,575 $
—
53,445
—
—
24,056,020 $

24
—
—
—
—
24

$

$

17,727 $
1,404
50
—
—
19,181 $

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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20
2,804
—
7,322

$

—
—
(15,266)
(251,467) $

20
2,804
(15,266)
343,308

16,217 $
—
—
(2,792)
—
13,425 $

(210,217) $
—
—
—
(7,809)
(218,026) $

(176,249)
1,404
50
(2,792)
(7,809)
(185,396)
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FORGEROCK, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Class A and Class B
common stock and
Common stock
Shares
Amount

Redeemable convertible
preferred stock
Shares
Amount

Balances at December 31, 2020
Stock-based compensation expense
Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock
issuance, net of issuance costs
Reclassification of preferred stock tranche option
liability upon issuance of Series E-1 redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock into Class B common stock in connection
with initial public offering
Issuance of common stock upon initial public
offering net of underwriting discounts,
commissions and issuance costs
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
warrants
Exercise of common stock options
Common stock issued upon vesting of restricted
stock units, net of tax withholding
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at September 30, 2021
Balances at December 31, 2019
Stock-based compensation expense
Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock
issuance, net of issuance costs
Exercise of common stock options, net of
repurchased shares from employees
Repurchase of shares from employees
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balances at September 30, 2020

40,842,619 $ 231,503
—
—

24,185,622 $
—

24
—

Additional
paid-in
capital

$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

20,602 $
6,396

5,253
—

Accumulated
deficit

$

Total
stockholders'
equity
(deficit)

(216,057) $
—

(190,178)
6,396

1,935,789

19,951

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

11,724

—

—

—

—

—

—

(42,778,408)

(263,178)

42,778,408

43

263,135

—

—

263,178

—

—

12,650,000

13

289,307

—

—

289,320

—
—

—
—

344,085
1,563,932

1
1

8,272
3,187

—
—

—
—

8,273
3,188

—
—
—
—
— $

—
—
—
—
—

179,763
—
—
—
81,701,810 $

—
—
—
—
82

(3,528)
—
—
—
$ 587,371 $

—
24
2,045
—
7,322

31,145,475 $ 139,734
—
—

23,716,033 $
—

24
—

$

7,599
—

9,697,144

91,769

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
40,842,619 $ 231,503

650,919
(310,932)
—
—
24,056,020 $

—
1
(1)
—
—
24 $

14,660 $
3,751
—

—

807
(37)
—
—
19,181 $

—

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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5,826
—
13,425

$
$

—
—
—
(35,410)
(251,467) $

(3,528)
24
2,045
(35,410)
343,308

(172,785) $
—

(150,502)
3,751

—

$

—
(1,478)
—
(43,763)
(218,026) $

—
808
(1,516)
5,826
(43,763)
(185,396)
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FORGEROCK, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Noncash operating lease expense
Restructuring and impairment charges
Stock-based compensation expense
Amortization of deferred commissions
Foreign currency remeasurement loss
Change in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Change in fair value of preferred stock tranche option liability
Accretion of premium amortization of discount on short-term investments
Other non-cash
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Deferred commissions
Accounts receivable
Contract and other non-current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Operating lease liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of short-term investments
Sales of short-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions
Payment of offering costs
Proceeds from exercises of employee stock options
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Redeemable convertible preferred stock issuance costs
Employee payroll taxes paid for net shares settlement of restricted stock units
Repurchase of common stock from employees
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of issuance costs
Principal repayments on debt
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year

$

$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year

9

(35,410)

$

(43,763)

795
1,186
—
6,396
10,436
1,972
5,871
4,157
608
157

883
—
356
4,950
9,614
5,171
799
3,392
(7)
649

(14,366)
(2,170)
(13,500)
(3,696)
(1,614)
272
3,244
4,306
(31,356)

(11,621)
8,948
(2,499)
153
—
(364)
(318)
(1,161)
(24,818)

(459)
(201,415)
19,960
(181,914)

(768)
(2,992)
—
(3,760)

295,694
(4,076)
3,189
19,951
—
(3,528)
—
—
(120)
311,110
(638)
97,202
100,042
197,244

—
—
458
93,532
(343)
—
(2,307)
9,914
(186)
101,068
88
72,578
28,785
101,363

$
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest

$

2,536

$

2,714

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to common stock (Note 12)

$

263,178

$

—

Deferred offering costs accrued but not yet paid

$

2,298

$

—

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash included in prepaids and other current assets

$

$

Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

197,221
23
197,244

101,307
56
101,363

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Overview and Basis of Presentation
Company and Background
ForgeRock, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (referred to as “ForgeRock”, the “Company”, “we” or “us”) is a modern digital identity platform transforming the
way enterprises secure, manage, and govern the identities of customers, employees and partners, APIs, microservices, devices, and Internet of Things (IoT). ForgeRock makes
this possible through a unified and extensive identity platform to enable enterprises to provide exceptional digital user experiences without compromising security and privacy.
ForgeRock’s identity platform provides a full suite of identity management, access management, identity governance, and artificial intelligence (AI)-powered autonomous
identity solutions. The Company is headquartered in San Francisco, California and has operations in Canada and the United States of America (collectively referred to as
Americas), France, Germany, Norway and the United Kingdom (collectively referred to as EMEA), Australia, New Zealand and Singapore (collectively referred to as APAC).
The Company was formed in Norway in 2009 and incorporated in Delaware in February 2012.
Initial Public Offering
On September 20, 2021, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”), in which the Company issued and sold12,650,000 shares of Class A common
stock at a price per share of $25.00, including 1,650,000 shares resulting from the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. The Company
received net proceeds of $295.7 million from the IPO, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $21.3 million and before deducting estimated offering costs
of $6.4 million.
Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, all shares of the Company’s outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock converted into42,778,408 shares of
common stock on a one-to-one basis and immediately thereafter but still prior to the completion of the Company’s IPO, all outstanding common stock were reclassified into
25,421,137 shares of Class B common stock on aone-to-one basis.
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which in
the opinion of management are necessary to fairly state the financial position and the results of operations for the interim periods presented. The Company’s condensed
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Unaudited Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Information
The accompanying interim condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2021, the condensed consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss,
and redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and the interim condensed
consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and the related footnote disclosures are unaudited.
These interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in connection with the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2020, included in the final prospectus for the Company’s IPO dated September 15, 2021 and filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the
SEC, pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on September 17, 2021 (the “Final Prospectus”).
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
and do not include all disclosures normally required in annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In management’s opinion, the
unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual consolidated financial statements and include all adjustments
necessary to state fairly the consolidated financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2021, the results of operations for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020 and cash flows for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. The results for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2021 or for any future period.
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Use of Estimates
The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP as set forth in the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”). These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates and assumptions. The significant estimates and
assumptions include but are not limited to (i) standalone selling price (“SSP”) in revenue recognition, (ii) valuation of deferred taxes, (iii) valuation of stock-based
compensation, (iv) valuation of the Company’s common stock prior to the Company’s IPO in September 2021, (v) valuation of the preferred stock tranche option liability prior
to the Company’s IPO, and (vi) valuation of preferred stock warrant liability. Management evaluates these estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis and makes estimates
based on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable. However, because future events and their effects cannot be determined with
certainty, actual results may differ from these assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.
In 2019, the World Health Organization categorized the Coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”) as a pandemic. The rapid worldwide spread of COVID-19 has resulted in
economic and societal disruptions and uncertainties, which have negatively impacted business with a corresponding decrease in demand for certain goods and services,
including possibly from the Company’s customers.
The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted and may continue to disrupt the operations of the Company’s customers and partners, particularly the Company’s customers in
industries, including travel and entertainment, that have been especially impacted by the pandemic. Other disruptions or potential disruptions resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic include restrictions on the Company’s personnel and the personnel of the Company’s partners to travel and access customers for training, delays in product
development efforts, and additional government requirements or other incremental mitigation efforts that may further impact the Company’s business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
If the pandemic or its impact changes, the Company’s judgments or estimates will also change, and those changes could materially impact the Company’s condensed
consolidated financial statements.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Except for the policies updated below, including the accounting policy for leases that was updated below as a result of the Company adopting the FASB Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) Leases (“Topic 842”) on January 1, 2021, there have been no significant changes from the significant accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 of the
“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 which are included in our prospectus filed
pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on September 17, 2021 (the “Final Prospectus”).
Stock-based compensation
All stock-based compensation to employees, including the purchase rights issued under the Company's 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2021 ESPP”), is
based on the fair value of the awards on the date of grant. This cost is recognized as an expense following the straight-line attribution method, over the requisite service period,
for stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs) and restricted stock, and over the offering period, for the purchase rights issued under the 2021 ESPP. The Company uses the
Black-Scholes option pricing model to measure the fair value of its stock options and the purchase rights issued under the 2021 ESPP. The fair value of the RSUs is determined
using the fair value of the Company’s Class A common stock on the date of grant.
The Company accounts for equity awards issued to employees and non-employees based on the fair value of the award, determined using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. Prior to the IPO, the fair value of the Company’s common stock was determined by the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time of
grant. Prior to the IPO, the fair value of the shares of common stock underlying stock options had been established by our board of directors, which was responsible for these
estimates, and had been based in part upon a valuation provided by a third-party valuation firm. Because there had been no public market for our common stock, our board of
directors considered this independent valuation and other factors, including, but not limited to, revenue growth, the current status of the technical and commercial success of our
operations, our financial condition, the stage of development and competition to establish the fair value of our common stock at the time of grant of the option. After the IPO,
the Company uses the market closing price of its Class A common stock on the date of grant for the fair value.
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Short-term investments
Short-term investments consist primarily of money market funds, U.S. treasury and agency securities, commercial paper, corporate debt and asset-backed securities.
The Company’s policy generally requires investments to be investment grade, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. The Company
classifies its short-term investments as available-for-sale securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such classification at each balance sheet date. The Company has
classified its investments as current based on the nature of the investments and their availability for use in current operations.
Available-for-sale debt securities are recorded at fair value each reporting period. Unrealized gains and losses on these investments are reported as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the condensed consolidated balance sheets until realized. Interest income is reported within other, net in the
condensed consolidated statements of operations. The Company periodically evaluates its investments to assess whether those with unrealized loss positions are other-thantemporarily impaired. The Company considers various factors in determining whether to recognize an impairment charge, including the length of time the investment has been
in a loss position, the extent to which the fair value is less than the Company’s cost basis, and the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee. Realized gains and
losses are determined based on the specific identification method and are reported in Other, net in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company did not consider any
of its investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired as of September 30, 2021.
JOBS Act Accounting Election
As an emerging growth company (“EGC”), the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”) allows the Company to delay adoption of new or revised
accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies until such pronouncements are applicable to private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act
registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). The
Company may elect to use this extended transition period under the JOBS Act until such time as the Company is no longer considered to be an EGC. The adoption dates for
recently adopted accounting standards discussed below reflect this election, where applicable.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU 2016-02 requires that a lessee recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from
operating leases. A lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use (ROU) asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. For leases with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting policy election by
class of underlying asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. In transition, lessees and lessors are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the
earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach.
The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 and related amendments on January 1, 2021, using the optional transition method and recorded an initial adjustment of $5.8
million to operating lease right-of-use assets, $6.5 million to operating lease liabilities and $0.7 million of unamortized deferred rent included in other liabilities in the
condensed consolidated balance sheet on January 1, 2021. The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within Topic 842,
which allowed the Company to carry forward the historical lease classification, retain the initial direct costs for any leases that existed prior to the adoption of the standard and
not reassess whether any contracts entered into prior to the adoption are leases. The Company also elected to account for lease and non-lease components in its real estate lease
agreements as a single lease component in determining lease assets and liabilities. In addition, the Company elected not to recognize the right-of-use assets and liabilities for
leases with lease terms of one year or less. The Company did not elect the practical expedient allowing the use-of-hindsight, which would require the Company to reassess the
lease term of its leases based on all facts and circumstances through the effective date and did not elect the practical expedient pertaining to land easements as this is not
applicable to the current contract portfolio.
As of September 30, 2021, the aggregate balances of lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were $4.4 million and $4.6 million, respectively. The standard did not
materially affect the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations. The Company will continue to disclose comparative reporting periods prior to January 1,
2021 under the previous accounting guidance, ASC 840 Leases. See Note 7 Leases for further information.
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3. Segment and Revenue Disclosures
Segment Reporting:
Revenue by geographic region is based on the delivery address of the customer and is summarized in the below table (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Americas
EMEA
APAC
Total Revenue

$

21,123 $
16,194
6,909
44,226 $

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

18,422 $
10,367
3,334
32,123 $

66,689 $
45,084
17,256
129,029 $

47,900
30,714
8,880
87,494

The Company’s revenue from the United States was $18.8 million and $61.1 million, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. The
Company’s revenue from the United States was $16.7 million and $44.0 million, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. The Company’s
revenue from the United Kingdom was $5.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. The Company’s revenue from the United Kingdom did not exceed 10% of
the Company’s total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The Company’s revenue from the United Kingdom was $ 3.4 million and $10.9 million for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. No other individual country exceeded 10% of the Company’s total quarterly or year to date revenue.
Disaggregation of revenue
The principal category the Company uses to disaggregate revenues is the nature of the Company’s products and services as presented in the condensed consolidated
statements of operations, the total of which is reconciled to the condensed consolidated revenue from the Company’s single reportable segment. In the following table, revenue
is presented by software license and service categories (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Revenue:
Multi-year term licenses
1-year term licenses
Total subscription term licenses
Subscription SaaS, support and maintenance

$

10,222 $
9,142
19,364
22,940
42,304
183
42,487
1,739
44,226 $

Perpetual licenses
Total subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total Revenue

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

7,162 $
8,940
16,102
14,910
31,012
158
31,170
953
32,123 $

37,834 $
25,115
62,949
61,543
124,492
885
125,377
3,652
129,029 $

17,440
24,764
42,204
41,686
83,890
739
84,629
2,865
87,494

Contract assets and deferred revenue
Contract assets and deferred revenue from contracts with customers were as follows (in thousands):
September 30,
2021

Contract assets
Deferred revenue

$

23,630
57,190

December 31,
2020

$

11,347
55,504

Contract assets are recorded when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing. Contract assets are transferred to accounts receivable upon customer invoicing. Beginning
of the period contract asset amounts transferred to accounts receivable during the period were $3.1 million and $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and
2020, respectively and $8.0 million and $5.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Revenue recognized that was included in the deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the period was $24.2 million and $17.5 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively and $45.5 million and $33.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Remaining performance obligations
Remaining Performance Obligations (“RPO”) represents transaction price allocated to still unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligations. Those obligations
are recorded as deferred revenue or contractually stated or committed orders under multi-year billing plans for subscription and perpetual licenses, Software as a Service “SaaS”
and support and maintenance contracts for which the associated deferred revenue has not yet been recorded.
As of September 30, 2021, total remaining non-cancellable performance obligations under the Company’s subscriptions SaaS, support and maintenance contracts with
customers was approximately $125.4 million. Of this amount, the Company expects to recognize revenue of approximately $77.6 million, or 62%, over the next 12 months, with
the balance to be recognized as revenue thereafter.
Contract Costs
The following table summarizes the account activity of deferred commissions for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Beginning balance
Additions to deferred commissions
Amortization of deferred commissions

$

Ending balance

$

17,055 $
4,656
(3,202)
18,509 $

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

10,225 $
4,654
(3,281)
11,598 $

14,748 $
14,197
(10,436)
18,509 $

10,042
11,170
(9,614)
11,598

September 30,
2021

Deferred commissions, current
Deferred commissions, noncurrent

$

Total deferred commissions

$

6,267
12,242
18,509

December 31,
2020

$
$

5,923
8,825
14,748

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Customers
The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and
accounts receivable. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are currently held in one financial institution and, at times, may exceed federally insured limits.
As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, no single customer represented greater than 10% of accounts receivable. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, no single customer represented greater than 10% of revenue.
4. Collaborative Arrangements
In the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company recognized revenue of $1.3 million and $3.5 million, respectively, and royalty expenses of $0.1
million and $0.6 million, respectively, related to the Company’s collaborative arrangements. In the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recognized
revenue of $0.1 million and $1.2 million and royalty expenses of $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
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5. Fair Value Measurements
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair
value is defined under ASC 820 as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under ASC 820
must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The standard describes a fair value hierarchy based on the following three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value, of which the first two are considered
observable and the last unobservable:
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that
are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The following table represents the fair value hierarchy for the Company’s financial assets and liabilities held by value on a recurring basis (in thousands):
September 30, 2021
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Assets:
Money market funds
Total cash equivalents
Commercial paper
Asset-backed securities
Corporate debt securities
U.S. Government debt securities
Total short-term investments
Total cash equivalents and short-term investments

$

$

169,315 $
169,315
—
—
—
—
—
169,315 $

Total liabilities

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

December 31, 2020
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Assets:
Money market funds
Liabilities:
Preferred stock warrants
Preferred stock tranche option

— $
—
58,050
30,287
66,099
26,436
180,872
180,872 $

Total

169,315
169,315
58,050
30,287
66,099
26,436
180,872
350,187

Total

$

79,876

$

—

$

—

$

79,876

$

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

2,401 $
7,567
9,968 $

2,401
7,567
9,968

$

$

$

The preferred stock warrants and preferred stock tranche option liability values were estimated using assumptions related to the remaining contractual terms, the riskfree interest rates, the volatility of comparable public companies over the remaining terms and the fair value of underlying shares. The significant unobservable inputs used in
the fair value measurement included the fair value of the Company’s underlying preferred stock at the valuation date and the estimated terms. Increases (decreases) in the fair
value were recognized in fair value adjustment on warrants and preferred stock tranche option on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
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The change in the fair value of the warrants was as follows (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2021

Beginning balance
Increase in fair value of preferred stock warrants
Balance at issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants

$

Ending balance

$

2,401
5,871
(8,272)
—

The change in fair value of the preferred stock tranche option was as follows (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2021

Beginning balance
Increase in fair value of preferred stock tranche option
Balance at reclassification to redeemable convertible preferred stock

$

Ending balance

$

7,567
4,157
(11,724)
—

For certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash held in banks, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expense, the carrying amounts
approximate fair value due to their short maturities, and are, therefore, excluded from the fair value table above.
6. Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
The amortized cost, unrealized loss and estimated fair value of the Company’s cash equivalents and short-term investments as of September 30, 2021 were as follows
(in thousands):
September 30, 2021
Amortized Cost

Cash Equivalents:
Money market funds
Corporate debt securities
Total cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Commercial paper
Asset-backed securities
Corporate debt securities
U.S. Government debt securities
Short-term investments
Total

$

$

169,315
—
169,315
58,050
30,279
66,081
26,438
180,848
350,163

Unrealized Gain

$

$

—
—
—
—
9
18
—
27
27

Estimated Fair
Value

Unrealized Loss

$

—
—
—

$

$

169,315
—
169,315

— $
(1)
—
(2)
(3)
(3) $

58,050
30,287
66,099
26,436
180,872
350,187

All short-term investments were designated as available-for-sale as of September 30, 2021. The Company had $79.9 million in money market funds at December 31,
2020.
The following table presents the contractual maturities of the Company’s short-term investments as of September 30, 2021 (in thousands):
September 30, 2021
Amortized Cost
Estimated Fair Value

Due within one year
Due between one to five years

$
$

Total

17

121,766
59,082
180,848

$
$

121,776
59,096
180,872
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As of September 30, 2021, the Company did not have any unsettled purchases or unsettled maturities of short-term investments.
The Company had short-term investments with a market value of $86.6 million in unrealized loss positions as of September 30, 2021. There were no material gross
unrealized gains or losses from available-for-sale securities and no material realized gains or losses from available-for-sale securities that were reclassified out of accumulated
other comprehensive income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021.
For available-for-sale debt securities that have unrealized losses, the Company evaluates whether (i) the Company has the intention to sell any of these investments, (ii)
it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell any of these available-for-sale debt securities before recovery of the entire amortized cost basis and (iii)
the decline in the fair value of the investment is due to credit or non- credit related factors. Based on this evaluation, the Company determined that for short-term investments,
there were no material credit or non-credit related impairments as of September 30, 2021.
7. Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU 2016-02 requires that a lessee recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from operating
leases. A lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use (ROU) asset representing its right
to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2021. The Company primarily has operating leases for office space. The leases
expire on various dates between 2022 and 2029, some of which could include options to extend the lease.
Lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As these leases do
not provide an implicit rate, ForgeRock uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the lease’s commencement date in determining the present
value of lease payments. The Company considers information including, but not limited to, the lease term, the Company’s credit rating and interest rates of similar debt
instruments with comparable credit ratings and security interests. The lease right-of-use assets are increased by any lease prepayments made and reduced by any lease incentives
such as tenant improvement allowances. Options to extend the lease term are included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that ForgeRock will exercise the extension
option. The Company’s operating leases typically include non-lease components such as common-area maintenance costs. ForgeRock has elected to include non-lease
components with lease payments for the purpose of calculating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, to the extent that they are fixed. Non-lease components that are not fixed
are expensed as incurred as variable lease payments. Leases with a term of one year or less are not recognized on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet, while
the associated lease payments are recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The following table summarizes the components of lease expense, which are included in operating expenses in the Company’s condensed statements of operations and
comprehensive loss (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2021

Operating lease cost
Variable lease cost

$
$

Total lease cost

584
162
746

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2021

$

1,724
543
2,267

$

Variable lease payments include amounts relating to common area maintenance, real estate taxes and insurance and are recognized in the condensed statements of
operations and comprehensive loss as incurred.
The following table summarizes supplemental information related to leases (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)
Operating leases
Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases

$

2,009
4.6
4.4

18

%
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The following table summarizes the maturities of lease liabilities as of September 30, 2021 (in thousands):
2021 (3 months remaining)
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total future minimum lease payments
Less: imputed interest
Present value of future minimum lease payments
Less: Current portion of operating lease liability

$

627
1,544
886
726
461
902
5,146
(504)
4,642
(1,766)
2,876

$

Long-term operating lease liability

As previously disclosed in the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, and under previous lease accounting
standard ASC 840, Leases, the aggregate future noncancelable minimum rental payments on its operating leases as of December 31, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ending December 31:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 and years thereafter

$

$

Total minimum future rentals

2,455
1,444
887
762
1,355
6,903

8. Debt
The following table presents total debt outstanding (in thousands, except interest rates):
September 30, 2021
Amount
Interest Rate

$10.0 million March 2019
$10.0 million September 2019
$10.0 million December 2019
$10.0 million March 2020
Other debt
Less: debt discount
Total debt, net of debt discount
Less: short-term debt
Total long-term debt

$

10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
—
(549)
39,451
—
39,451

$

December 31, 2020
Amount
Interest Rate

8.00 % $
8.00 %
8.00 %
8.00 %

$

10,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
120
(724)
39,396
(58)
39,338

8.40 %
9.20 %
10.00 %
10.00 %
6.23 %

In September 2021, the Company executed an amendment to the Amended Restated Plain English Growth Capital Loan and Security Agreement with TriplePoint and
TriplePoint Capital LLC (the “A&R Loan Agreement”), which amends and restates the 2016 Agreement. The payments on all cash advances are interest only. The amended
A&R Loan Agreement became effective once the registration statement in connection with the initial public offering was declared effective on September 16, 2021. The key
provisions of the amendment include: (1) a covenant requiring the maintenance of a $20.0 million cash balance when an event of default exits, (2) change in the interest rate for
outstanding term loan to be eight percent (8.00%) per annum on the existing loans, (3) extension of the maturity dates by twenty-four months, (4) change in the prepayment
penalties and (5) and a change in the prepayment premium. The principal will be due at the end of the term of the respective advance. The A&R Loan Agreement is secured by
substantially all the Company’s assets, excluding its intellectual property, which was subject to a negative pledge. The A&R Loan Agreement contains customary
representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants applicable to the Company, including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens,
investments, dividends and other distributions.
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The A&R Loan Agreement was accounted for as a modification and not an extinguishment as the terms of the Company’s outstanding debt were not substantially
different from the original terms. The Company amortizes the debt issuance costs as interest expense using the effective interest method over the remaining term of the loan.
As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, accrued interest for the end-of term payments was $1.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The effective interest
rate on debt was 8.46% and 11.44% for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. As of September 30, 2021, the Company
was in compliance with the covenants set forth in the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement.
Future principal payments on outstanding borrowings as of September 30, 2021 are as follows:
Years ending:
2021 (3 months remaining)
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

$

$

Total

—
—
—
—
30,000
10,000
40,000

In connection with the issuance of the debt, the Company also entered into separate warrant transactions. As of September 30, 2021, all the warrants to acquire the
Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock had been exercised (see Note 12 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and related warrants and option).
9. Commitments and Contingencies
Letters of Credit
As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had outstanding letters of credit under an office lease agreement that totaled $0.6 million, which
primarily guaranteed early termination fees in the event of default. The letters of credit are not collateralized.
Purchase Commitments
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into various purchase commitments primarily related to third-party cloud hosting and data services, information
technology operations and marketing events. Total noncancelable purchase commitments as of September 30, 2021 were approximately $13.8 million for periods through 2024.
Employee Benefit Plans
The 401(k) Plan and other pension plans that the Company provides or is mandated to provide are all defined contribution plans. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s 401(k) and other pension plan contributions were $2.7 million and $1.5 million, respectively.
Warranties and Guarantees
The Company’s software and software as a service (SaaS) offerings are generally warrantied to perform materially in accordance with the Company’s documentation
under normal use and circumstances. To date, the Company has not incurred significant costs and has not accrued a liability in the accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements as a result of these obligations.
The Company has not experienced any significant failures to meet defined support response times or SaaS uptimes pursuant to those agreements and has not accrued
any liabilities related to these agreements in the condensed consolidated financial statements.
The Company has not been obligated to make any payments for contingent indemnification obligations in respect to third-party claims, and no liabilities have been
recorded for these obligations as of September 30, 2021.
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Legal Matters
From time to time, the Company may be a party to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company makes a provision
for a liability relating to legal matters when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company maintains
insurance to cover certain actions and believes that resolution of such claims, charges, or litigation will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results
of operations, or liquidity.
10. Income Taxes
For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded a tax provision of $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded a tax provision of $0.7 million and $0.3 million, respectively. The effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal
statutory income tax rate of 21% primarily as a result of not recognizing deferred tax assets for domestic and certain foreign jurisdictions due to a full valuation allowance
against deferred tax assets.
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11. Stock-based Compensation
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
In September 2021, the Company’s board of directors adopted and the stockholders approved the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) as a
successor to 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) with the purpose of granting stock-based awards to employees, directors, officers and consultants, including stock
options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units (RSUs). A total of 7,276,000 shares of Class A common stock were initially available for issuance under the 2021
Plan. The Company’s compensation committee administers the 2021 Plan. In addition, the shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan will also include a number of shares
of Class A common stock equal to the number of shares of Class B common stock subject to awards granted under the 2012 Plan that, on or after the termination of the 2012
Plan, expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised in full or are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company (provided that the maximum number of shares that
may be added to the 2021 Plan pursuant to this sentence is 14,913,309 shares). The number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock available for issuance under the
2021 Plan is subject to an annual increase on the first day of each fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2022, equal to the lesser of: (i) 8,085,000 shares; (ii) 5% of the outstanding
shares of all classes of the Company’s common stock as of the last day of the immediately preceding year; or (iii) such other amount as the Company’s board of directors may
determine.
2012 Equity Incentive Plan
The 2012 Plan (the Prior Plan), which was recently amended in March 2021, was terminated in September 2021, in connection with the adoption of The Company’s
2021 Plan, and stock-based awards are no longer granted under the Prior Plan. However, the Prior Plan will continue to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding
awards previously granted thereunder.
The Company’s 2012 Plan permitted the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and stock appreciation rights. As
of September 30, 2021, the Company has not issued any stock appreciation rights. The Company issued 240,000 and 111,111 RSUs in 2016 and 2018, respectively. The vesting
terms included time, performance and the occurrence of liquidity event. Upon the Company’s IPO, a liquidity event which occurred in September, 2021, stock-based
compensation expense of $0.9 million was recognized for the RSUs.
A summary of the Company’s stock-based compensation expense as recognized on the condensed consolidated statements of operations is presented in thousands
below:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation

$

26 $
564
1,078
1,441
3,109 $

$

35 $
167
619
583
1,404 $

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

193 $
1,058
2,046
3,099
6,396 $

112
1,084
1,539
2,215
4,950

The following table summarizes the activity of the Plan:

Number of
Awards
Outstanding

Balance at December 31, 2020
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price

15,465,671 $
2,443,785
(1,900,043)
(583,753)
15,425,660

Balance at September 30, 2021
As of September 30, 2021:
Vested and exercisable

9,059,341
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$

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Average
Intrinsic
Value (in
thousands)

3.08
14.30
1.71
4.40

6.2 $

73,155

4.98

6.64 $

523,749

2.70

5.2 $

328,256
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The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021:

Volatility
Expected term (in years)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividends
Weighted-average grant date fair value

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2021

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2021

50.2

50.7

%
6.03
0.95
%
0
%
11.60

$

%
6.04
0.89
%
0
%
8.85

$

As of September 30, 2021, there was $28.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock-based compensation arrangements granted
under the Plan. That expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.24 years.
2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In September 2021, the Company’s board of directors adopted and the stockholders approved the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2021 ESPP”), which
became effective prior to the completion of the IPO, and established with an initial reserve of 1,617,000 shares of common stock. The 2021 ESPP provides for annual increases
in the number of shares available for issuance on the first day of each year equal to the lesser of: (i) 1,617,000 shares; (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares of all classes of the
Company’s common stock as of the last day of the immediately preceding year; or (iii) such other amount determined by the plan administrator. As of September 30, 2021, no
shares had been granted under the 2021 ESPP.
Except for the initial offering period, the ESPP provides for a 12-month offering period beginning November 15 and May 15 of each year, and each offering period will
consist of two six-month purchase periods. The initial offering period began on October 1, 2021 and will end on November 15, 2022. On each purchase date, eligible employees
will purchase the shares at a price per share equal to 85% of the lesser of (1) the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the offering date, or (2) the fair market
value of its common stock on the purchase date.
12. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and related warrants and option
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
Upon the closing of the IPO, all 42,778,408 shares of the Company’s then-outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock, including the option to purchase
1,935,789 shares which was exercised in April 2021, automatically converted on a one-to-one basis to shares of Class B common stock.
Significant terms of the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock at December 31, 2020, were as follows (in thousands, except share amounts):
Shares
Authorized

Series A
Series B
Series C
Series D
Series E

6,952,382
9,108,214
5,785,212
9,711,291
10,000,000
41,557,099

Issued and
Outstanding

6,952,382
9,108,214
5,589,220
9,495,659
9,697,144
40,842,619

Carrying
Value

$

$

7,017 $
15,028
29,836
87,853
91,769
231,503 $

Aggregate
Liquidation
Preference

7,300
15,165
29,943
88,072
128,139
268,619

Preferred Stock
In connection with the IPO, the Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation, which became effective immediately prior to the closing of the
Company’s offering, which authorized 100,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, with a par value of $0.001. As of September 30, 2021, there were 100,000,000
shares of preferred stock authorized and zero shares of preferred stock outstanding.
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Preferred Stock Warrants
In September 24, 2021, after the closing of the Company’s IPO, the warrants to purchase 411,624 shares of preferred stock, all related to the Company’s debt, were
exercised in a cashless exercise for a net amount of 344,085 Class B common stock.
13. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock
The Company has two classes of common stock: Class A common stock and Class B common stock. In connection with the IPO, the Company amended and restated
its certificate of incorporation and authorized 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock and 500,000,000 shares of Class B common stock. The shares of Class A common
stock and Class B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting rights. Each share of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote. Each share of Class B common
stock is entitled to ten votes. Class A and Class B common stock have a par value of $0.001 per share, and are referred to collectively as the Company’s common stock
throughout the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise noted. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive any dividends as may be
declared from time to time by the board of directors.
Shares of Class B common stock may be converted to Class A common stock at any time at the option of the stockholder. Shares of Class B common stock
automatically convert to Class A common stock at the earlier of (i) the 7th anniversary of the filing and effectiveness of the Company’s amended and restated certificate of
incorporation in connection with the IPO, (ii) when the outstanding shares of the Company’s Class B common stock represent less than 5% of the combined voting power of the
Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock, and (iii) the affirmative vote of the holders of 66 2/3% of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding Class
B common stock.
Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, all shares of common stock then outstanding were reclassified into Class B common stock.
14. Net Loss Per Share
The Company computes net loss per share using the two-class method required for multiple classes of common stock and participating securities. The rights, including
the liquidation and dividend rights, of the Class A common stock and Class B common stock are substantially identical, other than voting rights. Accordingly, the Class A
common stock and Class B common stock share equally in the Company’s net losses. As the liquidation and dividend rights are identical, the undistributed earnings are
allocated on a proportionate basis to each class of common stock and the resulting basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders are, therefore, the
same for both Class A and Class B common stock on both individual and combined basis. Before the IPO, the Company’s outstanding securities also included redeemable
convertible preferred stock. The holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock did not have a contractual obligation to share in the Company’s losses, and as a result, net
losses were not allocated to these securities.
The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders during the periods presented. The shares
issued in the IPO, Class A, and Class B common stock issued upon conversion of the outstanding shares of common stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock in the
IPO are included in the table below weighted for the period outstanding in the nine months ended September 30, 2021. There has not been any conversion of Class B shares to
Class A since IPO.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the Company’s calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(in thousands, except per share data)
Class A
Class B
Common

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders
Denominator:
Weighted-average common stock
outstanding attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders:
Basic and diluted

$

(908) $

2,063

$

(0.44) $

(14,358) $

32,618

(0.44) $

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(in thousands, except per share data)
Class A
Class B
Common

(7,809) $

24,039

(0.32) $

(875) $

695

(34,535) $

27,429

(1.26) $

(1.26) $

(43,763)

23,941

(1.83)

Since the Company was in a loss position for all periods presented, basic net loss per share is the same as diluted net loss per share as the inclusion of all potential
common shares outstanding would have been anti- dilutive. The following outstanding potentially dilutive ordinary shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net
loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders for the periods presented, as their effect would have been antidilutive:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Stock options
Restricted stock units
Convertible preferred stock warrants and option
Other awards including contingently issuable shares
Total anti-dilutive shares

—
12,997
268
—
43
13,308

40,843
4,396
351
2,347
72
48,009

—
13,050
305
—
68
13,423

40,843
4,419
351
2,347
84
48,044

15. Related Party Transactions
In April 2020, the Company sold an aggregate of 4,409,596 shares of its Series E redeemable convertible preferred stock to related party investors at a purchase price
of $9.6453 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $42.5 million.
In April 2021, the Company sold an aggregate of 1,935,789 shares of its Series E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stock to a related party investor at a purchase
price of $10.3317 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $20.0 million.
KKR & Co. Inc. (“KKR”) is a U.S.-based investment firm that controls the funds which own approximately7.75% of the Company’s capital stock and has
representation on the ForgeRock Board of Directors. ForgeRock has revenue arrangements with a KKR affiliate in which KKR acquired a significant level of ownership during
the fourth quarter of 2020. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company recognized revenue of $2.1 million and $3.3 million, respectively, from
software license agreements with this KKR affiliate. The Company had $0.1 million in accounts receivable recorded related to these agreements at September 30, 2021.
16. Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through November 12, 2021, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
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Headquarters Office Lease Amendment
On November 8, 2021, the Company amended and extended its operating lease agreement for its headquarters located at 201 Mission Street, Suite 2900, San
Francisco, California. The amendment includes (i) an extension of the lease term which begins on May 1, 2022 and expires on August 31, 2029 with a base rent of $112,953 per
month increasing 3% annually (ii) an abatement of the monthly base rent for asix month period beginning no earlier than May 1, 2022, and (iii) an allowance for tenant
improvements up to $0.9 million.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Note numbers refer to “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in Item 1. Unaudited Financial Statements.
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. As discussed in “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” in
addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements regarding our expectations of future performance,
liquidity and capital resources, our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events
may differ materially from those anticipated or implied in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed under “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Overview
Our vision is a world where you never log in again.
We help people simply and safely access the connected world. We make this possible through a unified and extensive identity platform to help enterprises provide
exceptional digital user experiences without compromising security and privacy. This enables enterprises to deepen their relationships with customers and increase the
productivity of their workforce and partners, while at the same time providing strong security and regulatory compliance.
Our platform is purpose-built for the enterprise and provides mission-critical capabilities, including performance and scale, rich identity functionality, deployment
flexibility, and extensive integration and interoperability. Our platform can handle large usage spikes as evidenced by our platform’s ability to support over 60,000 user-based
access transactions per second per customer, or 216 million per hour. Our platform includes a full suite of identity functionality across Customer Identity Access Management
(CIAM), Access management (AM), and Identity Governance Administration (IGA) and a differentiated identity object modeling approach that supports all identity types. We
enable enterprises to rapidly integrate and secure thousands of applications across types, deployments, and operating environments such as SaaS, mobile, microservices, web,
and legacy, running in public and private cloud, and on-premise. Together, these deep capabilities enable us to provide enterprises with a single view of all their identities in one
unified platform and position us as a leader in digital identity for the enterprise market.
We Generate Substantially All of Our Revenue From Subscriptions
Our revenue includes recurring revenue from term licenses, SaaS, and maintenance and support which we refer to as our subscription revenue.
We Focus on Global Enterprises and Large Organizations, Who are Prioritizing Investments in Identity
Our go-to-market strategy is primarily focused on selling to large global enterprises, who are consistently investing in identity as a top priority.
Our Go-to-Market Strategy is Driven by Close Collaboration Between Our Sales and Marketing Organizations and Our Partners
Our sales and marketing organizations work closely to attract and drive awareness and engagement with prospective customers to help them understand our leadership
in identity and our product differentiation, and to convert prospects into customers. Our strong network of strategic global channel partners that both source and influence
opportunities for us, providing leverage and execution capabilities across the globe.
Our Customer Base Includes Many of the World’s Leading Brands
Our customers include many of the world’s leading enterprises, including the BBC, GEICO, HSBC, Maersk, Standard Chartered, and Toyota.
We Have a Robust Land & Expand Model Enabled in Part by Our Flexible Purchasing Options
The breadth of our platform enables many entry points for new customers and we enable them to purchase one or more product modules for their initial deployment
and expand into new modules for additional functionality over time.
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We have experienced strong growth from a combination of internal drivers and external drivers.
Internal drivers include the continuous innovation of our platform, resulting in new technology, products and deployment offerings, a loyal customer base that
continues to increase their spend with us over time, and the acquisition of new customers. External drivers such as the increasing importance of identity to enterprises, identity
being a key enabler of digital transformation, the growing cyber threat landscape and constantly evolving regulatory and compliance requirements are also driving our growth.
Initial Public Offering
In September 2021, we completed our IPO, in which we issued and sold an aggregate of 12,650,000 shares of our Class A common stock at $25 per share, including
1,650,000 shares issued upon the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds of approximately $295.7 million after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions.
Impact of COVID-19
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to mitigate its impact have significantly curtailed the movement of people, goods and services worldwide, including in
the geographic areas in which we conduct our business operations and from which we generate our revenue. It has also caused societal and economic disruption and financial
market volatility, resulting in business shutdowns and reduced business activity. We believe that the COVID-19 pandemic has had a modest negative impact on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.
The COVID-19 pandemic may cause us to continue to experience the foregoing challenges in our business in the future and could have other effects on our business,
including disrupting our ability to develop new offerings and enhance existing offerings, market and sell our products and conduct business activities generally.
Key Factors Affecting Our Performance
We believe that our future performance will depend on many factors, including the following:
Acquiring New Customers
Our results of operations and growth depends in part on our ability to attract new customers and we believe there is a significant opportunity to grow our customer
base.
Expanding Usage by Existing Customers
Our business depends, in part, on the degree to which our land-and-expand strategy is successful. Our customers often initially adopt our platform for a specific use
case, such as consumer identity, and subsequently increase their adoption as they realize the benefits and flexibility of our platform.
Innovating and Advancing Our Platform
We intend to continue to invest in our research and development to extend the capabilities of our digital identity platform. Our investments in research and
development drive core technology innovation and bring new products to market.
Expanding Strategic Partnerships
Our growth depends in part on our ability to expand our strategic partnerships. We have four types of strategic alliances and partners: (1) Global Strategic Integrators
and implementation partners, (2) OEM partners or customers who utilize components of our platform to deliver services, (3) strategic alliance partners such as Google Cloud
where ForgeRock is a premier partner for digital identity, and (4) Trust Network partners who provide complementary technologies that plug into our platform such as Duo and
LexisNexis ThreatMetrix.
Seasonality
We experience seasonality in our business. We believe seasonality will continue to affect our financial results. Given the purchasing patterns of our customers, we
typically experience seasonality in terms of when we receive orders from our customers. Our customers often time their purchases and renewals of our solutions to coincide with
their fiscal year end, which is typically June 30 or December 31. Because of these purchasing patterns, a greater percentage of our annual subscription revenue from term-based
licenses, the revenue from which is recognized up front at the later of delivery or commencement of the license term, has come from our second and fourth quarters, rather than
from other quarters.
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Key Business Metrics
Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR)
We define ARR as the annualized value of all contractual subscription agreements as of the end of the period, assuming any contract that has expired within 180 days
of a period end is renewed on its existing terms. The total dollar amount of a customer’s contract is divided by the total contract term in months and multiplied by 12 to
annualize. Each customer is then aggregated to arrive at total ARR.
ARR should be viewed in conjunction with revenue, deferred revenue and remaining performance obligations computed and disclosed in accordance with GAAP and
is not intended to be combined with or to replace any of those disclosures. Specifically, ARR, as calculated under the definition herein, does not adjust for the timing impact of
revenue recognition for specific performance obligations identified within a contract. ARR is not a forecast and the active contracts at the date used in calculating ARR may or
may not be extended by our customers.
The table below sets forth our ARR as of the end of September 30, 2021 and 2020.
As of September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

ARR

$

163,964

$

126,180

$

Change

37,784

Percent

30 %

Dollar-Based Net Retention Rate
Our ability to drive growth and generate incremental revenue depends, in part, on our ability to maintain and grow our relationships with customers. An important way
in which we track our performance in this area is by measuring the dollar-based net retention rate. We calculate our dollar-based net retention rate by first identifying customers,
or the Base Customers, in a particular quarter, or the Base Quarter. We then divide the ARR in the same quarter of the subsequent year attributable to the Base Customers, or the
Comparison Quarter, by the ARR attributable to those Base Customers in the Base Quarter. Our dollar-based net retention rate captures any increase or decrease in ARR from
the Base Customers from the Base Quarter to the Comparison Quarter. We expand our relationships with customers as they purchase more identities, add more use cases across
consumer, workforce, and IoT and services, subscribe to additional product offerings, and add additional deployment options such as our SaaS offering.
The table below sets forth our dollar-based net retention rate as of the end of September 30, 2021 and 2020.
2021

Dollar-Based Net Retention Rate

Three Months Ended September 30,
2020

112 %

114 %

Change

(2) %

Number of Large Customers
We focus on the number of large customers because it represents our ability to land-and-expand with large enterprises and the number of large customers is a key
indicator of our ability to grow our business and revenue in future periods. We define a large customer as a customer with $100,000 or greater ARR as of a measurement date.
We had 369 large customers as of September 30, 2021, which represents an 18% increase compared to our large customer count as of September 30, 2020.
We believe that our ability to increase the number of large customers on our platform is an indicator of our market penetration, the growth of our business, and our
potential future business opportunities. Over time, large customers have constituted a greater share of our revenue, which has contributed to an increase in average revenue per
customer. We define a customer as a separate and distinct buying entity, such as a company, an educational or government institution, or a distinct business unit of a large
company that has an active contract with us or one of our partners to access our platform.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe the following non-GAAP financial measures are useful t o investors i n evaluating our
operating performance and liquidity. We use non-GAAP financial measures to understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends, to prepare our annual
budget, to monitor and assess our liquidity, and to develop short-term and long-term operating plans. We believe that the non-GAAP financial measures we review are each a
useful measure to us and to our investors because they provide consistency and comparability with our past performance and between periods, as these metrices generally
eliminate the effects of the variability of certain charges and expenses that may not reflect our overall operating performance and liquidity. We believe that non-GAAP financial
measures, when taken collectively with GAAP financial information, can be helpful to us and to investors because it provides consistency and comparability with past
performance and assists in comparisons with other companies, some of which use similar non-GAAP financial information to supplement their GAAP results.
The non-GAAP financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only and should not be considered a substitute for financial information
presented in accordance with GAAP and may be different from similarly-titled non-GAAP measures used by other companies. The principal limitation of these non-GAAP
financial measures is that they exclude expenses that are required by GAAP to be recorded in our condensed consolidated financial statements. In addition, they are subject to
inherent limitations as they reflect the exercise of judgment by our management about which expenses are excluded or included in determining these non-GAAP financial
measures. A reconciliation is provided below for each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP.
Investors are encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP
financial measures.
Non-GAAP Gross Profit and Non-GAAP Gross Margin
Gross profit is defined as GAAP revenue less cost of revenue and gross margin is GAAP gross profit as a percentage of total revenue. We define non-GAAP gross
profit and non-GAAP gross margin as GAAP gross profit and GAAP gross margin, adjusted to exclude stock-based compensation and restructuring and impairment charges (if
applicable).
A reconciliation of Non-GAAP gross profit to GAAP gross profit, and non-GAAP gross margin to GAAP gross margin, is as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(in thousands, except percentages)

Gross Profit
Add:
Stock-based compensation expense included in cost of revenue

$

35,732

$

27,078

$

106,059

$

72,057

Non-GAAP gross profit
Gross margin
Non-GAAP gross margin

$

26
35,758

$

35
27,113

$

193
106,252

$

112
72,169

81 %
81 %

84 %
84 %

82 %
82 %

82 %
82 %

Non-GAAP Operating Loss and Non-GAAP Operating Margin
We define non-GAAP operating loss and non-GAAP operating margin as GAAP operating loss and GAAP operating margin, adjusted for stock-based compensation
expense and restructuring and impairment charges.
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A reconciliation of non-GAAP operating loss and non-GAAP operating margin to GAAP operating loss and GAAP operating margin, the most directly comparable
GAAP measures, is as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(in thousands, except percentages)

Operating loss
Add:
Stock-based compensation expense
Restructuring and impairment charges

$

(8,792)

Non-GAAP operating loss
Operating margin
Non-GAAP operating margin

$

3,109
—
(5,683)

$

(6,703)

$

1,404
356
(4,943)

(20)%
(13)%

$

(18,041)

$

6,396
—
(11,645)

(21)%
(15)%

$

(30,579)

$

4,950
356
(25,273)

(14)%
(9)%

(35)%
(29)%

Adjusted EBITDA
We define Adjusted EBITDA as operating loss before tax, adjusted for depreciation, stock-based compensation expense and restructuring and impairment charges.
A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to operating loss, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, is as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Operating loss
Depreciation
Stock-based compensation expense
Restructuring and impairment charges

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

(8,792) $
259
3,109
—
(5,424) $

(6,703) $
281
1,404
356
(4,662) $

(18,041)
795
6,396
—
(10,850)

$

$

(30,579)
883
4,950
356
(24,390)

Free Cash Flow
We define free cash flow as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less cash used for purchases of property and equipment.
A reconciliation of free cash flow to net cash used in operating activities, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, is as follows:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities
Less:
Purchases of property and equipment

$

(31,356)

$

(24,818)

Free cash flow
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Cash paid for interest

$

(459)
(31,815)

$

(768)
(25,586)

$
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(181,914)
311,110
2,536

$

(3,760)
101,068
2,714
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Components of Results of Operations
Revenue
We derive revenue primarily from subscriptions and perpetual licenses and, to a lesser extent, professional services.
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses. Subscriptions and perpetual licenses revenue consist of the following:
Subscriptions consist of:
Subscription term licenses. We sell subscriptions for our solutions that are self-managed by our customer within our customer’s IT infrastructure or cloud
infrastructure. These subscriptions include licenses and technical support and access to new software updates on a when-and-if available basis. We recognize the license
portion, which is approximately half of the total contract value, upon the later of the delivery of the software and commencement of the subscription term. The remainder
is recognized ratably over the subscription term as support & maintenance revenue. We typically invoice our customers annually in advance.
Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance. We sell SaaS subscriptions for access to ForgeRock Identity Cloud, our SaaS offering. We sell support and
maintenance bundled with license in the self-managed software subscription offering, or as a standalone for the perpetual license support & maintenance renewal. For
our SaaS offering, we recognize revenue ratably over the period beginning on the later of the commencement of the subscription term or the provisioning of the SaaS
service, to the end of the subscription term. For support and maintenance, we recognize revenue ratably over the period beginning on the later of the commencement of
the subscription term or the delivery of the software to the end of the subscription term.
Perpetual licenses. We also sell perpetual licenses to our self-managed solutions. Revenue from our perpetual licenses is recognized when the software is
delivered or made available to the customer. In the three and nine months ending September 30, 2021 and 2020, revenue from perpetual licenses represented
approximately less than 1% of our total revenue. This reflects a shift by our customers away from purchasing perpetual licenses in favor of subscription term licenses or
SaaS subscriptions. We do not expect perpetual license revenue to be material in future periods.
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses revenue represented approximately 96% of our total revenue in three months ending September 30, 2021 and 97% of our total
revenue in the nine months ending September 30, 2021 and both three and nine months ending September 30, 2020. We expect that substantially all our revenue will be
generated from subscriptions for the foreseeable future. Our subscriptions revenue may fluctuate due to the timing and relative mix between revenue from subscription term
licenses and subscription SaaS, support & maintenance. Over time, we expect a greater percentage of our subscriptions and perpetual licenses revenue will come from our
ForgeRock Identity Cloud offering. This will have a negative impact on our near-term revenue growth as SaaS subscription revenue is recognized ratably.
Professional services. Professional services consist primarily of fees from professional services provided to our customers and partners to configure and optimize the
use of our solutions, as well as training services related to the configuration and operation of our solutions. Our professional services are generally priced on a time and
materials or fixed package basis, and is generally invoiced upfront. Revenue from professional services is recognized as the service hours are used or milestones are achieved.
Revenue from our training services is recognized on the date the services are completed.
Revenue from professional services represented 4% of our total revenue in three months ending September 30, 2021, 3% of our total revenue in nine months ending
September 30, 2021 and both three and nine months ending September 30, 2020. We expect our professional services revenue to increase in absolute dollars as our business
continues to grow, but we expect professional services revenue to fluctuate as a percentage of total revenue over time.
Overhead Allocation and Employee Compensation Costs
We allocate shared costs, such as facilities costs (including rent, utilities and depreciation on assets shared by all departments) and certain information technology costs
to all departments based on headcount. As such, allocated shared costs are reflected in each cost of revenue and operating expense category. Employee compensation costs
include salaries, bonuses, benefits and stock-based compensation for each cost of revenue and operating expense category, sales commissions for sales and marketing and any
compensation related taxes.
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Cost of Revenue
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses. Subscriptions and perpetual licenses cost of revenue consists of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses, and benefits, as well
as stock-based compensation, for employees associated with our subscription offerings and customer support, overhead costs, and third-party costs, including cloud
infrastructure costs and other expenses directly associated with our customer support. We expect our subscriptions and perpetual licenses cost of revenue to increase in absolute
dollars to the extent our subscriptions revenue increases. As a percentage of revenue, we expect subscriptions and perpetual licenses cost of revenue to increase as a percentage
of total revenue in the near term as we grow our SaaS subscription business, but to decrease as a percentage of our total revenue over the long term as our SaaS subscription
revenue grows.
Professional services. Professional services cost of revenue consists of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses and benefits, as well as stock-based compensation,
for employees associated with our professional services and training services, overhead costs, and third-party costs, including other costs directly associated with our
professional and training services. We expect our professional services cost of revenue to increase in absolute dollars as our business continues to grow. As a percentage of
revenue, we expect professional services cost of revenue to fluctuate over time as we continue to invest in our growth. The cost of providing professional services has
historically been higher than the associated revenue we generate, as we use professional services to help drive customer success and increased subscriptions and perpetual
licenses revenue.
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Gross profit (revenue less cost of revenue), and gross margin (gross profit as a percentage of total revenue), have been and will continue to be affected by various
factors, including the timing of the acquisition of new customers and the renewal of and expansion of sales to existing customers, the mix between revenue from subscription
term licenses and subscription SaaS, support & maintenance, the costs associated with operating our platform, the extent to which we expand our customer support team, and the
extent to which we can increase the efficiency of our technology and infrastructure through technological improvements. We expect our gross profit to increase in absolute
dollars as total revenue increases but our gross margin to decrease as we invest further in our cloud-based infrastructure to support our subscription SaaS offering. We expect
subscriptions and perpetual licenses cost of revenue to increase consistently with the growth in our subscriptions and perpetual licenses revenue, although our gross margin
could fluctuate from period-to-period.
Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses. Personnel costs are the most significant
component of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, payroll taxes, stock-based compensation expense and, with regard to sales and marketing expenses,
sales commissions.
Research and development. Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel costs, outside consultants, and overhead. We focus our research and
development efforts on developing new solutions, core technologies, and to further enhance the functionality, reliability, performance and flexibility of existing solutions. We
expect our research and development expenses will increase in absolute dollars as our business grows. However, we expect our research and development expenses will
decrease as a percentage of total revenue over the long term, although they may fluctuate as a percentage of total revenue from period-to-period depending on the timing of
expenses.
Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses primarily consists of personnel costs, costs of general marketing and promotional activities, travel-related
expenses, and overhead. Certain sales commissions earned by our sales force on subscription contracts are deferred and amortized over the period of benefit which is generally
four to five years. We expect to continue to invest in our sales force domestically and internationally, as well as in our channel relationships. We expect our sales and marketing
expenses to increase in absolute dollars and continue to be our largest operating expense category for the foreseeable future. However, we expect our sales and marketing
expenses will decrease as a percentage of total revenue over the long term, although they may fluctuate as a percentage of total revenue from period-to-period depending on the
timing of expenses.
General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs associated with our executive, human resource, legal, facilities,
accounting and finance, information security, and information technology departments. In addition, general and administrative expenses include third-party professional fees
and overhead.
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We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars as our business grows. We also expect to incur additional general and
administrative expenses since we became a public company, including costs to comply with the rules and regulations applicable to companies listed on a national securities
exchange, costs related to compliance and reporting obligations pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, and increased expenses for insurance, investor relations and
professional services. However, we expect that our general and administrative expenses will decrease as a percentage of total revenue over the long term, although they may
fluctuate as a percentage of total revenue from period-to-period depending on the timing of expenses.
Interest and other expense, net
Interest expense. Interest expense consists primarily of interest payments on our outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facilities as well as the amortization of
associated deferred financing costs. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for additional information.
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net primarily consists of gains and losses from foreign currency transactions denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency, fair value changes on a preferred stock tranche option and warrants, and interest income. We expect our exposure to fluctuations in foreign
currencies will increase as we continue to expand our business internationally.
Provision for Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes related to U.S. federal and state income taxes and income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we
conduct business.
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Revenue:
Subscription term licenses
Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance
Perpetual licenses
Total subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total revenue
Cost of revenue:
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total cost of revenue (1)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development (1)
Sales and marketing (1)
General and administrative (1)
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Foreign currency gain (loss)
Fair value adjustment on warrants and preferred stock tranche option
Interest expense
Other, net
Interest and other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

$

19,364
22,940
183
42,487
1,739
44,226

$

4,517
3,977
8,494
35,732
10,827
22,509
11,188
44,524
(8,792)
(2,684)
(2,729)
(1,195)
339
(6,269)
(15,061)
205
(15,266) $

$

16,102
14,910
158
31,170
953
32,123

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

$

62,949
61,543
885
125,377
3,652
129,029

$

2,976
2,069
5,045
27,078

12,312
10,658
22,970
106,059

9,432
18,135
6,214
33,781
(6,703)
2,699
(2,415)
(1,201)
(65)
(982)
(7,685)
124
(7,809) $

31,214
64,795
28,091
124,100
(18,041)
(3,003)
(10,068)
(3,572)
(66)
(16,709)
(34,750)
660
(35,410) $

42,204
41,686
739
84,629
2,865
87,494
9,003
6,434
15,437
72,057
26,792
56,375
19,469
102,636
(30,579)
(5,142)
(4,196)
(3,318)
(225)
(12,881)
(43,460)
303
(43,763)

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation

$

26
564
1,078
1,441
3,109

$

35

$

$

35
167
619
583
1,404

$

$

193
1,058
2,046
3,099
6,396

$

$

112
1,084
1,539
2,215
4,950
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The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods presented as a percentage of our total revenue:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

Revenue:
Subscription term licenses
Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance
Perpetual licenses
Total subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total revenue
Cost of revenue:
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Foreign currency loss
Fair value adjustment on warrants and preferred stock
tranche option
Interest expense
Other, net
Interest and other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

44
52
—
96
4
100

Net loss

%

50
46
1
97
3
100

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020

%

49
47
1
97
3
100

%

48
48
1
97
3
100

10
9
19
81

9
6
15
85

10
8
18
82

10
7
17
83

24
51
25
100
(19)
(6)

29
56
19
105
(20)
8

24
50
22
96
(14)
(2)

31
64
22
117
(34)
(6)

(6)
(3)
1
(14)
(33)
—
(33)

(8)
(4)
—
(4)
(24)
—
(24)

(8)
(3)
—
(13)
(27)
—
(27)

(5)
(4)
—
(15)
(49)
—
(49)

%

%

%

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Revenue
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenue:
Subscription term licenses
Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance
Perpetual licenses
Total subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total revenue

$

19,364
22,940
183
42,487
1,739
44,226

$

36

$

$

16,102
14,910
158
31,170
953
32,123

$

$

Change

3,262
8,030
25
11,317
786
12,103

Percent

20%
54%
16%
36%
82%
38%

%

%
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Subscriptions and perpetual licenses revenue increased by $11.3 million, or 36%, in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2020. Subscription term licenses revenue increased by $3.3 million or 20% in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2020. Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance revenue increased by $8.0 million or 54% in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2020. The increase in subscription term licenses and subscription SaaS, support & maintenance revenue was driven by the addition of new
customers as well as an increase in the number of identities and additional modules sold to existing customers. Support and maintenance increased by $4.8 million driven by the
steady growth of the installment base. The subscription SaaS revenue increase was primarily driven by the increased adoption of our SaaS offerings.
Professional services revenue increased by $0.8 millions or 82% in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended September 30,
2020. There was an increase in the cloud onboarding service and self-managed software of service hours delivered by us in the three months ended September 30, 2021
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2020.
Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of Revenue:
Subscription and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total cost of revenue
Gross Margin
Subscription and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total Gross Margin

$

4,517
3,977
8,494

$

$
$

89 %
(129)%
81 %

2,976
2,069
5,045

$
$

Change
Percent

1,541
1,908
3,449

52%
92%
68%

90 %
(117)%
84 %

Subscriptions and perpetual licenses cost of revenue increased by $1.5 million, or 52%, in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2020, primarily due to a $0.6 million increase in headcount and related personnel costs to support the growth of our offerings and ongoing maintenance
for our expanding customer base and our investment in cloud infrastructure costs for our ForgeRock Identity Cloud offering leading to a $0.8 million increase in SaaS costs.
Professional services cost of revenue increased by $1.9 million, or 92%, in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended September 30,
2020, primarily due to an increase in headcount and related personnel costs and allocated overhead costs as we gear up for future expansion.
Gross margin for subscriptions and perpetual licenses remained relatively flat in the three months ended September 30, 2021 and the three months ended September
30, 2020. While our gross margins for subscription and perpetual licenses revenue may fluctuate in the near-term as we invest in our growth, we expect our subscription revenue
gross margin to improve over the long-term as we achieve additional economies of scale. Gross margin for professional services decreased to (129)% in the three months ended
September 30, 2021 from (117)% in the three months ended September 30, 2020. The decrease in gross margin for professional services was due to investments to increase our
professional services capacity to support the anticipated growth in new customers.
Operating Expenses
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

$

10,827
22,509
11,188
44,524

$

$

$

9,432
18,135
6,214
33,781

$

$

Change

1,395
4,374
4,974
10,743

Percent

15%
24%
80%
32%

Research and development. Research and development expenses increased $1.4 million, or 15%, in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2020 primarily due to an increase of $1.3
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million in personnel costs related to higher headcount to support our continued research and development efforts in enhancing our offerings.
Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased $4.4 million, or 24% in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $4.1 million in personnel costs related primarily to higher headcount.
General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased $5.0 million, or 80%, in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $3.1 million in personnel costs due to a higher headcount to support our continued growth and a
$2.0 million increase in third-party professional fees and expenses in preparation for becoming a public company.
Interest and other expense, net
Three Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Interest and other expense, net
Foreign currency gain (loss)
Fair value adjustment on warrants and stock tranche option
Interest expense
Other, net
Interest and other expense, net

$

(2,684) $
(2,729)
(1,195)
339
(6,269) $

$

2,699 $
(2,415)
(1,201)
(65)
(982) $

Change

(5,383)
(314)
6
404
(5,287)

Percent

(199%)
13%
—%
(622%)
538%

We recorded a net foreign currency loss of $2.7 million in the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to a net foreign currency gain of $2.7 million in the
three months ended September 30, 2020, primarily due to foreign currency remeasurement fluctuations on intercompany balances denominated in Norwegian Krone, Euro and
British pound. On September, 30, 2021, we reclassified certain intercompany balances considered long-term in nature. Accordingly, foreign currency remeasurement gains and
losses related to these balances will be reported in the accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholder's equity on the consolidated balance sheet starting October 1,
2021.
In the three months ended September 30, 2021, we did not record fair value mark-to-market adjustment on a preferred stock tranche call option compared to $2.0
million in the three months ended September 30, 2020 because the option was exercised in April 2021 by the Series E preferred stock investor who purchased Series E-1
preferred shares totaling $20.0 million. In addition, the outstanding preferred stock warrants fair value increased by $2.7 million in the three months ended September 30, 2021
compared to $0.4 million in the three months ended September 30, 2020 due to mark-to-market adjustments on these instruments reflecting the increase in the value of
ForgeRock. The warrants were subsequently exercised in September 2021.
Provision for Income Taxes
In the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively. In the three months
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21% primarily as a result of not recognizing deferred tax
assets for domestic and certain foreign jurisdictions due to a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.
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Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Revenue
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenue:
Subscription term licenses
Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance
Perpetual licenses
Total subscriptions and perpetual licenses
Professional services

$

62,949
61,543
885
125,377
3,652
129,029

$

Total revenue

$

$

42,204
41,686
739
84,629
2,865
87,494

$

$

Change
Percent

20,745
19,857
146
40,748
787
41,535

49%
48%
20%
48%
27%
47%

Total revenue increased by $41.5 million, or 47%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses revenue increased by $40.7 million, or 48%, in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2020. Subscription term licenses revenue increased by $20.7 million or 49% in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2020. Subscription SaaS, support & maintenance revenue increased by $19.9 million or 48% in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2020. The increase in subscription term licenses and subscription SaaS, support & maintenance revenue was driven by the addition of new
customers as well as an increase in the number of identities and additional modules sold to existing customers. Perpetual licenses revenue increased by $0.1 million, or 20%, in
the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
Professional services revenue increased by $0.8 million or 27% in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
There was an increase in the cloud onboarding service and deployment of service hours delivered by us in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2020.
Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of Revenue:
Subscription and perpetual licenses
Professional services

$

12,312
10,658
22,970

Total cost of revenue
Gross Margin
Subscription and perpetual licenses
Professional services
Total Gross Margin

90 %
(192)%
82 %

$

9,003
6,434
15,437

$

Change
Percent

3,309
4,224
7,533

37%
66%
49%

89 %
(125)%
82 %

Total cost of revenue increased by $7.5 million, or 49%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
Subscriptions and perpetual licenses cost of revenue increased by $3.3 million, or 37%, in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2020, primarily due to an increase in personnel costs and significant investment in cloud infrastructure costs for our subscription offerings, including our
ForgeRock Identity Cloud offering. Professional services cost of revenue increased by $4.2 million, or 49%, in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2020, primarily due to an increase in personnel costs and allocated overhead costs.
Gross margin for subscriptions and perpetual licenses increased to 90% in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 from 89% in the nine months ended
September 30, 2020. The increase in gross margin was principally due to the benefits of economies of scale. Gross margin for professional services decreased to (192)% in the
nine months ended September 30, 2021 from (125)% in the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The decrease in gross margin for professional services was due to
investments to increase our professional services capacity to support the anticipated growth in new customers.
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Operating Expenses
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

$

31,214
64,795
28,091
124,100

$

$

$

26,792
56,375
19,469
102,636

$

$

Change
Percent

4,422
8,420
8,622
21,464

17%
15%
44%
21%

Research and development. Research and development expenses increased $4.4 million, or 17%, in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $3.6 million in personnel costs related to higher headcount, a $0.8 million increase in cloud
costs, including AWS and Google, related to our cloud strategy, and a $0.4 million increase in professional fees. The increase was partially offset by a decrease of $0.7 million
in travel expenses and facility costs because of the COVID-19 pandemic and lower royalty expenses.
Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased $8.4 million, or 15%, in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $8.3 million in personnel costs related primarily to higher headcount, a $0.7 million increase in marketing
costs as virtual marketing events ramp back up in 2021, $1.0 million increase in IT outsourcing costs partially offset by a $1.4 million decrease in travel-related expenses and
facility costs because of the COVID-19 pandemic.
General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased $8.6 million, or 44%, in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the nine months
ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $5.2 million in personnel costs due to a higher headcount and a $2.1 million increase in third-party
professional fees related to preparations for becoming a public company. There was also an increase of $1.1 million in IPO related costs such as directors and officers insurance
and subscription license costs for technology systems to support the general and administrative functions.
Interest and other expense, net
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
Amount
(in thousands, except percentages)

Interest and other expense, net
Foreign currency loss
Fair value adjustment on warrants and stock tranche option
Interest expense
Other, net
Interest and other expense, net

$

(3,003) $
(10,068)
(3,572)
(66)
(16,709) $

$

(5,142) $
(4,196)
(3,318)
(225)
(12,881) $

Change
Percent

2,139
(5,872)
(254)
159
(3,828)

(42%)
140%
8%
(71%)
30%

Interest and other expense, net, decreased $3.8 million, or 30%, in the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to 2020.
We recorded a net foreign currency loss of $5.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to a net foreign currency loss of $3.0 million in the
nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily due to fluctuations in foreign currency remeasurement gains on intercompany balances denominated in Norwegian Krone,
Euro, and British Pound.
In the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we recorded fair value mark-to-market adjustments of $4.1 million relating to a preferred stock tranche option held by
one of our Series E preferred stock investors to purchase Series E-1 preferred shares totaling $20.0 million. In addition, the fair value of outstanding preferred stock warrants
increased by $5.9 million due to mark-to-market adjustments on these instruments reflecting the increase in the value of ForgeRock. The warrants were exercised in September
2021. As the value of the Company’s common stock increased with increases in revenue and the Company approaching its IPO event in September 2021, the fair value of the
option and warrants also increased at a higher rate than in the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
The $0.3 million increase in interest expense was driven by additional borrowings on our Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement in April 2020.
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Provision for Income Taxes
In the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.7 million and $0.3 million, respectively. In the nine months
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21% primarily as a result of not recognizing deferred tax
assets for domestic and certain foreign jurisdictions due to a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of September 30, 2021, our principal sources of liquidity were cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and marketable securities of $378.1 million, which
were held for working capital purposes. In September 2021 and April 2021, we received $295.7 million and $20.0 million, respectively, of net cash proceeds from the IPO and
exercise of a preferred stock tranche option that was exercised by one of our investors. Our cash equivalents were comprised primarily of money market funds and our shortterm investments were comprised of marketable securities. We have generated significant operating losses and negative cash flows from operations as reflected in our
accumulated deficit and condensed consolidated statements of cash flows. We expect to continue to incur operating losses and negative cash flows from operations for the
foreseeable future.
Prior to the IPO, we have funded our operations and capital expenditures primarily through equity issuances, debt instruments and cash generated from our operations.
We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and cash provided by sales of our products and services will be sufficient to meet our working capital
and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months following the date of this report. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our
licenses growth rate, licenses renewal activity, billing frequency, the timing and extent of spending required to support development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing
activities, the introduction of new and enhanced product offerings, the continuing market adoption of our platform and further investment in general and administrative
functions to meet the compliance requirements of being a public company. We may in the future enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses,
services and technologies, including intellectual property rights. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that additional financing is
required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or generate cash flows necessary to
expand our operations and invest in new technologies this could reduce our ability to compete successfully and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
In September 2021, we executed an amendment to the Amended Restated Plain English Growth Capital Loan and Security Agreement with TriplePoint Venture
Growth BDC Corp. and TriplePoint Capital LLC, or the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement. The amended A&R Loan Agreement became effective once the registration
statement in connection with the initial public offering was declared effective on September 16, 2021. The key provisions of the amendment include: (1) a covenant requiring
the maintenance of a $20.0 million cash balance, (2) change in the interest rate for outstanding term loan to be eight percent (8.00%) per annum on the existing loans, (3)
extension of the maturity dates by twenty-four months, (4) change in the prepayment penalties and (5) and a change in the prepayment premium. The principal will be due at the
end of the term of the respective advance. As of September 30, 2021, the balance outstanding under our term loan facility was $40 million and is included in long-term debt on
our condensed consolidated balance sheet.
All of our obligations under our term loan facility are guaranteed by ForgeRock US, Inc. and ForgeRock Limited and, subject to certain exceptions, secured by a
security interest in substantially all of our assets, excluding intellectual property, which is subject to a negative pledge.
A significant majority of our customers pay in advance for their subscriptions. Therefore, a substantial source of our cash is from our deferred revenue, which is
included on our consolidated balance sheet as a liability. Deferred revenue consists of the unearned portion of billed fees for our subscriptions, which is recognized as revenue in
accordance with our revenue recognition policy. As of September 30, 2021, we had deferred revenue of $57.2 million, of which $49.9 million is recorded as a current liability
and is expected to be recorded as revenue in the next 12 months, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.
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Cash Flows
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

$

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

(31,356) $
(181,914)
311,110
(638)
97,202 $

(24,818)
(3,760)
101,068
88
72,578

Operating activities
Our largest source of operating cash is cash collections from our customers for subscription, support and maintenance services. Our primary uses of cash from
operating activities are for employee-related expenditures, marketing expenses and third-party hosting costs. Historically, we have generated negative cash flows from operating
activities and have supplemented working capital requirements through net proceeds from the sale of equity securities and term loans.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 cash used in operating activities was $31.4 million primarily due to our net loss of $35.4, adjusted for non-cash
charges of $31.6 million and net cash outflows of $27.5 million used in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of amortization of deferred
commissions of $10.4 million driven by the timing of revenue recognition, changes in the fair value of the stock warrant liability and stock tranche option liability of $10.0
million and stock-based compensation of $6.4 million. The primary drivers of the changes in operating assets and liabilities related to a change in deferred commissions of
$14.4 million driven by the timing of commission payments, a $13.5 million change in contract and other non-current assets due to the issuance of invoices and timing of
revenue recognition, a $3.7 million change in prepaid expenses and other current assets and a $3.2 million change in accrued expenses and other liabilities due to the timing of
cash disbursements.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, cash used in operating activities was $24.8 million primarily due to our net loss of $43.8 million, adjusted for noncash charges of $25.8 million and net cash outflows of $6.9 million used in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of a foreign currency
remeasurement loss of $5.2 million, amortization of deferred commissions of $9.6 million and stock- based compensation of $5.0 million. The primary drivers of the changes in
operating assets and liabilities related to a change in accounts receivable of $8.9 million due to the timing of collection of payment from our customers, partially offset by a
change in deferred commissions of $11.6 million driven by the timing of commission payments.
Investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 of $181.9 million was primarily attributable to purchases of marketable
securities of $201.4 million, purchases of property and equipment of $0.5 million, and partially offset by sales and maturities of marketable securities of $20.0 million.
Net cash used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 of $3.8 million was attributable to the purchase of available for sale securities of
$3.0 million and purchases of property and equipment of $0.8 million.
Financing activities
Cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $311.1 million primarily as a result of proceeds consisting of $291.6
million of aggregate net proceeds from our IPO, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs paid, the issuance of Series E-1 convertible preferred stock
of $20.0 million and proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options of $3.2 million partially offset by $3.5 million employee payroll taxes paid for net shares settlement
of restricted stock units on IPO.
Cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was $101.1 million, primarily as a result of proceeds from the issuance of
Series E redeemable convertible preferred stock of $93.5 million, proceeds from the issuance of debt of $9.9 million and partially offset by repurchases of common stock from
employees of $2.3 million.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet financing arrangements or any relationships with unconsolidated
entities or financial partnerships, including entities sometimes referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that were established for the purpose of facilitating
off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
Critical Accounting Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on
an ongoing basis. The estimates and assumptions used by management are based on historical experience and other factors, which are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, impacting our reported results of operations and financial condition.
Except for the policies described in “Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, including the accounting policy for leases as a result of the Company adopting the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Accounting Standards Update
(ASU) Leases (Topic 842) on January 1, 2021, there have been no significant changes from the significant accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 of the “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements” of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, which are included in our prospectus filed pursuant
to Rule 424(b)(4) on September 17, 2021 (the “Final Prospectus”). For more information, please refer to “Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our
unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. .
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, “Significant Accounting Policies” to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 included in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for a description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on our results of operations, financial condition, and
cash flows.
JOBS Act Accounting Election
We are an emerging growth company pursuant to the provisions of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. For as long as we are an
emerging growth company, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies. The JOBS Act also permits an emerging growth company to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised
accounting standards applicable to public companies. We have elected to use the extended transition period until we are no longer an emerging growth company or until we
choose to affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period. As a result, our condensed financial statements may not be comparable to companies that
comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. As we have operations in the
United States and internationally, our market risk exposure is primarily a result of exposure due to potential changes in foreign currency exchange rates, inflation or interest
rates. We do not hold financial instruments for trading purposes.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Our revenues and expenses are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, British Pounds and Euros; however, we also have significant intercompany balances
denominated in the Norwegian Krone. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we recorded a net loss of $3.0 million and $5.1 million on foreign exchange
transactions, respectively. To date, we have not entered into any hedging arrangements with respect to foreign currency risk or other derivative financial instruments, but we
may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currency should become more significant. For business conducted outside of the United States, we have both revenue and
costs incurred in the local currency of the subsidiary, creating a partial natural hedge. Changes to exchange rates have led to significant fluctuations in both our statement of
operations and stockholders’ equity balance from quarter to quarter. We will continue to reassess our foreign exchange exposure as we continue to grow our business globally.
A uniform hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the foreign currency exchange rates in comparison to the United States dollar would have resulted in a corresponding
increase or decrease in revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 of approximately $2.9 million and $2.1 million, respectively. On September 30, 2021,
the Company reclassified certain intercompany balances considered long-term in nature. Accordingly, foreign currency transaction gains and losses related to these balances
will be reported in the Cumulative Translation Adjustment in shareholder's equity on the consolidated balance sheet commencing October 1, 2021.
Interest Rate Risk
We had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $378.1 million and $100.0 million as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our cash and cash
equivalents are held in cash deposits, money market funds and marketable securities. As of September 30, 2021, we held $180.9 million in short-term investments made up of
commercial paper, asset-backed securities, corporate debt securities and U.S. government debt securities which are available-for-sale. Due to the short-term nature of these
instruments, we do not believe that we have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates.
Our primary market risk exposure is changing prime interest rates. Interest rate risk is highly sensitive due to many factors, including U.S. monetary and tax policies,
U.S. and international economic factors and other factors beyond our control. A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would not have a material impact on our condensed
consolidated financial statements.
Inflation Risk
Based on our analysis of the periods presented, we believe that inflation has not had a material effect on our operating results. There can be no assurance that future
inflation will not have an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules 13a15 or 15d-15 that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

44

Table of Contents

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, management does
not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in
all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. The
design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed
in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we are involved in various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the results of litigation and claims cannot
be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these actions will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations,
liquidity and capital resources.
Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves and our partners by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third-party proprietary rights or to
establish our proprietary rights. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse
impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other
information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes. Our business, financial condition, and results of operations could also be harmed by risks
and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are material. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Risk Factor Summary
The material risks that may affect our business, financial condition or results of operations include, but are not limited to, those relating to the following:
a.
b.
c.

We have a history of losses, and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future.
We may not continue to grow on pace with historical rates.
We face intense competition, especially from larger, well-established companies, and we may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our
competitive position.
d. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction, or adequately
address competitive challenges.
e. We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future results of operations.
f. If we fail to innovate in response to rapid technological change, evolving industry standards, and changing customer needs, requirements or preferences, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
g. If we are unable to efficiently acquire new customers, retain our existing customers or expand the level of adoption of our platform with our existing customers, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
h. Our quarterly results are likely to fluctuate and as a result may adversely affect the trading price of our Class A common stock.
i. If our solutions have or are perceived to have defects, errors, or vulnerabilities, or if we otherwise fail or are perceived to fail to provide secure and frictionless user
experiences, our brand and reputation could be harmed, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
j. We use open source software in our platform and offerings, which could negatively affect our ability to offer our platform and expose us to litigation or other actions.
k. If we fail to adequately obtain, maintain, defend, protect, or enforce our intellectual property or proprietary rights, our competitive position could be impaired and we
may lose valuable assets, generate less revenue, and incur costly litigation.
l. If we are subject to a claim that we infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate a third party’s intellectual property rights, our business, financial condition, or results of
operations could be adversely affected.
m. If we or our third-party service providers experience a data security breach or network incident that allows, or is perceived to allow, unauthorized access to our platform
or our customers’ data, our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
n. We are subject to stringent laws, rules, and regulations regarding privacy, data protection and information security. Any actual or perceived failure by us to comply with
such laws, rules, and regulations, the privacy or security provisions of our privacy policy, our contracts or other legal or regulatory requirements could result in
proceedings, actions, or penalties against us and materially adversely affect our business.
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o.

The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital stock (or options or other
securities convertible into or exercisable for our capital stock) prior to the completion of our initial public offering, which will limit your ability to influence the outcome
of important transactions, including a change in control.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We have a history of losses, and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future.
We have incurred net losses in each year since our inception, including net losses of $36.9 million, $41.8 million, $43.8 million, and $35.4 million in 2019 and 2020
and for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2021, respectively. As of September 30, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $251.5 million. We expect to continue
to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. Because the market for our platform is rapidly evolving and has not yet reached widespread adoption, it is difficult for us to predict
our future results of operations. We expect our operating expenses to continue to increase over the next several years as we hire additional personnel, particularly in sales and
marketing, expand and improve the effectiveness of our distribution channels, expand our operations and infrastructure, both domestically and internationally, pursue business
combinations, and continue to develop our platform. As we develop as a public company, we may incur additional legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur
historically. If our revenue does not increase to offset these increases in our operating expenses, we will not be profitable in future periods. Any failure by us to achieve or
sustain profitability on a consistent basis could cause the value of our Class A common stock to decline.
We may not continue to grow on pace with historical rates.
We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods, and we may not sustain our current growth rates. Our ARR increased from $106 million as of December 31, 2019
to $136 million as of December 31, 2020, and from $125 million as of September 30, 2020 to $164 million as of September 30, 2021, and our revenue increased from $104.5
million in 2019 to $127.6 million in 2020, and from $87.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 to $129.0 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2021. However, you should not rely on our key business metrics or results of operations for any previous quarterly or annual period (or the growth rate relating to such metrics
or results) as any indication of future periods. In particular, our revenue growth rate and ARR has fluctuated in prior periods. We expect our revenue growth rate to continue to
fluctuate over the short term. In future periods, our revenue growth and ARR could slow or our revenue could decline for a number of reasons, including slowing demand for or
adoption of our platform and offerings, increasing competition, any failure to gain or retain customers or partners, a decrease in the growth of our overall market, changes to
technology, or our failure, for any reason, to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities. In addition, our revenue growth rate and ARR may experience increased volatility
due to global societal and economic disruption, including the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, our past financial performance should not be considered indicative of our future
performance. If our revenue growth rate and ARR declines, investors’ perceptions of our business and the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely
affected. Additionally, our ARR does not adjust for the timing impact of revenue recognition for specific performance obligations identified within a contract. Therefore, our
ARR growth in any given period may not result in a similar growth rate for revenue. Our revenue is also affected by the overall growth in our business and changes in our
revenue mix of self-managed subscriptions and SaaS subscriptions. As a result, our year-over-year growth rates for total revenue may not be comparable due to changes in our
revenue mix.
We face intense competition, especially from larger, well-established companies, and we may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our
competitive position.
The identity and access management market is intensely competitive, and we expect competition to increase in the future from established competitors and new market
entrants. We face competition from (1) legacy providers such as CA Technologies, IBM, and Oracle, (2) cloud-only providers such as Okta, (3) companies that provide a subset
of functionality across identity, access, and governance such as CyberArk, Okta, Ping, and SailPoint, and (4) homegrown solutions that are designed to solve a limited identity
use case. We also compete with other companies that offer a broad array of IT solutions that compete in our market.
With the continued increase in merger and acquisition transactions in the technology industry, particularly transactions involving cloud-based technologies, there is a
significant likelihood that we will compete with other large technology companies in the future. For example, other technology companies could acquire or develop an identity
and access management or digital identity platform that competes directly with our platform. These companies have significant name recognition, considerable resources and
existing IT infrastructures, and powerful economies of scale and scope, which allow them to rapidly develop and deploy new solutions. Many of our existing competitors have,
and some of our potential competitors could have, substantial competitive advantages such as greater name recognition and brand awareness, longer operating histories, larger
customer bases, larger sales and marketing budgets and resources, broader distribution and established relationships with partners and customers, greater professional services
and customer support resources, greater resources to make acquisitions and enter into strategic partnerships, lower labor and research and development costs, larger and more
mature intellectual
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property portfolios, and substantially greater financial, technical and other resources. Certain of our competitors may also have greater ease of implementation of their products
with customers in our market, as well as flexibility, scale, and breadth of integration points.
In addition, some of our larger competitors have substantially broader product offerings and leverage their relationships based on other products they offer or
incorporate functionality into existing products to gain business in a manner that discourages users from purchasing our offerings, including through selling at zero or negative
margins, product bundling, or closed technology platforms. Potential customers may also prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers rather than a new supplier regardless of
product performance or features. Our larger competitors often have broader product lines and market focus and are less susceptible to downturns in a particular market. Our
competitors may also seek to repurpose their existing offerings to provide identity solutions with subscription models. Conditions in our market could change rapidly and
significantly as a result of technological advancements, partnering by our competitors, or continuing market consolidation. Further, industry trends, such as the migration to
cloud and the transition to Zero Trust, could give competitors an advantage in the market if they are better positioned to address such industry trends. Additionally, start-up
companies that innovate and large competitors that are making significant investments in research and development may invent similar or superior products and technologies
that compete with our solutions or solution packages.
Consolidation in the markets in which we compete may affect our competitive position. This is particularly true in circumstances where customers are seeking to obtain
a broader set of solutions and services than we are currently able to provide. In addition, some of our competitors may enter into new alliances with each other or may establish
or strengthen cooperative relationships with system integrators, third-party consulting firms, or other parties. Any such consolidation, acquisition, alliance, or cooperative
relationship could lead to pricing pressure and loss of our market share and could result in a competitor with greater financial, technical, marketing, service, and other resources,
all of which could harm our ability to compete. Furthermore, organizations may be more willing to incrementally add solutions to their existing infrastructure from competitors
than to replace their existing infrastructure with our offerings. Any failure to meet and address the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results
of operations.
If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction, or adequately address
competitive challenges.
We have experienced, and may continue to experience, rapid growth and organizational change, which has placed, and may continue to place, significant demands on
our management and our operational and financial resources. Our employee headcount grew from 685 as of September 30, 2020 to 814 as of September 30, 2021. Employee
growth has occurred both at our headquarters and in a number of locations across the United States and internationally. Our ability to manage our growth effectively and to
integrate new employees and technologies into our existing business will require us to continue to expand our operational and financial infrastructure and to continue to
effectively integrate, develop, and motivate a large number of new employees, while maintaining the beneficial aspects of our culture.
Continued growth could challenge our ability to develop and improve our operational, financial, and management controls, enhance our reporting systems and
procedures, recruit, train, and retain highly skilled personnel, and maintain customer satisfaction. In addition, we have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and
challenges frequently experienced by growing companies in evolving industries, including market acceptance of our platform and offerings, intense competition, and our ability
to manage our costs and operating expenses. We must continue to improve and expand our IT and financial infrastructure, operating, and administrative systems and
relationships with various partners and other third parties. Additionally, we currently have international operations in Canada, France, Germany, Norway, Sweden, the United
Kingdom, Australia, New Zealand, and Singapore, and we may continue to expand our international operations in these jurisdictions or other countries in the future. Our
expansion has placed, and our expected future growth will continue to place, a significant strain on our managerial, research and development, sales and marketing,
administrative, financial, and other resources. If we are unable to manage our continued growth successfully, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could
suffer. In addition, as we expand our business, it is important that we continue to maintain a high level of customer service and satisfaction. As our customer base continues to
grow, we will need to expand our account management, customer service, and other personnel, and our network of partners, to provide personalized account management and
customer service. If we are not able to continue to provide high levels of customer service, our reputation, as well as our business, financial condition, and results of operations
could be adversely affected.
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future results of operations.
We were formed in 2009, and we have since frequently expanded our platform features and offerings and evolved our pricing methodologies. Our limited operating
history and evolving business make it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter. These risks and challenges include our ability to:
•
•
•

accurately forecast our revenue and plan our expenses;
increase the number of new customers and retain and expand relationships with existing customers;
successfully introduce new offerings and services;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

successfully compete with current and future competitors;
successfully expand our business in existing markets and enter new markets and geographies;
anticipate and respond to macroeconomic and technological changes and changes in the markets in which we
operate;
maintain and enhance the value of our reputation and brand;
maintain and expand our relationships with partners;
successfully execute on our sales and marketing strategies;
adapt to rapidly evolving trends in the ways consumers interact with technology;
hire, integrate, and retain talented technology, sales, customer service, and other personnel; and
effectively manage rapid growth in our personnel and operations.

If we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above as well as those described elsewhere in this “Risk
Factors” section, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Further, because we have limited historical financial data and operate
in a rapidly evolving market, any predictions about our future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if we had a longer operating history or operated in
a more predictable market. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in the future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with limited
operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which we use to plan and operate our business, are incorrect or
change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations could differ materially from our expectations and our business, financial condition, and results
of operations could be adversely affected. Additionally, we recently launched our SaaS offering, and it is in the early stages of customer adoption. Our SaaS offering may prove
to be difficult to scale, or encounter other difficulties, and such difficulties could cause our results of operations to differ materially from our expectations and our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
If we fail to innovate in response to rapid technological change, evolving industry standards, and changing customer needs, requirements, or preferences, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
The identity and access management market is characterized by rapid technological change, evolving industry standards, and changing regulations, as well as changing
customer needs, requirements, and preferences. The success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate, adapt, and respond effectively to these changes on a
timely and cost-effective basis. In addition, as our customers’ technologies and business plans grow more complex, we expect them to face new and increasing challenges. Our
customers require that our platform effectively identify and respond to these challenges without disrupting the performance of our customers’ IT systems or interrupting their
business operations. As a result, we must continually modify and improve our offerings in response to changes in our customers’ IT infrastructures and operational needs or
end-user preferences. The success of any enhancement to our existing offerings or the deployment of new offerings depends on several factors, including the timely completion
and market acceptance of our enhancements or new offerings. Any enhancement to our existing offerings or new offerings that we develop and introduce involves significant
commitment of time and resources and is subject to a number of risks and challenges including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

ensuring the timely release of new offerings, features, and platform enhancements;
adapting to emerging and evolving industry standards, technological developments by our competitors and customers, and changing regulatory requirements;
interoperating effectively with existing or newly-introduced technologies, systems, or applications of our existing and prospective customers;
resolving defects, errors, or failures in our platform or offering;
extending the operation of our offerings and services to new and evolving platforms, operating systems, and hardware products, such as mobile and IoT devices; and
managing new offerings, features, and service strategies for the markets in which we operate.

If we are not successful in managing these risks and challenges, or if our new offerings, platform upgrades, and services are not competitive or do not achieve market
acceptance, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
If we are unable to efficiently acquire new customers, retain our existing customers, or expand the level of adoption of our platform with our existing customers, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
To continue to grow our business, it is important that we continue to acquire new customers. Our success in adding new customers depends on numerous factors,
including our ability to (1) offer a compelling identity and access management platform and effective offerings, (2) execute our sales and marketing strategy, (3) attract,
effectively train, and retain new sales, marketing, professional services, and support personnel, (4) develop or expand relationships with partners, (5) expand into new
geographies and vertical markets, (6) deploy our platform or offerings for new customers, (7) provide quality customer support
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once deployed, (8) effectively manage and forecast our customer count, and (9) expand our use cases for our existing customers.
It is important to our continued growth that we retain our existing customers. Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscription agreements, and our
customers may decide not to renew these agreements with a similar contract period, at the same prices and terms or with the same or a greater number of identities, or at all. Our
customer retention or our customers’ use of our platform and services may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction with our
platform and offerings, our customer support and professional services, our prices and pricing plans, the competitiveness of other identity and access management offerings and
services, reductions in our customers’ spending levels, user adoption of our platform and offerings, deployment success, utilization rates by our customers, new releases, and
changes to our platform or offerings. Additionally, new consolidations, acquisitions, alliances, or cooperative relationships involving one or more of our customers may lead
such customers not to renew their existing subscriptions with us.
Our ability to increase revenue also depends in part on our ability to increase the number of identities managed by our platform and sell more use cases or offerings to
our existing and new customers. Our ability to increase sales to existing customers depends on several factors, including their experience with implementing our offerings and
using our platform and the existing offerings they have implemented, their ability to integrate our offerings with existing technologies, and our pricing model. As we expand our
market reach, we may experience difficulties in gaining traction and raising awareness among potential customers regarding the critical role that our offerings play in securing
their businesses and we may face more competitive pressure in such markets. Additionally, our existing customers may delay or fail to pay us under our commercial
agreements. Our dollar-based net retention rate may fluctuate from period to period and is dependent upon new ARR and renewals from existing customers, of which new ARR
is impacted by the mix of new ARR from existing and new customers in any given period. We cannot accurately predict our renewals and dollar-based net retention rate given
the diversity of our customer base, the size of our industry, and geography. Our renewals and dollar-based net retention rate may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of
factors, many of which are outside our control, including the business strength or weakness of our customers, customer usage, the ability of our customers to quickly integrate
our products into their businesses, the ability of our customers to continually find new uses for our products within their businesses, and customer satisfaction with our products,
platform capabilities, and customer support.
If we are unable to successfully acquire new customers, retain our existing customers, or expand sales to existing customers, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our quarterly results are likely to fluctuate and as a result may adversely affect the trading price of our Class A common stock.
Our quarterly results of operations, including our key business metrics, are likely to vary significantly in the future, and period-to-period comparisons of our results of
operations may not be meaningful. Accordingly, the results for any one quarter are not necessarily an accurate indication of future performance. Our quarterly financial results
may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. Factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly financial results include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the mix of revenue attributable to our various offerings, in particular, our SaaS and subscription offerings;
the length of our sales cycles;
the weighted average duration of our contracts in any given period;
the mix of revenue attributable to larger transactions as opposed to smaller transactions, and the associated volatility and timing of our transactions;
the level of demand for our platform;
our ability to attract new customers, obtain renewals from existing customers, and upsell or otherwise increase our existing customers’ use of our platform;
the timing and success of new product introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive
landscape of our market;
pricing pressure as a result of competition or otherwise;
seasonal buying patterns for IT spending;
changes in remaining performance obligations, or RPO, due to seasonality, the timing of and compounding effects of renewals, invoice duration, size and timing, new
business linearity between quarters and within a quarter, or average contract term, all of which may impact implied growth rates;
errors in our forecasting of the demand for our offerings, which could lead to lower than projected revenue, increased costs, or both;
increases in and timing of sales and marketing and other operating expenses that we may incur to grow and expand our operations and to remain competitive;
security breaches or incidents impacting, technical difficulties with, or interruptions to, the delivery and use of our platform and offerings;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to comply with laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, contractual obligations, and other legal requirements relating to privacy, data protection, and
information security, including the GDPR and CCPA;
costs related to the acquisition of businesses, talent, technologies, or intellectual property, including potentially significant amortization costs and possible write-downs;
our ability to effectively obtain, maintain, protect, defend, and enforce our intellectual property rights;
credit, liquidity, financial, or other difficulties confronting our channel partners;
adverse litigation judgments, settlements of litigation and other disputes, or other litigation-related or dispute-related costs;
the impact of new accounting pronouncements and associated system implementations;
changes in the legislative or regulatory environment;
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
expenses related to real estate, including our office leases, and other fixed expenses; and
general economic conditions in domestic or international markets, including the economic impact of the COVID19 pandemic and other geopolitical uncertainty and
instability

Any one or more of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our results of operations. In addition, we generally experience seasonality based on when
we enter into agreements with customers, which has historically been the most frequent in our fourth quarter, and our quarterly results of operations generally fluctuate from
quarter-to-quarter depending on customer purchasing habits. This seasonality is reflected to a much lesser extent, and sometimes is not immediately apparent, in our revenue,
due to the fact that we recognize subscription revenue over the term of the subscription. We expect that seasonality will continue to affect our results of operations in the future
and may reduce our ability to predict cash flow and optimize the timing of our operating expenses.
The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations or key business metrics could result in our failure to meet our expectations or those of
securities analysts or investors. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and
we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits.
If our solutions have or are perceived to have defects, errors, or vulnerabilities, or if we otherwise fail or are perceived to fail to provide secure and frictionless user
experiences, our brand and reputation could be harmed, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Real or perceived defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our software, the failure of our solution to secure digital identities, including any stored or transmitted data and
integrated applications, services, and APIs, the failure to protect against advanced or newly developed exploits or discovered vulnerabilities, misconfiguration of our solutions,
or the failure of customers to take action on attacks could harm our reputation and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Because our
platform is complex, it may contain defects or errors that are not detected until after deployment. We cannot assure you that our products will protect against all security
vulnerabilities, exploits, or cyber attacks, especially in light of the rapidly changing cybersecurity landscape that our offerings seek to address. Due to a variety of both internal
and external factors, including, without limitation, defects or misconfigurations of our solutions, our offerings could become vulnerable to security incidents that cause them to
fail to secure identities, to protect against vulnerabilities and exploits, to secure data that is stored or transmitted, and to secure integrated applications, services, and APIs. In
addition, due to a variety of both internal and external factors, including real or perceived defects, errors, vulnerabilities, or misconfiguration in our software, our solutions may
fail to deliver a frictionless experience or may significantly or negatively degrade the end user experience which could lead to customer and end user dissatisfaction that could
harm our reputation and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Moreover, as our platform is adopted by an increasing number of enterprises and governmental entities, it is possible that the individuals and organizations behind
advanced cyberattacks will begin to focus on finding ways to defeat our platform. If this happens, our customers could be specifically targeted by attackers, which could result
in vulnerabilities in our platform or undermine the market acceptance of our platform or solutions or our reputation as a provider of identity and access management solutions.
Companies are increasingly subject to a wide variety of attacks on their systems and networks on an ongoing basis. In addition to threats from traditional computer
“hackers,” malicious code (such as malware, viruses, worms and ransomware), employee or contractor theft, fraud, misconduct or misuse, password spraying, phishing, social
engineering attacks and denial-of-service attacks, we and our third-party service providers now also face threats from sophisticated nation-state and nation-state supported
actors who engage in attacks (including advanced persistent threat intrusions) that add to the risks to our systems (including those hosted on GCP or other cloud services),
internal networks, our customers’ systems, and the information that they store and process. Despite our efforts to create security barriers to such threats, it is virtually impossible
for us to entirely mitigate these risks. If any of our customers experiences a cyberattack while using our platform or offerings, or believes that this has occurred, such customer
could be disappointed with our platform, regardless of whether our offerings or services were implicated in failing to prevent such attack. Real or perceived security breaches of,
or security incidents
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impacting, our customers’ networks could cause disruption or damage to their networks or other negative consequences and could result in negative publicity to us, damage to
our reputation, and other customer relations issues, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
If we or our third-party service providers experience a data security breach or network incident that allows, or is perceived to allow, unauthorized access to our platform or
our customers’ data, our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
As a provider of identity and security solutions, we pose an attractive target for cyber attacks. The security measures we have integrated into our internal systems and
platform, which are designed to detect unauthorized access or activity and prevent or minimize security breaches, may not function as expected or may not be sufficient to
protect our internal networks and platform against certain attacks and other security incidents. In addition, techniques used to sabotage or to obtain unauthorized access to
networks in which data is stored or through which data is transmitted change frequently, become more complex over time and generally are not recognized until launched
against a target. As a result, we and our third-party service providers may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures quickly enough
to prevent either an electronic intrusion into our systems or services or a compromise of customer data, and we and they may face difficulties or delays in identifying or
otherwise responding to any potential security breach or incident. Additionally, our remediation efforts and other response to any potential security breach or incident may not
be successful or timely.
Third parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees, contractors, customers, or our customers’ users into disclosing sensitive information, such as user names,
passwords, or other information or otherwise compromise the security of our internal networks, electronic systems, or physical facilities in order to gain access to our data or
our customers’ data, which could result in significant legal and financial exposure, a loss of confidence in the security of our platform, interruptions, or malfunctions in our
operations, account lock outs, and, ultimately, harm to our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Our customers’ use of ForgeRock to access business systems and store data concerning, among other things, their employees, contractors, partners and customers is
essential to their use of our platform, which collects, uses, stores, transmits, and otherwise processes customers’ proprietary information and personal data. If a breach of
customer data on our platform were to occur, as a result of third-party action, technology limitations, employee or contractor error, malfeasance or otherwise, and the
confidentiality, integrity or availability of our customers’ data or systems was disrupted, we could incur significant liability to our customers and to individuals or businesses
whose information was being stored by our customers, and our platform may be perceived as less desirable, which could negatively affect our business and damage our
reputation. Further, and notwithstanding any contractual rights or remedies we may have, because we do not control our third-party service providers, including their security
measures and the processing of data by our third-party service providers, we cannot ensure the integrity or security of measures they take to protect customer information and
prevent data loss.
In addition, security breaches or incidents impacting our platform could result in a risk of loss or unauthorized disclosure of critical information, including personal
data, or the denial of access to this information, which, in turn, could lead to enforcement actions, litigation, regulatory or governmental audits, investigations, inquiries and
possible significant liability, and increased requests by individuals regarding their personal data. Security breaches and incidents could also damage our relationships with and
ability to attract customers and partners, and trigger service availability, indemnification, and other contractual obligations. Security breaches and incidents may also cause us to
incur significant investigation, mitigation, remediation, notification and other expenses, including necessitating that we put in place additional measures designed to prevent
further security breaches or incidents. We may be required to expend significant capital and financial resources to protect against such threats or to alleviate problems caused by
breaches in security. Furthermore, as a provider of identity and security solutions, any such breach, including a breach of our customers’ systems, could compromise systems
secured by our products, creating system disruptions, or slowdowns and exploiting security vulnerabilities of our or our customers’ systems, and the information stored on our
or our customers’ systems could be improperly accessed, publicly disclosed, altered, lost or stolen, which could subject us to liability and cause us financial harm. While we
maintain cybersecurity insurance, our insurance may be insufficient to cover all liabilities incurred in these incidents, and any incidents may result in loss of, or increased costs
of, our cybersecurity insurance. We also cannot ensure that our existing insurance coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or will be available in sufficient
amounts to cover one or more large claims related to a security incident or breach, or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of
one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the
imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could adversely affect our reputation and our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We also
cannot ensure that any limitations of liability provisions in our customer agreements, contracts with third-party service providers and other contracts for a security lapse or
breach or other security-related matter would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim.
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Any breaches, or any perceived breach, of our systems, our customers’ systems, or other systems or networks secured by our products, whether or not any such breach
is due to a vulnerability in our platform, may also undermine confidence in our platform or our industry and result in damage to our reputation and brand, negative publicity,
loss of partners, customers and sales, increased costs to remedy any problem, costly litigation, and other liability. In addition, a breach of the security measures of one of our
partners could result in the exfiltration of confidential corporate information or other data that may provide additional avenues of attack, and if a high profile security breach
occurs with respect to a comparable identity and access management provider, our customers and potential customers may lose trust in identity and access management
providers generally, which could adversely impact our ability to retain existing customers or attract new ones, potentially causing a negative impact on our business. Any of
these negative outcomes could negatively impact market acceptance of our platform and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has harmed and could continue to harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to mitigate its impact have significantly curtailed the movement of people, goods and services worldwide, including in
the geographic areas in which we conduct our business operations and from which we generate our revenue. It has also caused societal and economic disruption and financial
market volatility, resulting in business shutdowns, and reduced business activity. We believe that the COVID-19 pandemic has had a modest negative impact on our business
and results of operations, primarily as a result of:
•
•
•
•

changes in the legislative or regulatory environment;
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
expenses related to real estate, including our office leases, and other fixed expenses; and
general economic conditions in domestic or international markets, including the economic impact of the COVID19 pandemic and other geopolitical uncertainty and
instability

The COVID-19 pandemic may cause us to continue to experience the foregoing challenges in our business in the future and could have other effects on our business,
including disrupting our ability to develop new offerings and enhance existing offerings, market, and sell our products and conduct business activities generally.
In light of the uncertain and rapidly evolving situation relating to the spread of COVID-19, we took precautionary measures intended to reduce the risk of the virus
spreading to our employees, our customers and the communities in which we operate, and we may take further actions as required by government entities or that we determine
are in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, and third-party service providers. For example, in 2020, governmental authorities instituted shelter-in-place
policies or other restrictions in many jurisdictions in which we operate, including in the San Francisco Bay Area where our headquarters are located, which policies required
most of our employees to work remotely. Even though these shelter-in-place policies have largely been lifted, they may be re-instated at any time, and other governmental
restrictions remain in place. We continue to take a measured and careful approach to have employees returning to offices and travel for business. These precautionary measures
and policies could negatively impact product innovation and development and employee and organizational productivity, training, and collaboration, or otherwise disrupt our
business operations. The extent and duration of working remotely may expose us to increased risks of security breaches or incidents. We may need to enhance the security of
our platform and offerings, our data, and our internal IT infrastructure, which may require additional resources and may not be successful.
In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted and may continue to disrupt the operations of our customers and partners, particularly our customers in industries,
including travel and entertainment, that have been especially impacted by the pandemic. Other disruptions or potential disruptions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic
include restrictions on our personnel and the personnel of our partners to travel and access customers for training, delays in product development efforts, and additional
government requirements or other incremental mitigation efforts that may further impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The extent to which the
COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact our business and results of operations will also depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted,
including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of the disease, the duration and spread of the outbreak, the impact of disease variants, the scope of travel
restrictions imposed in geographic areas in which we operate, mandatory or voluntary business closures, the impact on businesses and financial and capital markets and the
extent and effectiveness of the development and distribution of vaccines and other actions taken throughout the world to contain the virus or treat its impact. An extended period
of global supply chain and economic disruption as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic could have a material negative impact on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations, though the full extent and duration is uncertain. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, financial condition, and results of operations
it is likely to also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.
If our platform and offerings fail to help our customers achieve and maintain compliance with certain government regulations and industry standards, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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The success of our platform depends, in large part, on its ability to help our customers achieve and maintain compliance with certain industry standards and
government regulations, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, HIPAA, the CCPA, the GDPR, and the GLBA, and these types of regulations continue to proliferate globally. These
industry standards may change with little or no notice, including changes that could make them more or less onerous for businesses. In addition, governments may also adopt
new laws or regulations, or make changes to existing laws or regulations, that could affect whether our customers believe our platform assists them in maintaining compliance
with such laws or regulations. If our platform and offerings fail to expedite our customers’ compliance initiatives, our customers may lose confidence in our platform and could
switch to products offered by our competitors. In addition, if government regulations and industry standards related to digital identity and security are changed in a manner that
makes such regulations and industry standards less onerous, our customers may view compliance as less critical to their businesses, and our customers may be less willing to
purchase our platform and offerings. If we are unable to manage the foregoing risks, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
We recognize substantially all of our revenue from subscriptions over the term of the relevant subscription period, and as a result, downturns or upturns in sales may not be
immediately reflected in our results of operations.
We generate substantially all of our revenue from subscriptions, with 96% and 97% of our total revenue coming from subscriptions in 2020 and for the nine months
ended September 30, 2021, respectively. We recognize revenue from the non-license element of subscriptions and support and maintenance ratably over the term of the
subscription or support and maintenance agreements with our customers, which is generally one to three years. As a result, a substantial portion of the revenue that we report in
each period will be derived from the recognition of deferred revenue relating to agreements entered into in prior periods. Consequently, the full impact of a decline in new sales
or renewals in any one period may not be immediately reflected in our results of operations for such period. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market
acceptance of and demand for our platform and changes in our rate of renewals may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods.
We also intend to increase our investment in research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative functions, and other areas to grow our
business. These costs are generally expensed as incurred (with the exception of sales commissions), as compared to a significant portion of our revenue, which is recognized
ratably in future periods. We may recognize the costs associated with such increased investments earlier than some of the anticipated benefits and the return on these
investments may be lower, or may develop more slowly, than we expect, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our sales cycle is frequently long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense.
Since we primarily focus on selling our offerings to enterprises, the timing of our sales can be difficult to predict. We and our partners are often required to spend
significant time and resources to better educate and familiarize potential customers with the value proposition of our platform and offerings. Customers often view the purchase
of our platform and offerings as a strategic decision and significant investment and, as a result, frequently require considerable time to evaluate, test, and qualify our platform
and offerings prior to purchase. In particular, for customers in highly-regulated industries, the selection of a security solution provider is a critical business decision due to the
sensitive nature of these customers’ data, which results in particularly extensive evaluations prior to the selection of information security vendors. During the sales cycle, we
expend significant time and money on sales and marketing and contract negotiation activities, which may not result in a sale. Additional factors that may influence the length
and variability of our sales cycle include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the discretionary nature of purchasing and budget cycles and decisions;
lengthy purchasing approval processes;
the industries in which our customers operate;
the evaluation of competing solutions and offerings during the purchasing process;
time, complexity and expense involved in replacing existing solutions;
announcements or planned introductions of new offerings, features or functionality by our competitors or of new offerings, features or functionality by us; and
evolving functionality demands

If our efforts in pursuing sales and customers are unsuccessful, or if our sales cycles lengthen, our revenue could be lower than expected, which would adversely affect
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Our international operations and continued international expansion subject us to additional costs and risks, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.
We generated 56%, 52%, 50%, and 53% of our revenue outside the United States in 2019 and 2020 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2021,
respectively. Our growth strategy depends, in part, on our continued international
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expansion. We are continuing to adapt to and develop strategies to address international markets, but there is no guarantee that such efforts will be successful.
Additionally, our international sales and operations are subject to a number of risks, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

unexpected costs and errors in the localization of our platform, including translation into foreign languages and
adaptation for local practices and regulatory requirements;
lack of familiarity and burdens of complying with foreign laws, legal standards, privacy standards, regulatory requirements, tariffs, and other barriers;
laws and business practices favoring local competitors or commercial parties;
costs and liabilities related to compliance with foreign data privacy, protection and security laws, rules, regulations, standards and enforcement, including the GDPR;
fluctuations in exchange rates that may increase the volatility of our foreign-based revenue and expense;
risk that our foreign employees or partners will fail to comply with U.S. and foreign laws;
practical difficulties of obtaining, maintaining, defending, protecting, and enforcing intellectual property rights in countries with fluctuating laws and standards and
reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
restrictive governmental actions focusing on cross-border trade, including taxes, trade laws, tariffs, import and export restrictions, controls, or quotas, barriers, sanctions,
custom duties, or other trade restrictions;
unexpected changes in legal and regulatory requirements;
difficulties in managing partners;
differing technology standards;
longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
difficulties in managing and staffing international operations, including compliance with differing employer employee relationships and local employment laws;
political, economic and social instability, war, armed conflict, or terrorist activities;
health epidemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, influenza, and other highly communicable diseases or viruses; and
potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value added tax (or other tax) systems, and restrictions on the repatriation of earnings.

Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources. We cannot be certain that the investment and additional
resources required in establishing operations in other countries will produce desired levels of revenue or profitability. Any of the foregoing factors could harm our ability to
generate revenue outside of the United States and, consequently, adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Some of our business partners also have international operations and are subject to the risks described above. Even if we are able to successfully manage the risks of
international operations, our business may be adversely affected if our business partners are not able to successfully manage these risks.
We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
A substantial portion of our international customer contracts are denominated in local currencies. In addition, the majority of our international costs are denominated in
local currencies. As a result, fluctuations in the value of the U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies may affect our results of operations when translated into U.S. Dollars. For
example, in the first quarter of 2020, the volatility in the exchange rate of the Norwegian Krone, British Pound, and the U.S. Dollar resulted in a meaningful impact on our
consolidated results of operations. We do not currently engage in currency hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange rate fluctuations. However, in the future, we may use
derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forward and option contracts, to hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of such
hedging activities may not offset any or more than a portion of the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates over the limited time the
hedges are in place. Moreover, the use of hedging instruments may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.
If we fail to offer high-quality customer support, our business and reputation will suffer.
Once our platform is deployed, our customers rely on our support services to resolve any issues that may arise. High-quality customer education and customer support
is important for the successful marketing and sale of our platform and offerings and for the renewal of existing customers. We must successfully assist our customers in
deploying our platform and offerings, resolving performance issues, and addressing interoperability challenges with a customer’s existing network and security infrastructure.
Many enterprises, particularly large enterprises, have complex networks, and require high levels of focused support, including premium support offerings, to fully realize the
benefits of our platform. Any failure by us to maintain the expected level of support could reduce customer satisfaction and hurt our customer retention, particularly with respect
to our large enterprise customers. To the extent that we are unsuccessful in hiring, training and retaining adequate
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support resources, our ability to provide adequate and timely support to our customers will be negatively impacted, and our customers’ satisfaction with our platform could be
adversely affected.
Given our growth, we may in the future engage third parties to provide support services to our customers. Any failure to properly train or oversee such contractors
could result in a poor customer experience, which could have an adverse impact on our reputation and ability to renew subscriptions or engage new customers. In addition,
some of our contracts with our larger customers require consent in the event we subcontract the services we provide thereunder. The process of obtaining consent to subcontract
support services with these customers could be lengthy and there can be no assurance such consent would be provided.
Furthermore, as we sell our platform and offerings internationally, our support organization faces additional challenges, including those associated with delivering
support, training and documentation in languages other than English. Any failure to maintain high-quality customer support, or a market perception that we do not maintain
high-quality support, could adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations, and adversely impact our ability to sell our platform or
offerings to existing and prospective customers. The importance of high-quality customer support will increase as we expand our business and pursue new customers.
If we do not set optimal prices for our platform and offerings, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
In the past, we have at times adjusted our prices either for individual customers in connection with long-term agreements or for a particular offering. We expect that we
may need to change our pricing in future periods. Further, as competitors introduce new products that compete with ours or reduce their prices, we may be unable to attract new
customers or retain existing customers based on our historical pricing. As we expand internationally, we also must determine the appropriate price to enable us to compete
effectively in each respective geographic region. In addition, if our mix of offerings changes, then we may need to, or choose to, revise our pricing model. If we do not
optimally price our platform and offerings and manage risks related to changing our prices or pricing model, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could
be adversely affected.
If we are unable to manage the costs associated with our professional services, our results of operations could be adversely affected.
We offer professional services associated with implementing our platform and training customers on the use of our platform, and our revenue from professional
services carries a negative gross margin compared to our subscription revenue. We price our professional services to be attractive to customers because we believe that our
professional services help achieve customer success on our platform, which assists us in retaining customers and expanding our relationships with them. If we are unable to
manage and improve the margin associated with our professional services, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
If our platform or offerings do not effectively interoperate with our customers’ existing or future IT infrastructures, our business would be harmed.
Our success depends in part on the interoperability of our platform or offerings with our customers’ IT infrastructures, including third-party operating systems,
applications, data and devices that we have not developed and do not control. Third-party products and services are constantly evolving, and we may not be able to modify our
offerings to ensure their compatibility with those of other third parties following development changes. Any changes in such infrastructure, operating systems, applications, data
or devices that degrade the functionality of our platform or offerings or give preferential treatment to competitive solutions could adversely affect the adoption and usage of our
platform. We may not be successful in quickly or cost effectively adapting our platform or offerings to operate effectively with these operating systems, applications, data, or
devices. If it is difficult for our customers to access and use our platform or offerings, or if our platform or offerings cannot connect a broadening range of applications, data and
devices, then our customer growth and retention may be harmed, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. We rely on open
standards for many integrations between our platform and third-party applications that our customers utilize, and in other instances on such third parties making available the
necessary tools for us to create interoperability with their applications. If application providers were to move away from open standards, or if a critical, widely-utilized
application provider were to adopt proprietary integration standards and not make them available for the purposes of facilitating interoperability with our platform, the utility of
our platform and offerings for our customers would be decreased, our offerings may become less marketable, less competitive, or obsolete, and our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Real or perceived errors, failures, vulnerabilities or bugs in our platform, including deployment complexity, could harm our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
Errors, failures, vulnerabilities or bugs may occur in our platform, especially when updates are deployed or new platform offerings and functionalities are rolled out.
Our platform is often used in connection with large-scale computing
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environments with different operating systems, system management software, equipment and networking configurations, which may cause errors or failures of products, or
other aspects of the computing environment into which our platform is deployed. In addition, deployment of our platform into complicated, large-scale computing environments
may expose errors, failures, vulnerabilities or bugs in our platform. Any such errors, failures, vulnerabilities or bugs may be difficult to detect and may not be found until after
they are deployed to our customers. Further, our platform and offerings operate in conjunction with, and we are dependent upon, numerous third-party products and
components. There have been and may continue to be significant attacks on certain third-party providers, and we cannot guarantee that our or our third-party providers’ systems
and networks have not been breached or that they do not contain exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or disruption to our systems and networks or the
systems and networks of third parties that support us and our services. If there is a security vulnerability, error, or other bug in one of these third-party products or components
and if there is a security exploit targeting them, we could face increased costs, liability claims, reduced revenue, or harm to our reputation or competitive position. More
generally, real or perceived errors, failures, vulnerabilities or bugs in our platform, or delays in or difficulties implementing our platform releases, could result in negative
publicity, or corruption of, or unauthorized access to, customer data, loss of or delay in market acceptance of our platform, a decrease in customer satisfaction, confidence or
adoption rates, delayed product introductions, compromised ability to protect the data (including personal data) of our customers and our data and intellectual property, an
inability to provide some or all of our services, loss of competitive position, or claims by customers for losses sustained by them, all of which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations. Such errors, bugs, vulnerabilities or defects could also be exploited by malicious actors and result in exposure of data of
users on our platform, or otherwise result in a security breach or other security incident. We may need to expend significant financial and development resources to analyze,
correct, eliminate, or work around errors or defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabilities. For example, in June 2021, a third party disclosed a vulnerability in older
versions of our on-premise software that was being operated by a subset of our customers and that could be exploited. We deployed an update to affected versions of our
software addressing the vulnerability, and a substantial majority of our affected customers have implemented the recommended software update. We are not aware of any
customer information being compromised as a result of this vulnerability. We cannot be certain, however, that customer information was not compromised. If this vulnerability,
or other errors, bugs, vulnerabilities or defects result in the compromise of customer information or other harm, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could
be adversely affected.
If there are interruptions or performance problems associated with our technology or infrastructure, our customers may experience service outages or delays in the
deployment of our platform.
Our continued growth depends on the ability of our existing and potential customers to access our platform 24 hours a day, seven days a week, without interruption or
degradation of performance. We have in the past and may in the future experience disruptions, outages and other performance problems with our infrastructure due to a variety
of factors, including infrastructure changes, introductions of new functionality, human or software errors, capacity constraints, distributed denial-of-service attacks or other
security-related incidents. In some instances, we may not be able to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems immediately or in short order. We may not be
able to maintain the level of service uptime and performance required by our customers, especially during peak usage times and as our offerings become more complex and our
user traffic increases. If our platform is unavailable or if our customers are unable to access our offerings or deploy them within a reasonable amount of time, or at all, our
business would be harmed. Frequent or persistent interruptions in our products and services could cause customers to believe that our products and services are unreliable,
leading them to switch to our competitors or to otherwise avoid our products and services.
The adverse effects of any service interruptions on our reputation and financial condition may be disproportionately heightened due to the nature of our business and
the fact that our customers expect continuous and uninterrupted access to our offerings and have a low tolerance for interruptions of any duration. Since our customers rely on
our offerings to provide and secure access to their IT infrastructures and to support customer-facing applications, any outage on our platform would impair the ability of our
customers to operate their businesses, which would negatively impact our brand, reputation and customer satisfaction. Additionally, our insurance policies may be insufficient
to cover a claim made against us by any customers affected by any disruptions, outages, or other performance or infrastructure problems.
Moreover, we depend on services from various third parties to maintain our cloud infrastructure and deploy our offerings, such as GCP, which hosts our platform. If a
third-party service provider fails to provide sufficient capacity to support our platform or otherwise experiences service outages, such failure could interrupt our customers’
access to our services, which could adversely affect their perception of our platform’s reliability. Any disruptions in these services, including as a result of actions outside of our
control, would significantly impact the continued performance of our offerings. In the event that our service agreements are terminated with our cloud infrastructure providers,
or there is a lapse of service, interruption of internet service provider connectivity or damage to such providers’ facilities, we could experience interruptions in access to our
platform as well as delays and additional expense in arranging new facilities and services. In the future, these services may not be available to us on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of these services could result in decreased functionality of our offerings until equivalent technology is either developed by us or,
if available from another provider, is identified, obtained and integrated into our infrastructure. We may also be unable to effectively address capacity constraints, upgrade our
systems as needed and continually develop our technology and network architecture to accommodate actual and anticipated changes in technology.
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Our platform is accessed by a large number of customers, often at the same time. As we continue to expand the number of our customers and offerings available to our
customers, our technology may not be able to scale to accommodate the increased capacity requirements, which may result in interruptions or delays in service. In addition, the
failure of third-party cloud infrastructure providers, third-party internet service providers or other third-party service providers whose services are integrated with our platform
to meet our capacity requirements could result in interruptions or delays in access to our platform or impede our ability to scale our operations. Any of the above circumstances
or events may harm our reputation, cause customers to terminate their agreements with us, impair our ability to obtain subscription renewals from existing customers, impair our
ability to grow our customer base, result in the expenditure of significant financial, technical and engineering resources, subject us to financial penalties and liabilities under our
service level agreements, and otherwise could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
System interruption and the lack of integration, redundancy and scalability in these systems and infrastructures may harm our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
Our success depends, in part, on our ability to maintain the integrity of our systems and infrastructure, including websites, information and related systems. System
interruption and a lack of integration and redundancy in our information systems and infrastructure may adversely affect our ability to operate websites, process and fulfill
transactions, respond to customer inquiries and generally maintain cost-efficient operations. We may experience occasional system interruptions that make some or all systems
or data unavailable or prevent us from efficiently providing access to our platform. We also rely on third-party computer systems, broadband and other communications systems
and service providers in connection with providing access to our platform generally. Any interruptions, outages or delays in our systems and infrastructure, our business or third
parties, or deterioration in the performance of these systems and infrastructure, could impair our ability to provide access to our platform. Fire, flood, power loss,
telecommunications failure, hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, other natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism and similar events or disruptions may damage or interrupt
computer, broadband or other communications systems and infrastructure at any time. Any of these events could cause system interruption, delays and loss of critical data,
including personal data, and could prevent us from providing access to our platform. While we have backup systems for certain aspects of these operations, disaster recovery
planning by its nature cannot be sufficient for all eventualities. In addition, we may not have adequate insurance coverage to compensate for losses from a major interruption. If
any of these events were to occur, it could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
If we fail to efficiently maintain, protect and enhance our brand, our ability to attract new customers could be impaired and our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be adversely affected.
We believe that developing and maintaining awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread adoption of our platform and
offerings and is critical to our ability to attract new customers. Furthermore, we believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase as competition in our market
increases. Successful promotion of our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts, our ability to provide reliable and useful offerings at competitive
prices, our ability to maintain our customers’ trust and our ability to successfully differentiate our services and platform capabilities from competitive products and services, any
of which we may not be able to do effectively. In the past, our efforts to build our brand have involved significant expenses. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased
revenue, and even if they do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or
incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our brand, we may fail to attract new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent
necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Failure to effectively develop and expand our marketing and sales capabilities could harm our ability to grow our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of
our platform.
Our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our platform depends, in part, on our ability to expand our marketing and sales
operations. We plan to continue expanding our direct sales force and engaging additional channel, system integrator and technology partners, both domestically and
internationally. This expansion will require us to invest significant financial and other resources. Our business will be harmed if our efforts do not generate a corresponding
increase in revenue. We may not achieve anticipated revenue growth from expanding our direct sales force if we are unable to hire and develop talented direct sales personnel, if
our new direct sales personnel are unable to achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time or if we are unable to retain our existing direct sales personnel. We
also may not achieve anticipated revenue growth from our partners if we are unable to attract and retain additional motivated partners, if any existing or future partners fail to
successfully market, resell, implement or support our platform or offerings for their customers, or if they represent multiple providers and devote greater resources to market,
resell, implement and support the products and solutions of other providers. For example, some of our partners also sell or provide integration and administration services for
our competitors’ products, and if such partners devote greater resources to marketing, reselling and supporting competing products, our business, financial condition, and results
of operations could be adversely affected.
If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, our business could be adversely affected.
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We believe that our corporate culture has been a critical component to our success and that our culture creates an environment that drives and perpetuates our overall
business strategy. We have invested substantial time and resources in building our team and we expect to continue to hire as we expand, including with respect to our
international operations. As we grow as a public company and grow internationally, we may find it difficult to maintain our corporate culture. Any failure to preserve our
culture could negatively affect our future success, including our ability to recruit and retain personnel and effectively execute on our business strategy.
We depend on our management team and other highly skilled personnel, and we may fail to attract, retain, motivate, or integrate highly skilled personnel, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We depend on the continued contributions of our management team, key employees, and other highly skilled personnel. Our management team and key employees are
at-will employees, which means they may terminate their relationship with us at any time. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel or delays in hiring required
personnel, particularly within our research and development and engineering teams, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Our future success also depends, in part, on our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. Competition for these personnel in the San Francisco
Bay Area, where our headquarters is located, and in other locations where we maintain offices, is intense, and the industry in which we operate is generally characterized by
significant competition for skilled personnel as well as high employee attrition. We may not be successful in attracting, retaining, training or motivating qualified personnel to
fulfill our current or future needs. Additionally, the former employers of our new employees may attempt to assert that our new employees or we have breached their legal
obligations, which may be time-consuming, distracting to management and may divert our resources. Current and potential personnel also often consider the value of equity
awards they receive in connection with their employment, and to the extent the perceived value of our equity awards declines relative to our competitors, our ability to attract
and retain highly skilled personnel may be harmed. If we fail to attract and integrate new personnel or retain and motivate our current personnel, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
We may be unable to make acquisitions and investments, successfully integrate acquired companies into our business, or our acquisitions and investments may not meet
our expectations, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We have in the past acquired, and we may in the future acquire or invest in, businesses, offerings, technologies, or talent that we believe could complement or expand
our platform, enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities. We may not be able to fully realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions or
investments. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur significant expenses related to identifying, investigating and
pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not they are consummated.
There are inherent risks in integrating and managing acquisitions. If we acquire additional businesses, we may not be able to assimilate or integrate the acquired
personnel, operations, solutions and technologies successfully, or effectively manage the combined business following the acquisition. We also may not achieve the anticipated
benefits or synergies from the acquired business due to a number of factors, including, without limitation:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

delays or reductions in customer purchases for both us and the acquired business;
disruption of partner and customer relationships;
potential loss of key employees of the acquired company;
claims by and disputes with the acquired company’s employees, customers, stockholders or third parties;
unknown liabilities or risks associated with the acquired business, product or technology, such as contractual obligations, potential security vulnerabilities of the
acquired company and its products and services, potential intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other violation, costs arising from the acquired
company’s failure to comply with legal or regulatory requirements and litigation matters;
acquired technologies or products may not comply with legal or regulatory requirements and may require us to make additional investments to make them compliant;
acquired technologies or products may not be able to provide the same support service levels that we generally offer with our other offerings;
they could be viewed unfavorably by our partners, our customers, our stockholders or securities analysts;
unforeseen difficulties relating to integration or other expenses; and
future impairment of goodwill or other acquired intangible assets.

Acquisitions also increase the risk of unforeseen legal liability, including for potential violations of applicable law or industry rules and regulations, arising from prior
or ongoing acts or omissions by the acquired businesses that are not discovered by due diligence during the acquisition process. We may have to pay cash, incur debt or issue
equity or equity-
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linked securities to pay for any future acquisitions, each of which could adversely affect our financial condition or the market price of our Class A common stock. The sale of
equity or issuance of equity-linked debt to finance any future acquisitions could result in dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased
fixed obligations and could also include covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We track certain operational metrics with internal systems and tools and do not independently verify such metrics. Certain of our operational metrics are subject to
inherent challenges in measurement, and any real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may adversely affect our business and reputation.
We track certain operational metrics, including ARR, dollar-based net retention rate, and number of large customers, with internal systems and tools that are not
independently verified by any third party and which may differ from estimates or similar metrics published by third parties due to differences in sources, methodologies or the
assumptions on which we rely. Our internal systems and tools have a number of limitations, and our methodologies for tracking these metrics may change over time, which
could result in unexpected changes to our metrics, including the metrics we publicly disclose. If the internal systems and tools we use to track these metrics undercount or
overcount performance or contain algorithmic or other technical errors, the data we report may not be accurate. While these numbers are based on what we believe to be
reasonable estimates of our metrics for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring these metrics. Limitations or errors with respect to how
we measure data or with respect to the data that we measure may affect our understanding of certain details of our business, which could affect our long-term strategies. If our
operating metrics are not accurate representations of our business, if investors do not perceive our operating metrics to be accurate or if we discover material inaccuracies with
respect to these figures, we expect that our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
We have substantial indebtedness under our term loan facility and our obligations thereunder may limit our operational flexibility or otherwise adversely affect our
financial condition.
In March 2020, we entered into our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (as defined herein), which we subsequently amended in September 2021, that provides for
senior secured credit consisting of term loans. As of June 30, 2021, the aggregate principal amount of our outstanding indebtedness under our Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement was $40.0 million, and no further amounts are available to be drawn at this time. There can be no assurance that we will be able to repay this indebtedness when
due, or that we will be able to refinance this indebtedness on acceptable terms or at all.
Our indebtedness could adversely impact us. For example, these obligations could, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

make it difficult for us to pay other obligations;
increase our cost of borrowing;
make it difficult to obtain favorable terms for any necessary future financing for working capital, capital expenditures, investments, acquisitions, debt service
requirements, or other purposes;
restrict us from making acquisitions or cause us to make divestitures or similar transactions;
adversely affect our liquidity and result in an adverse effect on our financial condition upon repayment of the indebtedness;
require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service and repay the indebtedness, reducing the amount of cash flow available for other
purposes;
increase our vulnerability to adverse and economic conditions;
increase our exposure to interest rate risk from variable interest rate indebtedness;
place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our less leveraged competitors; and
limit our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in our business.

Restrictions imposed by our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness may limit our ability to operate our business and to finance our future operations or
capital needs or to engage in acquisitions or other business activities necessary to achieve growth.
The terms of our outstanding indebtedness restrict us from engaging in specified types of transactions. Subject to certain exceptions, these covenants restrict our ability
to, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•

incur additional indebtedness;
create or incur liens;
engage in consolidations, amalgamations, mergers, liquidations, dissolutions or dispositions;
sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of assets;
pay dividends and distributions on, or repurchase or redeem, capital stock; and
make acquisitions, investments, loans, advances or capital contributions.
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We cannot guarantee that we will be able to maintain compliance with these covenants or, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtain waivers from the lenders
and/or amend the covenants. Even if we comply with all of the applicable covenants, the restrictions on the conduct of our business could adversely affect our business by,
among other things, limiting our ability to take advantage of financing opportunities, mergers, acquisitions, investments, and other corporate opportunities that may be
beneficial to our business. Even if our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement is terminated, any additional debt that we incur in the future could subject us to similar or
additional covenants.
A breach of any of the covenants in the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could trigger
acceleration of our indebtedness and an increase in the interest rates applicable to such indebtedness, and may result in the acceleration of or default under any other debt we
may incur in the future to which a cross-acceleration or cross-default provision applies. The acceleration of the indebtedness under our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement
or under any other indebtedness could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. In the event of any default under our existing or
future debt instruments, the applicable lenders could elect to terminate borrowing commitments and declare all borrowings and loans outstanding, together with accrued and
unpaid interest and any fees and other obligations, to be due and payable. In addition, we have granted a security interest in a significant portion of our assets to secure our
obligations under our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement. During the existence of an event of default under our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, the applicable
lenders could exercise their rights and remedies thereunder, including by way of initiating foreclosure proceedings against any assets constituting collateral for our obligations.
We may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt service obligations, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and results of operations, which are subject to
prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, legislative, regulatory, and other factors beyond our control. We may not be able to maintain
a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, or interest on our indebtedness. If our cash flows and capital
resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay strategic acquisitions and partnerships, capital expenditures, and payments on
account of other obligations, seek additional capital, restructure or refinance our indebtedness, or sell assets. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not
permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial
condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and could require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict
our business operations. In addition, we cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
If we are unable to repay or otherwise refinance our indebtedness when due, or if any other event of default is not cured or waived, the applicable lenders could
accelerate our outstanding obligations or proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness, which could force us into bankruptcy or liquidation. In the
event the applicable lenders accelerate the repayment of our borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may not have sufficient assets to repay that indebtedness. Any acceleration of
amounts due under our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement or the exercise by the applicable lenders of their rights under the security documents could have a material and
adverse effect on our business.
Despite our level of indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur substantially more debt, including off-balance sheet financing, contractual obligations
and general and commercial liabilities. This could further exacerbate the risks to our financial condition described above.
We and our subsidiaries may incur significant additional indebtedness in the future, including additional tranches of term loans and/or term loan increases and/or
revolving credit facilities, contractual obligations, and general and commercial liabilities. Although the terms of our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement contain
restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, such restrictions are subject to a number of significant exceptions and qualifications and any additional indebtedness
incurred in compliance with such restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions also will not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness. If
we and our subsidiaries incur significant additional indebtedness or other obligations, the related risks that we face could increase.
We may require additional capital, which may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all.
Historically, we have funded our operations and capital expenditures primarily through equity issuances, debt instruments and cash generated from our operations. To
support our growing business, we must have sufficient capital to continue to make significant investments in our platform. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of
equity, equity-linked or debt securities, those securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our common stock, and our existing stockholders may
experience dilution. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and
operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities.
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We evaluate financing opportunities from time to time, and our ability to obtain financing will depend on, among other things, our development efforts, business plans
and operating performance, and the condition of the capital markets at the time we seek financing. We cannot be certain that additional financing will be available to us on
favorable terms, or at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business
growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. In
March 2020, we entered into our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (which we subsequently amended in September 2021), which provides for term loans, and we must
adhere to the covenants contained therein.
Our results of operations may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles applicable to us.
GAAP is subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, the SEC and other various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret
appropriate accounting principles. Changes in accounting principles applicable to us, or varying interpretations of current accounting principles, could have a significant effect
on our reported results of operations. Further, any difficulties in the implementation of changes in accounting principles, including the ability to modify our accounting systems,
could cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting obligations, which could result in regulatory discipline and harm investors’ confidence in us.
Our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies may be based on assumptions that change or prove to be incorrect, which could cause our results of
operations to fall below expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our
financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, as described in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The results of these estimates form
the basis for making judgments about the recognition and measurement of certain assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses that is not readily apparent from other sources.
Our accounting policies that involve judgment include those related to revenue recognition, the period of benefit for deferred sales commissions, assumptions used for
estimating the fair value of common stock and to calculate stock-based compensation, certain accrued liabilities, and valuation allowances associated with income taxes. If our
assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, our results of operations could be adversely affected, which could cause our results of
operations to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.
We may fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, which could impair our ability to produce timely and
accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations.
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the listing standards
of the New York Stock Exchange. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information
required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to
improve our internal control over financial reporting. We have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources in order to maintain and improve
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in the conditions in our business, including increased
complexity resulting from any further international expansion. Further, weaknesses in our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting may be discovered
in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our results of operations
or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting could also adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public
accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we will eventually be required to include in our periodic
reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence
in our reported financial and other information, which would likely adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to
meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange. We are not currently required to comply with the SEC rules that implement
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and are therefore not required to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for that
purpose. We
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are required to provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing with our second annual report on Form
10-K.
Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until after we
are no longer an “emerging growth company.” At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied
with the level at which our internal control over financial reporting is documented, designed or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal
control over financial reporting could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations, and could cause a decline in the market price of our
Class A common stock.
Our business could be adversely affected by economic downturns.
Prolonged economic uncertainties or downturns could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Negative conditions in the general
economy in either the United States or abroad, including conditions resulting from financial and credit market fluctuations, changes in economic policy, trade uncertainty,
including changes in tariffs, sanctions, international treaties and other trade restrictions, the occurrence of a natural disaster or global public health crisis, such as the COVID-19
pandemic, or armed conflicts, could cause a decrease in corporate spending on digital identity offerings in general and negatively affect the growth of our business.
These conditions could make it extremely difficult for our customers and us to forecast and plan future business activities accurately and could cause our customers to
reevaluate their decision to purchase access to our platform, which could delay and lengthen our sales cycles or result in cancellations of planned purchases. For example, the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the current economic environment has caused and may in the future cause our customers to reduce their spending on, or duration of, their
contracts with us, or request concessions including extended payment terms or better pricing. Further, during challenging economic times, our customers may face issues in
gaining timely access to sufficient credit, which could result in an impairment of their ability to make timely payments to us, if at all. If that were to occur, we may be required to
increase our allowance for doubtful accounts, which would adversely affect our results of operations.
A substantial downturn in any of the industries in which our customers operate may cause firms to react to worsening conditions by reducing their capital expenditures
in general or by specifically reducing their spending on digital identity offerings. Customers in these industries may delay or cancel projects or seek to lower their costs by
renegotiating vendor contracts. To the extent purchases of access to our platform are perceived by customers and potential customers to be discretionary, our revenue may be
disproportionately affected by delays or reductions in general digital identity spending.
We cannot predict the timing, strength or duration of any economic slowdown, instability or recovery, generally or within any particular industry or geography. Any
economic downtowns of the general economy or industries in which we operate would adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. For example,
the full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is unknown at this time, but could result in adverse changes in our results of operations for an unknown period of time.
Our business could be adversely affected by pandemics, natural disasters, political crises or other unexpected events.
A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, hurricane, tornado, flood or significant power outage, could disrupt our operations, mobile networks, the
Internet or the operations of our third-party technology providers. In particular, our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for
seismic activity. In addition, any unforeseen public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, political crises, such as terrorist attacks, war and other political instability, or
other catastrophic events, whether in the United States or abroad, can continue to adversely affect our operations or the economy as a whole. The impact of any natural disaster,
act of terrorism or other disruption to us or our third-party providers’ abilities could result in decreased demand for our platform or a delay in the provision of our platform,
which would adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. All of the aforementioned risks would be further increased if our disaster recovery
plans prove to be inadequate.
Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties
If we are unable to build and maintain successful relationships with our partners, our business, financial condition, results of operations and results of operations could be
adversely affected.
We employ a go-to-market business model whereby a meaningful portion of our revenue is generated by sales through our strategic global channel partners, including
global strategic consulting firms and global systems integrators, that further expand the reach of our direct sales force into additional geographies, sectors and industries. We
provide certain of our partners with specific training and programs to assist them in selling access to our platform, and our deal cycles are sometimes protracted due to our
partners’ involvement. If our partners are unsuccessful in marketing and selling access to our platform, it would limit our expansion into certain geographies, sectors and
industries. If we are unable to develop and maintain effective
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sales incentive programs for our partners, we may not be able to incentivize these partners to sell access to our platform to customers.
Identifying partners, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, requires significant time and resources. Our competitors may be effective in causing
third parties to favor their products or services over subscriptions to our platform. In addition, acquisitions of such partners by our competitors could result in a decrease in the
number of our current and potential customers, as these partners may no longer facilitate the adoption of our applications by potential customers. Further, some of our partners
are or may become competitive with certain of our offerings and may elect to no longer integrate with our platform. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our
relationships with third parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired, and our results of operations may suffer. Even if we are
successful, we cannot ensure that these relationships will result in increased customer adoption and usage of our platform or increased revenue. If our existing relationships with
our partners are disrupted or terminated for any of these factors, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Defects in or the loss of access to software or services from third parties could increase our costs and adversely affect the quality of our platform.
We rely on technologies from third parties to operate critical functions of our business, including cloud infrastructure services such as GCP, customer relationship
management services, support software and development hardware. Our business would be disrupted if any of the third-party software or services we use, or functional
equivalents, were unavailable due to extended outages or interruptions or because they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms or prices. In each case, we
would be required to either seek licenses to software or services from other parties and redesign our platform and offerings to function with such software or services or develop
substitutes ourselves, which would result in increased costs and could result in delays in our offering launches and the release of new platform offerings until equivalent
technology can be identified, licensed or developed, and integrated into our platform. Furthermore, we might be forced to limit the features available on our platform. Any
delays and feature limitations could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Certain estimates and information that we refer to publicly are based on information from third-party sources and we do not independently verify the accuracy or
completeness of the data contained in such sources or the methodologies for collecting such data, and any real or perceived inaccuracies in such estimates and information
may harm our reputation and adversely affect our business.
Certain estimates and information that we refer to publicly, including general expectations concerning our industry and the market in which we operate and addressable
market size, are based to some extent on information provided by third-party providers. This information involves a number of assumptions and limitations, and although we
believe the information from such third-party sources is reliable, we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of the data contained in such third-party
sources or the methodologies for collecting such data. If there are any limitations or errors with respect to such data or methodologies, or if investors do not perceive such data
or methodologies to be accurate, or if we discover material inaccuracies with respect to such data or methodologies, our business, financial condition, and results of operations
could be adversely affected.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
We use open source software in our platform and offerings, which could negatively affect our ability to offer our platform and expose us to litigation or other actions.
We use open source software in our platform and offerings and expect to use more open source software in the future. In certain circumstances, we also make
available, upon customer request, the source code of the open source portions of our software. From time to time, there have been claims challenging the ownership of open
source software against companies that incorporate open source software into their products. However, the terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by
U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to
commercialize our platform and offerings. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software, or claiming
that software we developed using such open source software is a derivative work of open source software and demanding the release of portions of our source code, or
otherwise seeking to enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, have a negative effect on our financial condition and
results of operations or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our platform and offerings.
In addition, if we were to combine our proprietary software offerings with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain of the open source
licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. While we monitor our use of open source software and try to ensure that none is used in
a manner that would require us to disclose our proprietary source code or that would otherwise breach the terms of an open source agreement, such use could inadvertently
occur, or could be claimed to have occurred, in part because open source license terms are often ambiguous. This
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would allow our competitors to create similar products with less development effort and time. If we inappropriately use open source software, or if the license terms for open
source software that we use change, we may be required to re-engineer our platform or offerings, incur additional costs, discontinue the sale of some or all of our platform or
take other remedial actions.
In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source
licensors generally do not provide warranties or assurance of title or controls on origin of the software. There is typically no support available for open source software, and we
cannot ensure that the authors of such open source software will implement or push updates to address security risks or will not abandon further development and maintenance.
In addition, many of the risks associated with usage of open source software, such as the lack of warranties or assurances of title, cannot be eliminated, and could, if not
properly addressed, negatively affect our business. We have established processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening requests from our
development organizations for the use of open source software, but we cannot be sure that all of our use of open source software is in a manner that is consistent with our
current policies and procedures, or will not subject us to liability. Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage and, if not addressed, could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
If we fail to adequately obtain, maintain, defend, protect or enforce our intellectual property or proprietary rights, our competitive position could be impaired and we may
lose valuable assets, generate less revenue and incur costly litigation.
Our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our intellectual property, proprietary information and technology. We rely, or may in the future rely, on a
combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade secret laws in the United States and certain other jurisdictions and contractual restrictions to establish and
protect our proprietary rights, all of which provide only limited protection. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property may be inadequate and we will not be
able to protect our intellectual property if we are unable to enforce our rights or if we do not detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Various factors outside our
control pose a threat to our intellectual property rights, as well as to our products, services and technologies. For example, we may fail to obtain effective intellectual property
protection, or the efforts we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights may not be sufficient or effective, and any of our intellectual property rights may be
challenged, which could result in them being narrowed in scope or declared invalid or unenforceable.
We make business decisions about when to seek patent protection for a particular technology and when to rely upon trade secret protection, and the approach we select
may ultimately prove to be inadequate. There can be no assurance our intellectual property rights will be sufficient to protect against others offering products or services that are
substantially similar to ours and compete with our business or that unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our technology and use information that we consider
proprietary. For example, it is possible that third parties, including our competitors, may obtain patents relating to technologies that overlap or compete with our technology. If
third parties obtain patent protection with respect to such technologies, they may assert that our technology infringes their patents and seek to charge us a licensing fee or
otherwise preclude the use of our technology.
We rely in part on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other confidential information to maintain our competitive position. We attempt to protect our intellectual
property, technology and confidential information by requiring our employees, contractors, consultants, corporate collaborators, advisors and other third parties who develop
intellectual property on our behalf to enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements and third parties we share information with to enter into nondisclosure and
confidentiality agreements. However, we cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party who has developed intellectual property on our behalf and
each party that has or may have had access to our confidential information, know-how and trade secrets, and no assurance can be given that these agreements will be effective in
controlling access to and distribution of our intellectual property, trade secrets, platform or offerings and proprietary and confidential information. Further, these agreements do
not prevent our competitors from independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our platform or offerings. These agreements may be
insufficient or breached, or may not effectively prevent unauthorized access to or unauthorized use, disclosure, misappropriation or reverse engineering of, our confidential
information, intellectual property, or technology. Moreover, these agreements may not provide an adequate remedy for breaches or in the event of unauthorized use or
disclosure of our confidential information or technology, or infringement of our intellectual property. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a
trade secret or know-how is difficult, expensive, and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect and
some courts inside and outside the U.S. are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets and know-how. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or
independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we would have no right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us, and our
competitive position would be adversely harmed. The loss of trade secret protection could make it easier for third parties to compete with our products and services by copying
functionality. Additionally, individuals not subject to invention assignment agreements may make adverse ownership claims to our current and future intellectual property, and,
to the extent that our employees, independent contractors or other third parties with whom we do business use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us,
disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.
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Despite our precautions, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy our platform or offerings and use information that we regard as proprietary to create
products that compete with ours. Some license provisions protecting against unauthorized use, copying, transfer and disclosure of our platform or offerings may be
unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countries. Further, the laws of some countries do not protect intellectual property and proprietary rights to the
same extent as the laws of the United States, and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate. Any of our
intellectual property rights may be challenged or circumvented by others or invalidated or held unenforceable through administrative process or litigation in the United States or
in foreign jurisdictions. Furthermore, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are uncertain and any changes
in, or unexpected interpretations of, intellectual property laws may compromise our ability to enforce our trade secrets and intellectual property rights. To the extent we expand
our international activities, our exposure to unauthorized copying and use of our platform or offerings and proprietary information may increase. Accordingly, despite our
efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating our technology and intellectual property.
To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant time, money, and resources to maintain, monitor, and protect these rights. Litigation
may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation could be costly, time consuming and distracting to
management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met
with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Additionally, because of the substantial amount of
discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this
type of litigation. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s
attention and resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our platform or offerings, impair the functionality of our platform or offerings, delay introductions of
new offerings, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform and offerings, or injure our reputation.
If we fail to comply with our obligations under license or technology agreements with third parties, we may be required to pay damages and we could lose license rights that
are critical to our business.
We license from third parties certain intellectual property, technologies, data, content and software that are important to our business, and in the future we may enter
into additional agreements. If we fail to comply with any of the obligations under our license agreements, we may be required to pay damages and the licensor may have the
right to terminate the license. Termination by the licensor may cause us to lose valuable rights, and could prevent us from selling our products and services, or inhibit our ability
to commercialize future products and services. Our business may suffer if any current or future licenses terminate, if the licensors fail to abide by the terms of the license, if the
licensors fail to enforce licensed patents against infringing third parties, if the licensed intellectual property rights are found to be invalid or unenforceable, or if we are unable to
enter into necessary licenses on acceptable terms. Moreover, our licensors may not own or control intellectual property that has been licensed to us and, as a result, we may be
subject to claims, regardless of their merit, that we are infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating a third party’s rights. In addition, the agreements under which we
license intellectual property or technology from third parties are generally complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations.
The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or
technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement. Any of the foregoing could an adverse effect on our competitive
position, business, financial condition, and results of operations.
If we cannot license rights to use technologies on reasonable terms, we may not be able to commercialize new products in the future.
In the future, we may identify additional third-party intellectual property that we may need to license to conduct our business, including to develop or commercialize
new products or services. However, such licenses may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. The licensing or acquisition of third-party intellectual property rights is a
competitive area, and several more established companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive or
necessary. These established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, capital resources and greater development or commercialization
capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. Even if such licenses are available, we may be required
to pay the licensor substantial royalties based on sales of our products and services. Such royalties are a component of the cost of our products or services and may affect the
margins on our products and services. In addition, such licenses may be non-exclusive, which could give our competitors access to the same intellectual property licensed to us.
If we are unable to enter into the necessary licenses on acceptable terms or at all, if any necessary licenses are subsequently terminated, if our licensors fail to abide by the terms
of the licenses, if our licensors fail to prevent infringement by third parties, or if the licensed intellectual property rights are found to be invalid or unenforceable, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any of these licenses on favorable terms could prevent us
from commercializing products, which could have an adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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If we are subject to a claim that we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate a third party’s intellectual property rights, our business, financial condition, or results of
operations could be adversely affected.
Claims by third parties that we or customers using our platform infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate their proprietary technology or other intellectual property
rights could harm our business. A number of companies in our industry hold a large number of patents and also protect their copyrights, trade secrets and other intellectual
property rights, and there is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our industry. We expect that software companies will increasingly be
subject to claims of infringement, misappropriation and other violations of intellectual property rights as the number of products and competitors grows and the functionality of
products in different industry segments overlaps. As we face increasing competition and become increasingly high profile, the possibility of receiving a larger number of
intellectual property claims against us grows. In addition, various “non-practicing entities,” and other intellectual property rights holders may attempt to assert intellectual
property claims against us or seek to monetize the intellectual property rights they own to extract value through licensing or other settlements.
In addition, the patent portfolios of many of our competitors are larger than ours, and this disparity may increase the risk that our competitors may sue us for patent
infringement and may limit our ability to counterclaim for patent infringement or settle through patent cross-licenses. Our use of third-party software and other intellectual
property rights also may be subject to claims of infringement or misappropriation. For example, a claim may be made relating to technology that we acquire or license from
third parties. In addition, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that such personnel have divulged proprietary or other confidential
information to us. Further, we may be unaware of the intellectual property rights of others that may cover some or all of our technology, and our insurance may not cover
intellectual property rights infringement claims that may be made.
Our agreements with our customers or third-party service providers also contain indemnification provisions related to claims that our platform infringes upon,
misappropriates or otherwise violates the intellectual property rights of third parties. We have in the past, and may in the future, receive such claims. In the event that the
resolution of such claims requires us to indemnify our customers or third-party service providers for significant amounts, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.
Any claim of infringement, misappropriation or other violation, regardless of its merit or our defenses, could:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

require costly litigation to resolve or the payment of substantial damages, ongoing royalty payments, or other
significant amounts to settle such disputes;
require significant management time and attention;
cause us to enter into unfavorable royalty or license agreements, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all;
require us to discontinue the sale of some or all of our platform, remove, or reduce features or functionality of our platform or comply with other unfavorable terms;
require us to indemnify our customers or third-party service providers; or
require us to expend additional development resources to redesign our platform.
Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may be obligated to disclose our proprietary source code to certain of our customers, which may limit our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary
rights and could reduce the renewals of our solutions.
Some of our customer agreements contain provisions permitting the customer to become a party to, or a beneficiary of, a source code escrow agreement under which
we place the proprietary source code for certain of our products in escrow with a third party, and in certain circumstances, upon customer request, we also make available the
source code of our proprietary software. We are currently party to a source code escrow agreement, pursuant to which an escrow agent may release our source code to
customers identified as beneficiaries under such agreement (i) upon our written request or (ii) if we become the subject of a voluntary or involuntary petition in bankruptcy
(other than a case filed under chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code), and such petition is not dismissed within 120 days of filing, or if we admit in writing of our inability to
pay our debts as they become due. We have never released our source code from escrow. Agreements with certain customers may also require us to release our source code
under certain other circumstances, such as material breach of the applicable agreement. Disclosing the content of our source code may limit the intellectual property protection
we can obtain or maintain for our source code or our products containing that source code and may facilitate intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other
violation claims against us. Following any such release, we cannot be certain that customers will comply with the restrictions on their use of the source code and we may be
unable to monitor and prevent unauthorized disclosure of such source code by customers. Any increase in the number of people familiar with our source code as a result of any
such release also may increase the risk of a successful hacking attempt. Any of these circumstances could result in an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
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Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory Environment
Our business is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations, many of which are evolving, and failure to comply with such laws and regulations could harm our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Our business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, local and foreign governmental agencies, including agencies responsible for monitoring and enforcing
data privacy, security and protection laws and regulations, intellectual property, employment and labor laws, workplace safety, consumer protection laws, anti-bribery laws,
import and export controls, immigration laws, federal securities laws and tax laws and regulations. In certain foreign jurisdictions, these regulatory requirements may be more
stringent than in the United States.
These laws and regulations impose added costs on our business. Noncompliance with applicable regulations or requirements could subject us to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

investigations, enforcement actions, orders and sanctions;
mandatory changes to our products and services;
disgorgement of profits, fines and damages;
civil and criminal penalties or injunctions;
claims for damages by our customers or partners;
termination of contracts;
loss of intellectual property rights; and
temporary or permanent debarment from sales to heavily regulated organizations and governments.

If any governmental sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be adversely affected. In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and an increase
in professional fees. Enforcement actions and sanctions could materially harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
In addition, we must comply with laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and performance of contracts with customers in heavily regulated
industries and the public sector, including U.S. federal, state and local governmental organizations, which affect how we and our partners do business with such customers.
Selling our product to customers in heavily regulated industries or to the U.S. government, whether directly or through partners, also subjects us to certain regulatory and
contractual requirements. Failure to comply with these requirements by either us or our partners could subject us to investigations, fines and other penalties, which would
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Violations of certain regulatory and contractual requirements could also result in us being
suspended or debarred from future government contracting or other contracting opportunities. Any of these outcomes could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.
We are subject to stringent laws, rules and regulations regarding privacy, data protection and information security. Any actual or perceived failure by us to comply with
such laws, rules and regulations, the privacy or security provisions of our privacy policy, our contracts or other legal or regulatory requirements could result in
proceedings, actions or penalties against us and materially adversely affect our business.
Our customers’ collection, storage, use and other processing of data concerning, among others, their employees, contractors, partners and customers is essential to their
use of our platform. We have implemented various features intended to enable our customers to better comply with applicable privacy, data protection and information security
requirements in their collection, use and other processing of data within our online service, but these features do not ensure their compliance and may not be effective against all
potential concerns relating to privacy, data protection or information security.
Many jurisdictions have enacted or are considering enacting or revising privacy, data protection or information security legislation, including laws, rules and
regulations applying to the collection, use, storage, transfer, disclosure or other processing of personal data, including for purposes of marketing and other communications. The
costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, such laws, rules and regulations that are applicable to the operations of our business, or those of our customers, may
limit the use and adoption of our service and reduce overall demand for it. These privacy, data protection and information security related laws, rules and regulations are
evolving and may result in increasing regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of enforcement and sanctions. In addition, we are subject to certain contractual
obligations regarding the collection, use, storage, transfer, disclosure or other processing of personal data. Although we are working to comply with applicable federal, state, and
foreign laws, rules and regulations, industry standards, contractual obligations and other legal obligations that apply to us, those laws, rules, regulations, standards and
obligations are evolving and may be modified, interpreted and applied in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to another, and may conflict with one another, other
requirements or legal obligations, our practices or the features of our platform. We also expect that there will continue to be
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new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards concerning privacy, data protection and information security in the United States, the European Union and other
jurisdictions, and we cannot yet determine the impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business.
In June 2018, California enacted the CCPA, which took effect on January 1, 2020 and established a new privacy framework for covered businesses such as ours, which
may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and incur compliance-related costs and expenses. The CCPA broadly defines personal information and gave
California residents expanded privacy rights and protections, such as affording them the right to access and request deletion of their information and to opt out of certain sharing
and sales of personal information. The law also prohibits covered businesses from discriminating against California residents (for example, charging more for services) for
exercising any of their CCPA rights. The CCPA provides for severe civil penalties and statutory damages for violations and a private right of action for certain data breaches
that result in the loss of personal information. This private right of action is expected to increase the likelihood of, and risks associated with, data breach litigation. However, it
remains unclear how various provisions of the CCPA will be interpreted and enforced. In November 2020, California voters passed the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020,
or CPRA. Effective in most material respects starting on January 1, 2023, the CPRA imposes additional obligations on companies covered by the legislation and will
significantly modify the CCPA, including by expanding the CCPA with additional data privacy compliance requirements that may impact our business. The CPRA also
establishes a regulatory agency dedicated to enforcing the CCPA and the CPRA. The effects of the CPRA, the CCPA, other similar state or federal laws, and other future
changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection and information security, particularly any new or modified laws or regulations that require enhanced
protection of certain types of data or new obligations with regard to data retention, transfer or disclosure, are significant, may require us to modify our data processing practices
and policies, and could greatly increase the cost of providing our offerings, require significant changes to our operations or even prevent us from providing certain offerings in
jurisdictions in which we currently operate and in which we may operate in the future or incur potential liability in an effort to comply with such legislation.
Other state legislatures are currently contemplating, and may pass, their own comprehensive data privacy and security laws, with potentially greater penalties and more
rigorous compliance requirements relevant to our business, and many state legislatures have already adopted legislation that regulates how businesses operate online, including
measures relating to privacy, data security, data breaches and the protection of sensitive and personal information. For example, in March 2021, Virginia enacted the Virginia
Consumer Data Protection Act, or CDPA, a comprehensive privacy statute that becomes effective on January 1, 2023 and shares similarities with the CCPA, the CPRA, and
legislation proposed in other states. Laws in all 50 states require businesses to provide notice under certain circumstances to customers whose personally identifiable information
has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. New laws, amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws and regulations, industry standards, contractual obligations and
other obligations may require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business operations. Such laws and regulations may require companies to implement privacy and
security policies, permit users to access, correct and delete personal data stored or maintained by such companies, inform individuals of security breaches that affect their
personal data, and, in some cases, obtain individuals’ consent to use personal data for certain purposes. If we, or the third parties on which we rely, fail to comply with federal,
state or international laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection or information security, our ability to successfully operate our business and pursue our business
goals could be harmed. In addition to government activity, privacy advocacy groups and technology and other industries are considering various new, additional or different
self-regulatory standards that may place additional burdens on us. Future laws, regulations, standards and other obligations, and changes in the interpretation of existing laws,
regulations, standards and other obligations may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies, and could impair our or our customers’ ability to collect, use or
disclose information relating to consumers, which could decrease demand for our applications, increase our costs and impair our ability to maintain and grow our customer base
and increase our revenue.
Internationally, many jurisdictions have established their own legal frameworks governing privacy, data protection, and information security with which we may need
to comply. For example, the European Union has adopted the GDPR, which went into effect in May 2018 and contains numerous requirements and changes from previously
existing EU law, including more robust obligations on data processors and heavier documentation requirements for data protection compliance programs. The GDPR requires
data controllers to implement more stringent operational requirements for processors and controllers of personal data, including, for example, transparent and expanded
disclosure to data subjects about how their personal data is to be used, imposes limitations on retention of information, introduces mandatory data breach notification
requirements, and sets higher standards for data controllers to demonstrate that they have obtained valid consent for certain data processing activities. The GDPR also imposes
strict rules on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the European Economic Area, or EEA, including the United States. In 2016, the EU and United States agreed to
a transfer framework for data transferred from the EEA to the United States, called the Privacy Shield, but the Privacy Shield was invalidated in July 2020 by the Court of
Justice of the EU, or CJEU. The standard contractual clauses issued by the European Commission for the transfer of personal data, a potential alternative to the Privacy Shield,
also have been drawn into question for use under certain circumstances, and regulators have issued additional guidance regarding considerations and requirements that we and
other companies must consider and undertake when using such clauses, and it remains to be seen whether additional means for lawful data transfers will become available. Fines
for noncompliance with the GDPR are significant and can be up to the greater of €20 million or 4% of annual global turnover. The GDPR also provides that EU member states
may introduce further conditions, including
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limitations, and make their own laws and regulations further limiting the processing of ‘special categories of personal data,’ including personal data related to health, biometric
data used for unique identification purposes and genetic information, which could limit our ability to collect, use and share EU data, and could cause our compliance costs to
increase, ultimately having an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Further, the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union, often referred to as Brexit, and ongoing developments in the United Kingdom have created uncertainty
with regard to data protection regulation in the United Kingdom. As of January 1, 2021, following the expiry of transitional arrangements agreed to between the United
Kingdom and European Union, data processing in the United Kingdom is governed by a United Kingdom version of the GDPR (combining the GDPR and the United
Kingdom’s Data Protection Act 2018), which authorizes significant fines, up to the greater of £17.5 million or 4% of global turnover, and exposes us to two parallel regimes
and other potentially divergent enforcement actions for certain violations. Pursuant to the Trade and Cooperation Agreement, which went into effect on January 1, 2021, the
United Kingdom and EU agreed to a specified period during which the United Kingdom will be treated like an EU member state in relation to transfers of personal data to the
United Kingdom for four months from January 1, 2021. This period may be extended by two further months. The European Commission issued a draft adequacy decision for
the United Kingdom on February 19, 2021, but this has not yet been adopted. If the adequacy decision is not adopted before the expiration of such specified period, the United
Kingdom will become an ‘inadequate third country’ under the GDPR and transfers of data from the EEA to the United Kingdom will require a valid transfer mechanism.
Furthermore, following the expiration of this specified period, there will be increasing scope for divergence in application, interpretation and enforcement of the data protection
law as between the United Kingdom and EEA. Other countries have also passed or are considering passing laws requiring local data residency or restricting the international
transfer of data. Additionally, many jurisdictions outside the United States, EEA, and United Kingdom in which we have operations or for which such jurisdictions’ laws or
regulations may apply to us or our operations, including Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and Singapore, maintain laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and
information security that provide for extensive obligations in connection with the use, collection, protection, and processing of personal data. Many of these legal regimes
provide for substantial fines, penalties, or other consequences for noncompliance. We may be required to implement new measures or policies, or change our existing policies
and measures or the features of our platform, in an effort to comply with U.S. and international laws, rules, and regulations relating to privacy, data protection and information
security, which may require us to expend substantial financial and other resources and which may otherwise be difficult to undertake.
Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with federal, state or foreign laws, rules or regulations, industry standards, contractual or other legal obligations
relating to privacy, data protection or information security, or any actual, perceived or suspected security incident, whether or not resulting in unauthorized access to, or
acquisition, release or transfer of personal data or other data, may result in enforcement actions and prosecutions, private litigation, significant fines, penalties and censure,
claims for damages by customers and other affected individuals, regulatory inquiries and investigations or adverse publicity and could cause our customers to lose trust in us,
any of which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business. Since many of our offerings involve the processing of personal data from our customers and their
employees, contractors, customers, partners and others, any inability to adequately address privacy, data protection or information security concerns, even if unfounded, or
comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations, policies, industry standards, contractual or other legal obligations could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our
reputation, inhibit sales and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Around the world, there are numerous lawsuits in process against various technology companies that process personal data. If those lawsuits are successful, it could
increase the likelihood that our company may be exposed to liability for our own policies and practices concerning the processing of personal data and could hurt our business.
Furthermore, the costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by laws, regulations and policies concerning privacy, data protection and information security that are
applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoption of our platform and reduce overall demand for it. Concerns relating to privacy, data protection or
information security whether or not valid, may inhibit market adoption of our platform. Additionally, concerns about privacy, data protection or information security may result
in the adoption of new legislation that restricts the implementation of technologies like ours or requires us to make modifications to our platform, which could significantly limit
the adoption and deployment of our technologies or result in significant expense to modify our platform.
We publicly post our privacy policies and practices concerning our collection, use, disclosure and other processing of the personal data provided to us by our website
visitors and by our customers. Although we endeavor to comply with our public statements and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do
so. Our publication of our privacy policies and other statements we publish that provide promises and assurances about privacy, data protection and information security can
subject us to potential regulatory action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair or misrepresentative of our actual practices.
Evolving and changing definitions of what constitutes “personal information” and “personal data” within the EEA, the United States and elsewhere, especially relating
to classification of IP addresses, machine or device identification numbers, location data and other information, may limit or inhibit our ability to operate or expand our
business, including limiting technology alliance partners that may involve the sharing of data. In addition, rapidly-evolving privacy laws and frameworks
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distinguish between a data processor and data controller (or under the CCPA, whether a business is a ‘service provider’), and different risks and requirements may apply to us,
depending on the nature of our data processing activities. If our business model expands and changes over time, different sets of risks and requirements may apply to us,
requiring us to re-orient the business accordingly.
If our platform is perceived to cause, or is otherwise unfavorably associated with, violations of privacy, data protection or information security requirements, it may
subject us or our customers to public criticism and potential legal liability. Existing and potential laws, rules and regulations concerning privacy, data protection and
information security and increasing sensitivity of consumers to unauthorized processing of personal data may create negative public reactions to technologies, products and
services such as ours. Public concerns regarding personal data processing, privacy, data protection and information security may cause some of our customers’ end users to be
less likely to visit their websites or otherwise interact with them. If enough end users choose not to visit our customers’ websites or otherwise interact with them, our customers
could stop using our platform. This, in turn, may reduce the value of our service, and slow or eliminate the growth of our business, or cause our business to contract.
We may be the subject of legal proceedings which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
In the ordinary course of business, we may be involved in various litigation matters, including but not limited to commercial disputes, employee claims and class
actions, and from time to time may be involved in governmental or regulatory investigations or similar matters arising out of our current or future business. Any claims asserted
against us, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, could harm our reputation and have an adverse impact on our relationship with our customers, partners and other third
parties and could lead to additional related claims. Certain claims may seek injunctive relief, which could disrupt the ordinary conduct of our business and operations or increase
our cost of doing business. Our insurance or indemnities may not cover all claims that may be asserted against us, and any claims asserted against us, regardless of merit or
eventual outcome, may harm our reputation and cause us to expend resources in our defense. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that we will be successful in defending
ourselves in future litigation or similar matters under various laws. If judgments or settlements in any future litigation or investigation significantly exceed our insurance
coverage, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
If we fail to meet the service level commitments under our customer contracts, we could be obligated to provide credits for future service, or face contract termination with
refunds of prepaid amounts related to unused subscriptions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Our customer agreements contain service level commitments, under which we guarantee specified availability of our platform, and time-bound resolutions to support
inquiries. Any failure of or disruption to our infrastructure could make our platform unavailable to our customers. If we are unable to meet the stated service level commitments
to our customers or suffer extended periods of unavailability of our platform, we may be contractually obligated to provide affected customers with service credits for future
subscriptions, or customers could elect to terminate and receive refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused subscriptions. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property infringement and other losses.
Our agreements with customers, partners and other third parties may include indemnification or other provisions under which we agree to indemnify or otherwise be
liable to them for losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other violation, damages caused by us to property or
persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from the use of our platform or other acts or omissions. The term of these contractual provisions sometimes survives
termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. As we continue to grow, the possibility of infringement claims and other intellectual property rights claims against us may
increase. For any intellectual property rights indemnification claim against us or our customers, we will incur significant legal expenses and may have to pay damages,
settlement fees, license fees or stop using technology found to be in violation of the third party’s rights. Large indemnity payments could harm our business, financial condition,
and results of operations. We may also have to seek a license for the infringing or allegedly infringing technology. Such license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at
all, and may significantly increase our operating expenses or may require us to restrict our business activities and limit our ability to deliver certain offerings. As a result, we
may also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense or cause us to alter our platform, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
From time to time, customers require us to indemnify or otherwise be liable to them for breach of confidentiality, violation of applicable law or failure to implement
adequate security measures with respect to their data stored, transmitted or accessed using our platform. Although we normally contractually limit our liability with respect to
such obligations, the existence of such a dispute may have adverse effects on our customer relationship and reputation and we may still incur substantial liability related to
them.
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Any assertions by a third party, whether or not successful, with respect to such indemnification obligations could subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation,
expensive remediation and licenses, divert management attention and financial resources, harm our relationship with that customer and other current and prospective customers,
reduce demand for our platform, and adversely affect our brand, business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We may be subject to liability claims if we breach our contracts and our insurance may be inadequate to cover our losses.
We are subject to numerous obligations in our contracts with our customers and partners. Despite the procedures, systems and internal controls we have implemented
to comply with our contracts, we may breach these commitments, whether through a weakness in these procedures, systems and internal controls, negligence or the willful act of
an employee or contractor. Our insurance policies, including our errors and omissions insurance, may be inadequate to compensate us for the potentially significant losses that
may result from claims arising from breaches of our contracts, disruptions in our service, including those caused by cybersecurity incidents, failures or disruptions to our
infrastructure, catastrophic events and disasters or otherwise. In addition, such insurance may not be available to us in the future on economically reasonable terms, or at all.
Further, our insurance may not cover all claims made against us and defending a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’s attention.
A portion of our revenue is generated from sales to government entities, which subject us to a number of challenges and risks.
A portion of our revenue is generated from sales to governmental entities, and we have made, and may continue to make, investments to support future sales
opportunities in the government sector. We estimate that we generated approximately 16%, 16%, 18%, and 15% of our revenue from sales to government entities in each of
2019 and 2020 and for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2021, respectively. Government demand for our platform and offerings could be impacted by budgetary cycles,
and there may be governmental certification requirements for our platform. Further, we may be subject to audits and investigations regarding our governmental contracts, and
any violations could result in penalties and sanctions, including termination of the contract, refunding or forfeiting payments, fines and suspension or disbarment from future
government business. Selling to these entities can be highly competitive, expensive and time consuming, often requiring significant upfront time and expense without any
assurance that we will successfully complete a sale. Government entities often require contract terms that differ from our standard arrangements and impose compliance
requirements that are complicated, require preferential pricing, termination rights tied to funding availability, or are otherwise time consuming and expensive to satisfy.
Government entities may also have statutory, contractual, or other legal rights to terminate contracts with our partners for convenience, for lack of funding, or due to a default,
and any such termination may adversely impact our results of operations. If we undertake to meet special standards or requirements and do not meet them, we could be subject
to increased liability from our customers or regulators. Even if we do meet such special standards, the additional costs associated with providing our platform and offerings to
government entities could harm our margins. Moreover, changes in the underlying regulatory conditions that affect these types of customers could harm our ability to efficiently
provide our platform to them and to grow or maintain our customer base. If we are unable to manage the risks related to contracting with government entities, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Political developments in the United Kingdom, including the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union, could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.
We contract with our international customers via our subsidiary in the United Kingdom, ForgeRock Limited, and we derive a meaningful portion of our revenue from
the United Kingdom, which is typically in British Pounds or Euros. Recent developments in the relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union may have
an adverse impact on our business and financial position, and results of operations and the currencies in which we transact business.
Following a referendum in June 2016, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union on February 1, 2020, or Brexit, and entered into a transition period to,
among other things, negotiate an agreement with the European Union governing the future relationship between the European Union and the United Kingdom. Brexit created
significant political and economic uncertainty in 2020 about the future relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union, which in turn caused and continues
to cause significant volatility in global financial markets and the value of the British Pound or other currencies, including the Euro.
While the E.U.-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement was agreed on December 24, 2020 and ratified by the UK Parliament on December 30, 2020 shortly before the
transition period ended on December 31, 2020, the ongoing impact of both Brexit and the E.U.-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, is undetermined. The E.U.-UK Trade
and Cooperation Agreement left a certain amount of detail to be negotiated and agreed and it unclear how these further negotiations between the United Kingdom and the
European Union will impact economic conditions in the United Kingdom as well as global financial markets.

72

Table of Contents

While the European Union Withdrawal Act retains relevant E.U. law as domestic UK law and the E.U.-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement has extended the
transition period specifically for data transfers (the adequacy bridge), Brexit has nonetheless created uncertainty with regard to the regulation of data protection, immigration
and taxation, among other issues, in the United Kingdom. For example, it is unclear how Brexit will affect how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated
in the future. Depending on the terms reached on agreements following the E.U.-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement and the European Union’s decision on adequacy with
regard to data transfers to and from the European Union, it is possible that there may be adverse practical or operational implications on our business, which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
The uncertainty that Brexit has caused may cause some of our customers or potential customers to curtail or delay spending and may result in new regulatory
challenges or increased costs to our United Kingdom and global operations, all of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal penalties or
significant fines and harm our business and reputation.
We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, U.S.
Travel Act, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and possibly other anti-corruption, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anticorruption and anti-bribery laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees, agents,
representatives, business partners, and third-party intermediaries from promising, authorizing, making or offering, directly or indirectly, improper payments or other benefits to
recipients in the public or private sector. As we increase our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase.
In addition, we use third parties to sell our platform or offerings and conduct business on our behalf abroad. We, our employees, agents, representatives, business
partners and third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and we
may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these employees, agents, representatives, business partners and third-party intermediaries, representatives,
contractors, partners, and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. These laws also require that we keep accurate books and records and maintain internal
controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions. We have policies to address compliance with such laws, but cannot ensure that all our employees,
agents, representatives, business partners and third-party intermediaries, will not take actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately
held responsible.
Any allegations or violation of the FCPA, other applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption laws, or anti-money laundering laws could subject us to investigations,
whistleblower complaints, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, and other enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, injunctions, adverse media
coverage, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil sanctions, suspension or debarment from government contracts and other consequences, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations. Responding to any investigation or action will likely result in a
materially significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.
We are subject to governmental export and import controls and economic sanctions programs that could impair our ability to compete in international markets or subject
us to liability if we violate these controls.
In many cases, our business activities are subject to U.S. and international export control laws and regulations including the Export Administration Regulations, or
EAR, and trade and economic sanctions maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC. As such, an export license may be required to export or reexport our
software and services to certain countries and end-users, including to certain U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments, and persons and for certain end-uses. If we
were to fail to comply with such export control laws and regulations, trade and economic sanctions, or other similar laws, we could be subject to both civil and criminal
penalties, including substantial fines, possible incarceration for employees and managers for willful violations, and the possible loss of our export or import privileges.
Obtaining the necessary export license for a particular sale or offering may not be possible and may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities.
In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain software and technology using encryption, including through import permit and license requirements, and
have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our platform and offerings or could limit our end-customers’ ability to implement our platform in those countries.
Changes in our platform or changes in export and import regulations in such countries may create delays in the introduction of our platform and offerings into international
markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our platform globally, or in some cases, prevent or delay the export or import of our platform and
offerings to certain countries, governments, or persons altogether. The following developments could result in decreased use of our platform and offerings by, or in our
decreased ability to export or sell our platform and offerings to, existing or potential end-customers with international operations: any
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change in export or import laws or regulations, economic sanctions or related legislation; shift in the enforcement or scope of existing export, import or sanctions laws or
regulations; or change in the countries, governments, persons, or technologies targeted by such export, import or sanctions laws or regulations. Any decreased use of our
platform or offerings or limitation on our ability to export to or sell our platform or offerings in international markets could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.
Our international operations may give rise to potentially adverse tax consequences.
Our income tax obligations are based in part on our corporate operating structure and intercompany arrangements, including the manner in which we develop, value,
manage and use our intellectual property and the valuation of our intercompany transactions. Our existing corporate structure and intercompany arrangements have been
implemented in a manner we believe is in compliance with current prevailing tax laws. The tax laws applicable to our business, including the laws of the United States and other
jurisdictions, are subject to interpretation and certain jurisdictions are aggressively interpreting their laws in new ways in an effort to raise additional tax revenue. New income,
sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time. Those enactments could harm our business, financial condition, and results of
operations. In addition, taxing authorities in these jurisdictions could impose additional tax, interest and penalties on us, claim that various withholding requirements apply to us
or our subsidiaries or assert that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries. These events could require us or our customers to pay additional tax amounts
on a prospective or retroactive basis, as well as require us or our customers to pay fines or penalties and interest for past amounts deemed to be due. If we raise our prices to
offset the costs of these changes, existing and potential future customers may elect not to purchase our products in the future.
In addition, our intercompany relationships are subject to complex transfer pricing regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The relevant
taxing authorities may disagree with our current and historic determinations as to the value of assets sold or acquired or income and expenses attributable to specific
jurisdictions. If such a disagreement were to occur, and our position were not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest, and penalties, which could result
in one-time tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows, and lower overall profitability of our operations. In addition, changes to our corporate structure and
intercompany agreements could impact our worldwide effective tax rate and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
There is also a high level of uncertainty in today’s tax environment stemming from both global initiatives put forth by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development, or OECD, and unilateral measures being implemented by various countries due to a lack of consensus on these global initiatives. As an example, the OECD has
put forth two proposals—Pillar One and Pillar Two—that revise the allocation of revenues to market jurisdiction based on customer jurisdiction rather than physical presence of
the provider and ensure a minimal level of taxation, respectively. Further, certain countries have implemented or are considering implementing measures such as digital services
tax. These measures and corresponding tariffs in response to such measures create additional tax liabilities and uncertainty. As a result, we may have to pay higher taxes in
countries where such rules are applicable.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater
than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carry-forwards and other prechange tax attributes, such as research tax credits and interest deduction carryover, to offset its post-change income may be limited. Any ownership change in the future could
result in increased future tax liability. In addition, we may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership. As a result, if we
earn net taxable income, our ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carry-forwards to offset U.S. federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could
potentially result in increased future tax liability to us. The impact of any limitations that may be imposed due to such ownership changes has not been determined.
In addition, on December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted new tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or Tax Act. The Tax Act
makes broad and complex changes to the U.S. tax code, including changes to the uses and limitations of net operating losses carryforwards. For example, under the Tax Act, as
modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act, federal net operating losses incurred during our taxable years beginning after
December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely, however, the deductibility of our federal net operating losses generated in such years will be limited to 80% of taxable
income in the year utilized. Federal net operating losses incurred in years beginning before January 1, 2018 are subject to a twenty year carryforward but are not limited to 80%
of taxable income. Furthermore, our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards is conditioned upon generating future U.S. federal taxable income. Since we do not know
whether or when we will generate the U.S. federal taxable income necessary to use our remaining net operating loss carryforwards, certain of our net operating loss
carryforwards generated could expire before use.
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Any successful action by state, foreign or other authorities to collect additional or past indirect taxes, including sales tax and others could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.
States, some local taxing jurisdictions, and foreign jurisdictions have differing rules and regulations governing indirect taxes such as sales and use taxes, value added
taxes, or VAT, and goods and services taxes, and these rules and regulations are subject to varying interpretations that may change over time. In particular, the applicability of
indirect taxes to our platform in various jurisdictions is unclear. We file indirect tax returns and collect indirect taxes in certain states within the United States and certain
foreign jurisdictions as required by law, and we do not file and collect indirect or other similar taxes in certain other states, certain other foreign jurisdictions and on certain of
the offerings that we provide on the basis that such taxes are not applicable. It is possible that we could face indirect tax audits and that one or more states, local jurisdictions or
foreign authorities could seek to impose additional indirect or other tax collection and record-keeping obligations on us or may determine that such taxes should have, but have
not been, paid by us. We could also be subject to audits in states, local and foreign jurisdictions for which we have not accrued tax liabilities. A successful assertion that we
should be collecting additional indirect or other taxes on our service in jurisdictions where we have not historically done so and do not accrue for indirect taxes could result in
substantial tax liabilities for past sales, discourage customers from purchasing our platform and offerings or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
Operating as a public company has and will require us to incur substantial costs and will require substantial management attention.
As a public company, we incur substantial legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. For example, we are subject to the
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, we file annual, quarterly and
current reports with respect to our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial
compliance costs, and increase demand on our systems, particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” In addition, as a public company, we may be subject
to stockholder activism, which can lead to additional substantial costs, distract management and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot
currently anticipate. As a result of disclosure of information in filings required of a public company, our business, financial condition, and results of operations will become
more visible, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors.
Certain members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, and certain members joined us more recently. As such, our
management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to being a public company subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations
under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents will require significant attention from
our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
We are an “emerging growth company” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our Class A common stock less
attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that
are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. As an
“emerging growth company,” we are also allowed to delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies until such pronouncements
are made applicable to private companies. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to those of companies that comply with new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of public company effective dates. Any difficulties in implementing these pronouncements could cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting obligations,
which could result in regulatory discipline and harm investors’ confidence in us. We may take advantage of these exemptions for so long as we are an “emerging growth
company,” which could be for as long as five full reporting years following the completion of our initial public offering. We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A
common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active
trading market for our Class A common stock and the market price of our Class A common stock may be more volatile.
The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital stock (or options or other
securities convertible into or exercisable for our capital stock) prior to the completion of our initial public offering, which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of
important transactions, including a change in control.
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Our Class B common stock has 10 votes per share, and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. As of September 30, 2021, our directors, executive officers,
and holders of more than 5% of our common stock, and their respective affiliates, held in the aggregate 84% of the combined voting power of our Class A common stock and
Class B common stock. Because of the 10-to-one voting ratio between our Class B common stock and Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B common stock
collectively will continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and will therefore, if acting together, be able to control all matters submitted
to our stockholders for approval until the earlier of (i) the 7th anniversary of the filing and effectiveness of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, (ii) when the
outstanding shares of our Class B common stock represent less than 5% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Class A common stock and Class B common stock,
and (iii) the affirmative vote of the holders of 66-2/3% of the voting power of our outstanding Class B common stock. This concentrated control will limit or preclude your
ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or
substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions requiring stockholder approval. In addition, this may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals
or offers for our capital stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.
Future transfers by holders of shares of our Class B common stock generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited exceptions,
including but not limited to, transfers effected for estate planning purposes, to the extent the transferor retains voting power over the shares, and transfers among affiliates, to the
extent the transferee continues to remain an affiliate. Shares of Class B common stock held by natural persons automatically convert into shares of Class A common stock upon
the death or disability of the holder. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power
of those individual holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term.
The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile and could be subject to fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our
control. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our Class A common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the market price of our
Class A common stock include the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
volatility in the market prices and trading volumes of technology stocks;
changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in our industry in particular;
sales of shares of our common stock by us or our stockholders, as well as the anticipation of expiration of, or releases, from market standoff agreements or lock-up
agreements;
failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts who follow our company or our failure to meet these
estimates or the expectations of investors;
the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in those projections or our failure to meet those projections;
announcements by us or our competitors of new offerings or platform features;
the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;
rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;
short selling of our Class A common stock or related derivative securities;
actual or anticipated changes in our results of operations or fluctuations in our results of operations; actual or perceived security breaches or incidents;
actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
announced or completed acquisitions of businesses, offerings or technologies by us or our competitors;
developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
litigation involving us, our industry, or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;
new laws, regulations, rules or industry standards or new interpretations of existing laws, regulations, rules or industry standards applicable to our business;
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;
any significant change in our management; and
general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor confidence, the market price of our Class A common stock
could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition or results of operations. The market price of our Class A common stock might also decline in reaction to
events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. In the past, following periods of volatility in
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the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if
instituted against us, would result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.
Recently, the stock markets in general, and the markets for technology stocks in particular, have experienced extreme volatility, including as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic. Furthermore, the market price of our Class A common stock may be adversely affected by third parties trying to drive down the price of our Class A common stock.
Short sellers and others, some of whom post anonymously on social media, can negatively affect the market price of our Class A common stock and may be positioned to profit
if the market price of our Class A common stock declines. These broad market and industry factors may seriously harm the market price of our Class A common stock,
regardless of our operating performance.
Sales, directly or indirectly, of shares of our common stock by existing equity holders, or the perception that such sales might occur, could cause the market price of our
Class A common stock to decline or impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities.
Sales, directly or indirectly, of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, or the public perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market
price of our Class A common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. Many of our existing equity holders have
substantial unrecognized gains on the value of the equity they hold, and may take, or attempt to take, steps to sell, directly or indirectly, their shares or otherwise secure, or limit
the risk to, the value of their unrecognized gains on those shares.
Our executive officers, directors and the holders of substantially all of our capital stock and securities convertible into or exchangeable for our capital stock are parties
to agreements with us containing market standoff provisions, or have entered into lock-up agreements with the underwriters of our initial public offering, under which they have
agreed, subject to specific exceptions, not to dispose of or hedge any of our capital stock during the period ending on and including the earlier of (i) March 14, 2022 and (ii) the
second trading day after we publicly announce our earnings for the fourth quarter of 2021. However, the terms of the lock-up agreements will expire for 15% of each equity
holder’s shares of common stock (including shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding and vested equity awards) subject to the lock-up agreement if, at any
time beginning on the third full trading day after we publicly release our earnings for the third quarter of 2021 (which we refer to as the Early Release Threshold Date), the last
reported closing price of our Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange is at least 25% greater than the price per share in our initial public offering for five out of
any ten consecutive trading days ending on or after the Early Release Threshold Date, including the last day of such ten-trading-day period (which we refer to as the
Measurement Period). We refer to this early release as the Early Lock-Up Release. If such conditions are met, then the Early Lock-Up Release will occur immediately prior to
the opening of trading on the New York Stock Exchange on the third trading day following the end of the Measurement Period, provided that we have publicly announced the
Early Lock-Up Release at least two trading days before its effective date.
As these lock-up restrictions end, if our stockholders sell, or if the market perceives that our stockholders intend to sell, a substantial number of shares of our Class A
common stock in the public market, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline and our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities
could be impaired. While our executive officers, directors and the holders of substantially all of our capital stock and securities convertible into or exchangeable for our capital
stock have entered into agreements with us containing market standoff provisions or lock-up agreements with the underwriters of our initial public offering, sales, short sales or
hedging transactions involving our equity securities, whether or not we believe them to be prohibited, could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.
Further, record holders of our securities are typically the parties to the lock-up agreements, while holders of beneficial interests in our shares who are not also record holders in
respect of such shares are not typically subject to any such agreements or other similar restrictions. Accordingly, we believe that holders of beneficial interests who are not
record holders and are not bound by lock-up agreements could enter into transactions with respect to those beneficial interests that negatively impact the market price of our
Class A common stock. In addition, to the extent an equity holder does not comply with the terms of a market standoff provision or a lock-up agreement, such equity holder
may be able to sell, short sell, transfer, hedge, pledge or otherwise dispose of or attempt to sell, short sell, transfer, hedge, pledge or otherwise dispose of, their equity interests,
which could negatively impact the market price of our Class A common stock.
In addition, we filed a registration statement to register shares reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans, and we intend to file an additional
registration statement to register shares issued and reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans in connection with the Early Lock-Up Release. As a result,
subject to the satisfaction of applicable exercise periods and the expiration or waiver of the lock-up agreements referred to above, the shares issued upon exercise of outstanding
stock options will be available for immediate resale in the United States in the open market. If a large number of these shares are sold in the public market, the sales could
reduce our trading price.
Further, certain of our stockholders are entitled, under our investors’ rights agreement, to require us to register shares owned by them for public sale in the United
States. Sales of our Class A common stock pursuant to registration rights may
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make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate. These sales also could cause the market price of our Class A
common stock to fall and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our Class A common stock.
The issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity compensation plans or otherwise will dilute all other stockholders.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue up to 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, up to 500,000,000 shares of Class B
common stock and up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock with such rights and preferences as may be determined by our board of directors. Subject to compliance with
applicable rules and regulations, we may issue shares of Class A common stock or securities convertible into shares of our Class A common stock from time to time in
connection with a financing, acquisition, investment, our equity compensation plans or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing
stockholders and cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline.
Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest
difficult, thereby depressing the market price of our Class A common stock.
Our status as a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control
by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became
an interested stockholder, even if a change in control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, including the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms, and directors are only able to be removed from office for cause;
certain amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation require the approval of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our
stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class;
our dual class common stock structure provides holders of Class B common stock with the ability to significantly influence the outcome of matters requiring stockholder
approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding capital stock;
our stockholders are only be able to take action at a meeting of stockholders and are not able to take action by written consent for any matter;
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting;
vacancies on our board of directors are able to be filled only by our board of directors and not by stockholders;
a special meeting of our stockholders may only be called by the chairperson of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer (or our President in the absence of a
Chief Executive Officer) or a majority of the “whole board” of our board of directors, where the “whole board” is the total number of authorized directorships whether or
not there exist any vacancies or other unfilled seats in previously authorized directorships;
certain litigation against us can only be brought in Delaware;
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued
without further action by our stockholders; and
advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters before an annual meeting of stockholders.

These provisions, alone or together, could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company. These provisions could also
discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions they desire, any of
which, under certain circumstances, could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Class A common stock and could also affect
the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.
We cannot predict the impact our dual class structure may have on the market price of our Class A common stock.
We cannot predict whether our dual class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our Class A common stock or in adverse publicity or other
adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have restrictions on including companies with multiple-class share structures in certain of their indexes. In July
2017, FTSE Russell and Standard & Poor’s announced that they would cease to allow most newly public companies utilizing dual or multi-class capital structures to be
included in their indices. Affected indices include the Russell 2000 and the S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400, and S&P SmallCap 600, which together make up the S&P Composite
1500. Under these policies, our dual class capital structure would make us ineligible for inclusion in certain indices, and as a result, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, and
other investment vehicles
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that attempt to passively track those indices will not be investing in our stock. Because of our dual class structure, we will likely be excluded from certain of these indexes and
we cannot assure you that other stock indexes will not take similar actions. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive strategies that seek to track certain
indexes, exclusion from stock indexes would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our Class A common stock less attractive to other investors. As
a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.
Our amended and restated bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us
and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our amended and restated bylaws, which provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the
sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our
directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws or (iv) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware), in all cases subject to
the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants.
Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal
courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different
courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated bylaws further provide that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for
resolving any complaints asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act. We note, however, that investors cannot waive
compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder, and that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this exclusive forum
provision. If a court were to find either exclusive-forum provision in our amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional
costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, our business or our market, or if they change their
recommendations regarding our Class A common stock adversely, the market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our business, our
market or our competitors. The analysts’ estimates are based upon their own opinions and are often different from our estimates or expectations. If any of the analysts who
cover us change their recommendation regarding our Class A common stock adversely, provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors or publish
inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the market price of our Class A common stock would likely decline. If few securities analysts commence coverage of us,
or if one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets and demand for our securities
could decrease, which could cause the market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock to decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our
business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Additionally, our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock is limited by
restrictions under the terms of our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement. As a result, stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, if any,
as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment in our Class A common stock.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
From June 30, 2021 through September 16, 2021 (the date of the filing of our registration statement on Form S-1), we granted to our directors, officers and employees
stock options to purchase an aggregate of 696,700 shares of Class B common stock under our 2012 Plan.
In September 2021, we issued an aggregate of 344,085 shares of Class B common stock pursuant to the net exercise of warrants to purchase our common stock.
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In September, 2021, upon the closing of the IPO, all 42,778,408 shares of our then-outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock, including the option to
purchase 1,935,789 shares which was exercised in April 2021, automatically converted on a one-to-one basis to shares of Class B common stock.
None of the foregoing transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering. We believe the offers, sales, and
issuances of the above securities were exempt from registration under the Securities Act (or Regulation D or Regulation S promulgated thereunder) by virtue of Section 4(a)(2)
of the Securities Act because the issuance of securities to the recipients did not involve a public offering, or in reliance on Rule 701 because the transactions were pursuant to
compensatory benefit plans or contracts relating to compensation as provided under such rule. The recipients of the securities in each of these transactions represented their
intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were placed upon
the stock certificates issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through their relationships with us, to information about us. The sales of these securities
were made without any general solicitation or advertising.
Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering of Common Stock
On September 20, 2021, we closed our IPO in which we sold 12,650,000 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $25.00 per share, including
1,650,000 shares pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds of $289.3 million, after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of $21.3 million and offering expenses paid by us of approximately $5.6 million, net of reimbursements. The offer and sale of all of the
shares in the IPO were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-259016 ), which was declared effective by the SEC on
September 15, 2021. The representatives of the several underwriters of the IPO were Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC. No offering expenses were
paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates,
other than payments in the ordinary course of business to officers for salaries and to non-employee directors pursuant to our director compensation policy.
There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC on September 17, 2021
pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4).
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable
Item 5. Other Information
On November 8. 2021, we and CA-Mission Street Limited Partnership (“Landlord”) entered into a lease amendment (the “Lease Extension”), to among other things,
extend the lease of our headquarters located at 201 Mission Street, Suite 2900, San Francisco, California 94105 for eighty-eight (88) months, expiring in August 2029 (such
period, the “Extension Term”). The approximate amount of rent and operating expenses expected to be paid over the Extension Term is $11 million. There is no material
relationship between us or our affiliates and the Landlord or its affiliates, other than the arrangement described herein.
This summary of the Lease Extension does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, reference to the full text of the Lease
Extension, a copy of which is filed herein as Exhibit 10.9.
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Item 6. Exhibits
The documents listed below are incorporated by reference or are filed with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as
indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
31.1

31.2

32.1+

Description

Form

File

Exhibit

Filing Date

333-

10.2

9-7-2021

333-

10.3

9-7-2021

333-

10.5

333-

10.6

333-

10.7

333-

10.8

8-232021
8-232021
8-232021
9-7-2021

333-

10.9

9-7-2021

333-

10.10

9-7-2021

Number

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of ForgeRock, Inc.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of ForgeRock, Inc.
ForgeRock, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and
related form agreements.
ForgeRock, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan and related form agreements.
ForgeRock, Inc. 2021 Executive Incentive
Compensation Plan and related form agreements.
Outside Director Compensation Policy.
Change of Control and Severance Policy and
related form agreements.
Confirmatory Employment Letter between the
registrant and Francis Rosch, dated as of September 2, 2021.
Confirmatory Employment Letter between the
registrant and John Fernandez, dated as of September 2,
2021.
Confirmatory Employment Letter between the
registrant and Pete Angstadt, dated as of September 2, 2021.
First Amendment to Lease between the registrant
and CA-Mission Street Limited Partnership, dated
November 8, 2021.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002
Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1
S-1
S-1
S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A

259016
259016
259016
259016
259016
259016
259016
259016

________________
† Indicates a management contractor compensatory plan or arrangement.
+ The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are
not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of ForgeRock, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before
or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
FORGEROCK, INC.
Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ Francis Rosch
Francis Rosch
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ John Fernandez
John Fernandez
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice
President of Global Operations
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 3.1

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
FORGEROCK, INC.

ForgeRock, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized and existing under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the
“DGCL”), does hereby certify as follows:
(1) The name of the Corporation is ForgeRock, Inc. The original Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation was filed with the office of
the Secretary of State of Delaware on February 15, 2012.
(2) This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (this “ Certificate of Incorporation”) was duly adopted by the Board of Directors
of the Corporation (the “Board of Directors”) and by the stockholders of the Corporation in accordance with Sections 228, 242 and 245 of the DGCL.
(3)

The text of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:
ARTICLE I

The name of the Corporation is ForgeRock, Inc.
ARTICLE II
The name and address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street, in the City of Wilmington,
County of New Castle, Delaware 19801. The name of the Corporation’s registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.
ARTICLE III
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the DGCL.
ARTICLE IV
A. Authorized Capital Stock. The Corporation shall be authorized to issue 1,600,000,000 shares of capital stock, of which (i) 1,000,000,000
shares shall be shares of Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “ Class A Common Stock ”), (ii) 500,000,000 shares shall be shares of
Class B Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “Class B Common Stock” and, together with the Class A Common Stock, the “ Common
Stock”), and (iii) 100,000,000 shares shall be shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share (the “ Preferred Stock”).
Immediately upon the effectiveness of the filing of this Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the
“Effective Time”), each share of the Corporation’s capital stock issued and outstanding or held as treasury stock immediately prior to the Effective Time
(the “Old

Stock”) shall, automatically and without further action by any stockholder, be reclassified as, and shall become, one (1) share of Class B Common Stock
(the “Reclassification”). Each certificate that immediately prior to the Effective Time represented shares of Old Stock shall, until surrendered to the
Corporation in exchange for a certificate representing Class B Common Stock, automatically represent that number of shares of Class B Common Stock
into which such shares of Old Stock were reclassified in the Reclassification.
B. Preferred Stock. The Board of Directors is hereby expressly authorized to provide for the issuance of all or any shares of the Preferred
Stock in one or more classes or series, and to fix for each such class or series the number of shares thereof, such voting powers, full or limited, or no
voting powers, and such designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and such qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof, as shall be stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issuance of such
class or series, including, without limitation, the authority to provide that any such class or series may be (i) subject to redemption at such time or times
and at such price or prices; (ii) entitled to receive dividends (which may be cumulative or non-cumulative) at such rates, on such conditions, and at such
times, and payable in preference to, or in such relation to, the dividends payable on any other class or classes or any other series; (iii) entitled to such
rights upon the dissolution of, or upon any distribution of the assets of, the Corporation; or (iv) convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other
class or classes of stock, or of any other series of the same or any other class or classes of stock, of the Corporation at such price or prices or at such rates
of exchange and with such adjustments; all as may be stated in such resolution or resolutions. The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock may
be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting
power of all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon, without a separate class vote of the holders of Preferred
Stock, or any separate series votes of any series thereof, unless a vote of any such holders is required pursuant to the terms of the Preferred Stock.
C. Rights of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. The relative powers, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions
granted to or imposed on each share of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are as follows:
(1)
Identical Rights. Except as expressly provided herein, or required under applicable law, shares of the Class A Common Stock
and Class B Common Stock shall have the same rights and privileges and rank equally, share ratably and be identical in all respects as to all matters. The
number of authorized shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below (i) the number of
shares thereof then outstanding plus (ii) with respect to the Class A Common Stock, the number of shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Article V,
Section G) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation
entitled to vote thereon, irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL.
(2) Voting Rights.
(a) General Voting Rights . Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, or required by applicable law, the holders of
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock shall vote together as one class on all matters submitted to a vote of
the stockholders.
(b) Votes Per Share . Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, or required by applicable law, on any matter that is
submitted to a vote of the stockholders, each holder of Class A Common Stock shall be
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entitled to one (1) vote for each such share outstanding as of the applicable record date, and each holder of Class B
Common Stock shall be entitled to ten (10) votes for each such share outstanding as of the applicable record date.
(c) Except as otherwise required by law or provided herein, holders of Common Stock shall not be entitled to vote on any
amendment to this Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designation filed with respect to any series of
Preferred Stock) that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such
affected series are entitled, either separately or together as a class with the holders of one or more other such series, to
vote thereon by law or pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designation filed with
respect to any series of Preferred Stock).
(3)
Dividends and Distributions. The holders of the Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock shall be entitled to receive
an equal amount of dividends or distributions per share if, as and when declared from time to time by the Board of Directors, unless different treatment of
shares of each such class is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and by the
affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, each voting separately as a class, provided that, in the
event of a dividend or distribution of Common Stock, shares of Class B Common Stock shall only be entitled to receive shares of Class B Common
Stock and shares of Class A Common Stock shall only be entitled to receive shares of Class A Common Stock.
(4)
Treatment in a Change of Control or any Merger Transaction . In connection with any Change of Control Transaction, shares of
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock shall be treated equally, identically and ratably, on a per share basis, with respect to any
consideration into which such shares are converted or any consideration paid or otherwise distributed to stockholders of the Corporation, unless different
treatment of the shares of each such class is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock and by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, each voting separately as a class;
provided, however, that, for the avoidance of doubt, consideration to be paid or received by a holder of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common
Stock pursuant to any employment, consulting, severance or similar type of agreement shall not be deemed to be a distribution to stockholders for the
purposes of this section. Any merger or consolidation of the Corporation with or into any other entity that is not a Change of Control Transaction shall
require approval by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and by the affirmative vote of
the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, each voting separately as a class, unless (i) the shares of Class A Common
Stock and Class B Common Stock remain outstanding and no other consideration is received in respect thereof or (ii) such shares are converted on a pro
rata basis into shares of the surviving or parent entity in such transaction having identical rights to the shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B
Common Stock, respectively.
(5)
Subdivision or Combination. If the Corporation in any manner subdivides or combines the outstanding shares of Class A
Common Stock or Class B Common Stock, the outstanding shares of the other such class will concurrently therewith be proportionately subdivided or
combined in a manner that maintains the same proportionate equity ownership between the holders of the outstanding Class A Common Stock and the
holders of the outstanding Class B Common Stock on the record date for such subdivision or combination, unless different treatment of the shares of
each such class is approved
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by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and by the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, each voting separately as a class.
(6)
Liquidation, Dissolution or Distribution. In the event of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, distribution of
assets or winding-up of the Corporation, holders of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock shall be treated equally, identically and ratably,
on a per share basis, and be entitled to receive an equal amount per share of all the assets of the Corporation of whatever kind available for distribution to
holders of Common Stock, after the rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock have been satisfied.
(7)

Redemption. Neither the Class A Common Stock nor the Class B Common Stock is redeemable.

D. Definitions. For purposes of this ARTICLE IV:
(1)
“Change of Control Transaction ” means (i) the sale, lease, exchange, or other disposition (other than liens and encumbrances
created in the ordinary course of business, including liens or encumbrances to secure indebtedness for borrowed money that are approved by the Board
of Directors, so long as no foreclosure occurs in respect of any such lien or encumbrance) of all or substantially all of the Corporation’s property and
assets (which shall for such purpose include the property and assets of any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Corporation), provided that any sale, lease,
exchange or other disposition of property or assets exclusively between or among the Corporation and any direct or indirect subsidiary or subsidiaries of
the Corporation shall not be deemed a “Change of Control Transaction”; (ii) the merger, consolidation, business combination or other similar transaction
of the Corporation with any other entity, other than a merger, consolidation, business combination or other similar transaction that would result in the
voting securities of the Corporation outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being
converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent) more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the Corporation or
surviving entity or its parent and more than fifty percent (50%) of the total number of outstanding shares of the Corporation’s capital stock or the capital
stock of the surviving entity or its parent, in each case as outstanding immediately after such merger, consolidation, business combination or other
similar transaction, and the stockholders of the Corporation immediately prior to the merger, consolidation, business combination or other similar
transaction owning voting securities of the Corporation, the surviving entity or its parent immediately following the merger, consolidation, business
combination or other similar transaction in substantially the same proportions (vis a vis each other) as such stockholders owned the voting securities of
the Corporation immediately prior to the transaction; and (iii) a recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or other similar transaction involving the
Corporation, other than a recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or other similar transaction that would result in the voting securities of the Corporation
outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or being converted into voting securities of the surviving
entity or its parent) more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the Corporation or surviving entity or its parent and more than fifty
percent (50%) of the total number of outstanding shares of the Corporation’s capital stock or the capital stock of the surviving entity or its parent, in each
case as outstanding immediately after such recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or other similar transaction, and the stockholders of the Corporation
immediately prior to the recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or other similar transaction owning voting securities of the Corporation, the surviving
entity or its parent immediately following the recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or other similar transaction in substantially the same proportions
(vis a vis each other) as such stockholders owned the voting securities of the Corporation immediately prior to the transaction.
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ARTICLE V
A. Voluntary Conversion of Class B Common Stock . Each one (1) share of Class B Common Stock shall be convertible into one (1) fully
paid and nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock at the option of the holder thereof at any time upon written notice to the transfer agent of the
Corporation or, if later, at the time or the happening of a future event specified in such notice.
B. Automatic Conversion of Class B Common Stock. Each share of Class B Common Stock shall automatically, without any further action
by the Corporation or the holder thereof, be converted into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock upon the occurrence of
(i) a Transfer other than a Permitted Transfer, of such share of Class B Common Stock, or (ii) the written election or, if later, at the time or the
happening of a future event specified in such written election, of the holders of Class B Common Stock representing not less than sixty-six and twothirds percent (66-2/3%) of the voting power of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, acting separately as a single class.
C. Conversion Upon Death or Disability. Each share of Class B Common Stock held of record by a holder of Class B Common Stock who
is a natural person, or by a Permitted Transferee of a natural person, shall automatically, without any further action, convert into one (1) fully paid and
nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock upon the death or Disability of such natural person.
D. Final Conversion of Class B Common Stock. Each share of Class B Common Stock shall automatically, without any further action by the
Corporation or the holder thereof, convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock at the earlier of: (i) 5:00 p.m. in
New York City, New York on the first Trading Day falling on or after the seventh (7 th) year anniversary of the Effective Time or (ii) 5:00 p.m. in New
York City, New York on the date on which the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock represent less than five percent (5%) of the voting power
of the outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, taken together as a single class (the “Final
Conversion Date”). Following any conversion of Class B Common Stock into Class A Common Stock pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation, the
reissuance of all shares of Class B Common Stock so converted shall be prohibited, and such shares shall be retired and cancelled in accordance with
Section 243 of the DGCL and the filing of the certificate with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware required thereby, and upon the effectiveness
of such certificate, if the retired shares constitute all of the authorized shares of the Class B Common Stock, the certificate shall have the effect of
eliminating all references to the Class B Common Stock in this Certificate of Incorporation. Upon any conversion of Class B Common Stock into Class
A Common Stock pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation, all rights of holders of shares of Class B Common Stock with respect to such shares so
converted shall cease and (a) if such shares are certificated, the person or persons in whose name or names the certificate or certificates representing the
shares of Class A Common Stock are to be issued or (b) if such shares are not certificated, the person registered as the owner of such shares in bookentry form shall be treated for all purposes as having become the record holder or holders of such shares of Class A Common Stock.
E. Policies and Procedures. The Corporation may, from time to time, establish such policies and procedures, not in violation of applicable
law or this Certificate of Incorporation or the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, as they may be amended from time to time (the
“Bylaws”), relating to the conversion of shares of the Class B Common Stock into shares of Class A Common Stock as it may deem necessary or
advisable. If the Corporation has reason to believe that a Transfer that is not a Permitted Transfer has occurred, the Corporation may request that the
purported transferor furnish affidavits or other evidence to the Corporation as it reasonably deems necessary to determine whether a Transfer that is not a
Permitted Transfer has occurred, and if such transferor does not within ten (10) days
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after the date of such request furnish sufficient (as determined by the Board of Directors, which determination shall be conclusive and binding) evidence
to the Corporation (in the manner provided in the request) to enable the Corporation to determine that no such Transfer has occurred, any such shares of
Class B Common Stock, to the extent not previously converted, shall be automatically converted into shares of Class A Common Stock and such
conversion shall thereupon be registered on the books and records of the Corporation. A determination by the Corporation as to whether or not a
conversion of Class B Common Stock into Class A Common Stock has occurred, or whether or not a Transfer has occurred resulting in such conversion,
shall be conclusive and binding.
F. Definitions. For purposes of this ARTICLE V:
(1)
“Disability” means, with respect to a natural person, the permanent and total disability of such natural person such that such
natural person is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can
be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months as determined by a
licensed medical practitioner. In the event of a dispute whether a natural person has suffered a Disability, no Disability of such natural person shall be
deemed to have occurred unless and until an affirmative ruling regarding such Disability has been made by a court of competent jurisdiction, and such
ruling has become final and non-appealable.
(2)

“IPO Date” means the date the Class A Common Stock is first publicly traded.

(3)
“Permitted Transfer” means a Transfer by a holder of Class B Common Stock to any of the persons or entities listed in clauses
(a) through (e) below (each, a “Permitted Transferee”) and from any such Permitted Transferee back to such holder of Class B Common Stock and/or
any other Permitted Transferee established by or for such holder of Class B Common Stock:
(a) any Qualified Charity, foundation or similar entity established by a holder of Class B Common Stock so long as the
holder of Class B Common Stock has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of
Class B Common Stock held by such entity; provided such Transfer does not involve any payment of cash, securities,
property or other consideration (other than an interest in such entity) to the holder of Class B Common
Stock; provided, further, that in the event such holder of Class B Common Stock no longer has sole dispositive power and
exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by such entity, each share of Class B
Common Stock then held by such entity shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of
Class A Common Stock;
(b) a trust for the benefit of such holder of Class B Common Stock or persons other than the holder of Class B Common
Stock so long as the holder of Class B Common Stock has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with
respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by such trust; provided such Transfer does not involve any payment
of cash, securities, property or other consideration (other than an interest in such trust) to the holder of Class B Common
Stock; provided, further, that in the event such holder of Class B Common Stock no longer has sole dispositive power and
exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock
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held by such trust, each share of Class B Common Stock then held by such trust shall automatically convert into one
(1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock;
(c) a trust under the terms of which such holder of Class B Common Stock has retained a “qualified interest” within the
meaning of §2702(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code and/or a reversionary interest so long as the holder of Class B
Common Stock has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common
Stock held by such trust; provided that in the event such holder of Class B Common Stock no longer has sole dispositive
power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by such trust, each share of
Class B Common Stock then held by such trust shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable
share of Class A Common Stock;
(d) an Individual Retirement Account, as defined in Section 408(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, or a pension, profit sharing,
stock bonus or other type of plan or trust of which such holder of Class B Common Stock is a participant or beneficiary
and which satisfies the requirements for qualification under Section 401 of the Internal Revenue Code so long as the
holder of Class B Common Stock has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of
Class B Common Stock held in such account, plan or trust; provided that in the event such holder of Class B Common
Stock no longer has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common
Stock held by such account, plan or trust, each share of Class B Common Stock then held by such account, plan or trust
shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock; or
(e) a corporation, partnership or limited liability company in which such holder of Class B Common Stock directly, or
indirectly through one or more of such holder’s Permitted Transferees, owns shares, partnership interests or membership
interests, as applicable, with sufficient Voting Control in the corporation, partnership or limited liability company, as
applicable, or otherwise has legally enforceable rights, such that the holder of Class B Common Stock retains sole
dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by such
corporation, partnership or limited liability company; provided that in the event the holder of Class B Common Stock no
longer owns sufficient shares, partnership interests or membership interests, as applicable, or no longer has sufficient
legally enforceable rights to ensure the holder of Class B Common Stock retains sole dispositive power and exclusive
Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by such corporation, partnership or limited
liability company, as applicable, each share of Class B Common Stock then held by such corporation, partnership or
limited liability company, as applicable, shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of
Class A Common Stock.
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For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent any shares are deemed to be held by a trustee of a trust described in any of
(a) through (d) above, the Transfer shall be a Permitted Transfer and the trustee shall be deemed a Permitted Transferee
so long as the other requirements of (a) through (e) above, as applicable, are otherwise satisfied.
(4)
“Qualified Charity” means a domestic U.S. charitable organization, contributions to which are deductible for federal income,
estate, gift and generation skipping transfer tax purposes.
(5)
“Qualified Stockholder” means (i) any registered holder of a share of Class B Common Stock immediately after the IPO Date
and (ii) a Permitted Transferee.
(6)
“Rights” means any option, warrant, conversion right or contractual right of any kind to acquire shares of the Corporation’s
authorized but unissued capital stock.
(7)
“Trading Day” means any day on which the New York Stock Exchange, or any other registered national securities exchange on
which the Corporation’s equity securities are then principally listed or traded or any successor exchange, is open for trading.
(8)
“Transfer” of a share of Class B Common Stock means, directly or indirectly, any sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance,
hypothecation or other transfer or disposition of such share or any legal or beneficial interest in such share, whether or not for value and whether
voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law (including by merger, consolidation or otherwise) after 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the IPO Date,
including, without limitation, a transfer of a share of Class B Common Stock to a broker or other nominee (regardless of whether there is a
corresponding change in beneficial ownership), or the transfer of, or entering into a binding agreement with respect to, Voting Control (as defined
below) over such share by proxy or otherwise. A “Transfer” will also be deemed to have occurred with respect to all shares of Class B Common Stock
beneficially held by any entity that is a Qualified Stockholder if after 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the IPO Date there is a Transfer of the voting power of
the voting securities of such entity or any direct or indirect parent of such entity, such that the previous holders of such voting power no longer retain sole
dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by such entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the following shall not be considered a “Transfer”:
(a) the grant of a proxy to officers or directors of the Corporation at the request of the Board of Directors in connection with
actions to be taken at an annual or special meeting of stockholders;
(b) the pledge of shares of Class B Common Stock by a stockholder that creates a mere security interest in such shares
pursuant to a bona fide loan or indebtedness transaction for so long as such stockholder continues to exercise Voting
Control over such pledged shares; provided, however, that a foreclosure on such shares or other similar action by the
pledgee shall constitute a Transfer unless such foreclosure or similar action qualifies as a Permitted Transfer;
(c) entering into a voting trust, agreement or arrangement (with or without granting a proxy) solely with stockholders who
are holders of Class B Common Stock that (A) is disclosed either in a Schedule 13D filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation, (B) either has a term not exceeding one (1) year
or is
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terminable by the holder of the shares subject thereto at any time and (C) does not involve any payment of cash,
securities, property or other consideration to the holder of the shares subject thereto other than the mutual promise to vote
shares in a designated manner;
(d) the issuance by the Corporation of any shares of Class B Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of options, warrants,
securities or rights that are exercisable or exchangeable for, or convertible into, Class B Common Stock;
(e) entering into a trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with a
broker or other nominee; provided, however, that a sale of such shares of Class B Common Stock pursuant to such plan
shall constitute a “Transfer” at the time of such sale;
(f) any entry by any holder of shares of Class B Common Stock into a support, voting, tender or similar agreement,
arrangement or understanding (with or without granting a proxy) in connection with a Change of Control Transaction or
other proposal approved by the Board of Directors or consummating the actions or transactions contemplated therein
(including, without limitation, tendering shares of Class B Common Stock or voting such shares in connection with a
Change of Control Transaction or such other proposal, the consummation of a Change of Control Transaction or such
other proposal or the sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, hypothecation or other transfer or disposition of shares of
Class B Common Stock or any legal or beneficial interest in shares of Class B Common Stock in connection with a
Change of Control Transaction or such other proposal); provided that such Change of Control Transaction or such other
proposal was approved by the Board of Directors; or
(g) the fact that the spouse of any holder of Class B Common Stock possesses or obtains an interest in such holder’s shares of
Class B Common Stock arising solely by reason of the application of the community property laws of any jurisdiction, so
long as no other event or circumstance shall exist or have occurred that constitutes a “Transfer” of such shares of Class B
Common Stock; provided that any transfer of shares by any holder of Class B Common Stock to such holder’s spouse for
any reason, including a transfer in connection with a divorce proceeding, domestic relations order or similar legal
requirement, shall constitute a “Transfer” of such shares of Class B Common Stock.
(9)
“Voting Control” means with respect to a share of capital stock or other security, the power (whether exclusive or shared) to vote
or direct the voting of such security including by proxy, voting agreement or otherwise.
G. Reservation of Stock. The Corporation will at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares of Class A
Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of Class B Common Stock, such number of shares of Class A Common
Stock as
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will from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock into shares of Class A Common Stock.
H. No Further Issuances. Except for the issuance of Class B Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Rights outstanding at the Effective
Time or a dividend payable in accordance with ARTICLE IV, Section C(3), the Corporation shall not at any time after the Effective Time issue any
additional shares of Class B Common Stock, unless such issuance is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
shares of Class B Common Stock, voting separately as a single class. After the Final Conversion Date, the Corporation shall not issue any additional
shares of Class B Common Stock.
ARTICLE VI
Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock with respect to such series of Preferred Stock and Article V, Section B ,
any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of
stockholders of the Corporation and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such stockholders.
ARTICLE VII
A.

General Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.

B. Number of Directors. The Board of Directors shall consist of that number of members as shall be fixed solely from time to time by
resolution of a majority of the Whole Board (as defined below).
C. Classified Board Structure; Election of Directors . As of the Effective Time, the Board of Directors shall be divided into three
(3) classes, as nearly equal in number as possible, designated Class I, Class II and Class III, and the Board of Directors may assign its members already
in office to such classes at the time such classification becomes effective. In case of any increase or decrease, from time to time, in the number of
directors, the number of directors in each class shall be apportioned to be as nearly equal as possible. No decrease in the number of directors shall shorten
the term of any incumbent director. Each director shall serve for a term ending on the date of the third annual meeting following the annual meeting at
which such director was elected; provided that each director initially appointed to Class I shall serve for a term initially expiring at the Corporation’s
annual meeting of stockholders held in 2022; each director initially appointed to Class II shall serve for a term initially expiring at the Corporation’s
annual meeting of stockholders held in 2023; and each director initially appointed to Class III shall serve for a term initially expiring at the Corporation’s
annual meeting of stockholders held in 2024; provided, further, that the term of each director shall continue until the election and qualification of his or
her successor and be subject to his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.
D. Vacancies. Subject to applicable law and the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock with respect to such series of Preferred
Stock, and unless the Board of Directors otherwise determines, vacancies resulting from death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from
office or other cause, and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors, may be filled only by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, and not by stockholders. Directors so
chosen shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen and until such director’s successor shall have
been duly elected and qualified.
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E. Removal. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock with respect to such series of Preferred Stock, any director,
or the entire Board of Directors, may be removed from office at any time, but only for cause, and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority
of the voting power of the shares of the Corporation entitled to vote in the election of directors, represented in person or by proxy at a meeting for the
election of directors duly called pursuant to the Bylaws.
F. In addition to the powers and authority herein or by statute expressly conferred upon them, the directors are hereby empowered to
exercise all such powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by the Corporation, subject to the provisions of the DGCL, this
Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws; provided, however, that no Bylaws hereafter adopted shall invalidate any prior act of the directors that
would have been valid if such Bylaws had not been adopted.
ARTICLE VIII
A. Special Meetings of Stockholders. Except as otherwise required by law, special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by
(i) the Board of Directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole Board; (ii) the Chairperson of the Board of Directors;
(iii) the chief executive officer of the Corporation; or (iv) the president of the Corporation (in the absence of a chief executive officer). For purposes of
this Certificate of Incorporation, “Whole Board” shall mean the total number of authorized directorships whether or not there exist any vacancies or
other unfilled seats in previously authorized directorships.
B.

Cumulative Voting. No stockholder of the Corporation shall be entitled to exercise any right of cumulative voting.

C.

Written Ballot. Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless otherwise provided in the Bylaws.
ARTICLE IX

To the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL, as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended or modified from time to time, no director
shall be personally liable to the Corporation or any of its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the
extent such exemption from liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL as the same exists or may hereafter be amended. If the
DGCL is amended hereafter to authorize the further elimination or limitation of the liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation
shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL, as so amended. Any repeal, modification or elimination of this
ARTICLE IX shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repeal, modification or
elimination with respect to acts or omissions occurring prior to such repeal, modification or elimination.
Subject to any provisions of the Bylaws related to indemnification, the Corporation may indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, any person who was or is a party to or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of
the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines
and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with any proceeding mentioned in this ARTICLE IX.
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ARTICLE X
In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred upon it by the laws of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors shall have the
power to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Bylaws. The affirmative vote of at least a majority of the Whole Board shall be required to adopt, amend, alter
or repeal the Bylaws.
ARTICLE XI
Except as provided in ARTICLE IX above, the Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in
this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted
subject to this reservation; provided, however, that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Certificate of Incorporation or any provision of law that
might otherwise permit a lesser vote, but in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or series of the stock of the Corporation required by law or by
this Certificate of Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the voting power of the
outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to
amend or repeal, or adopt any provision of this Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with, ARTICLE IV, Section C , ARTICLE IV, Section D,
ARTICLE V, ARTICLE VI, ARTICLE VII, ARTICLE VIII, ARTICLE IX, ARTICLE X and ARTICLE XI.
ARTICLE XII
If any provision of this Certificate of Incorporation becomes or is declared on any ground by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal,
unenforceable or void, portions of such provision, or such provision in its entirety, to the extent necessary, shall be severed from this Certificate of
Incorporation, and the court will replace such illegal, void or unenforceable provision of this Certificate of Incorporation with a valid and enforceable
provision that most accurately reflects the Corporation’s intent, in order to achieve, to the maximum extent possible, the same economic, business and
other purposes of the illegal, void or unenforceable provision. The balance of this Certificate of Incorporation shall be enforceable in accordance with its
terms.
[REMAINDER OF THE PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be executed on its behalf
this 20th day of September, 2021.

FORGEROCK, INC.
By:

/s/ Fran Rosch
Name: Fran Rosch
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer
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BYLAWS OF FORGEROCK, INC.

ARTICLE I - CORPORATE OFFICES
I.1

REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered office of ForgeRock, Inc. (the “Company”) shall be fixed in the Company’s certificate of incorporation, as the same may be
amended from time to time.
I.2

OTHER OFFICES

The Company may at any time establish other offices.
ARTICLE II - MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
II.1

PLACE OF MEETINGS

Meetings of stockholders shall be held at a place, if any, within or outside the State of Delaware, determined by the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board of Directors”). The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, determine that a meeting of stockholders shall not be held at
any place, but may instead be held solely by means of remote communication as authorized by Section 211(a)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation
Law (the “DGCL”) or any successor legislation. In the absence of any such designation or determination, stockholders’ meetings shall be held at the
Company’s principal executive office.
II.2

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of stockholders shall be held each year. The Board of Directors shall designate the date and time of the annual meeting. At
the annual meeting, directors shall be elected and any other proper business, brought in accordance with Section 2.4 of these bylaws, may be transacted.
The Board of Directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole Board may cancel, postpone or reschedule any previously
scheduled annual meeting at any time, before or after the notice for such meeting has been sent to the stockholders. For the purposes of these bylaws, the
term “Whole Board” shall mean the total number of authorized directorships whether or not there exist any vacancies or other unfilled seats in
previously authorized directorships.
II.3

SPECIAL MEETING

(a)
A special meeting of the stockholders, other than as required by statute, may be called at any time by (i) the Board of Directors
acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole Board, (ii) the chairperson of the Board of Directors, (iii) the chief executive officer
or (iv) the president (in the absence of a chief executive officer), but a special meeting may not be called by any other person or persons and any power
of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders is specifically denied. The Board of Directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a
majority of the
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Whole Board may cancel, postpone or reschedule any previously scheduled special meeting at any time, before or after the notice for such meeting has
been sent to the stockholders.
(b)
The notice of a special meeting shall include the purpose for which the meeting is called. Only such business shall be conducted
at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting by or at the direction of a majority of the Whole Board, the
chairperson of the Board of Directors, the chief executive officer or the president. Nothing contained in this Section 2.3(b) shall be construed as limiting,
fixing or affecting the time when a meeting of stockholders called by action of the Board of Directors may be held.
II.4

ADVANCE NOTICE PROCEDURES
(a)

Annual Meetings of Stockholders.

(i)
Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors or the proposal of other business to be transacted by the
stockholders at an annual meeting of stockholders may be made only (1) pursuant to the Company’s notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto);
(2) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors; (3) as may be provided in the certificate of designations for any class or series of preferred stock; or
(4) by any stockholder of the Company who (A) is a stockholder of record at the time of giving of the notice contemplated by Section 2.4(a)(ii); (B) is a
stockholder of record on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of the annual meeting; (C) is a stockholder of record on
the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting; (D) is a stockholder of record at the time of the annual
meeting; and (E) complies with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(a).
(ii)
For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting of stockholders by a stockholder
pursuant to clause (4) of Section 2.4(a)(i), the stockholder must have given timely notice in writing to the secretary and any such nomination or proposed
business must constitute a proper matter for stockholder action. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be received by the secretary at the principal
executive offices of the Company no earlier than 8:00 a.m., local time, on the 120th day and no later than 5:00 p.m., local time, on the 90th day prior to
the day of the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders. However, if no annual meeting of stockholders was held in the
preceding year, or if the date of the applicable annual meeting has been changed by more than 25 days from the first anniversary of the preceding year’s
annual meeting, then to be timely such notice must be received by the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Company no earlier than
8:00 a.m., local time, on the 120th day prior to the day of the annual meeting and no later than 5:00 p.m., local time, on the 10th day following the day
on which public announcement of the date of the annual meeting was first made by the Company. In no event will the adjournment, rescheduling or
postponement of any annual meeting, or any announcement thereof, commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a
stockholder’s notice as described above. If the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors is increased and there is no public
announcement naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased Board of Directors at least 10 days before the last day that a
stockholder may deliver a notice of nomination pursuant to the foregoing provisions, then a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 2.4(a)(ii) will
also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it is received by the secretary at the
principal executive offices of the Company no later than 5:00 p.m., local time, on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement is
first made. “Public announcement” means disclosure in a press release reported by a national news service or
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in a document publicly filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended and inclusive of rules and regulations thereunder, the “1934 Act”).
(iii)

A stockholder’s notice to the secretary must set forth:
(1)

as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election as a director:

(A)
such person’s name, age, business address, residence address and principal occupation or employment;
the class and number of shares of the Company that are held of record or are beneficially owned by such person and a description of any Derivative
Instruments (defined below) held or beneficially owned thereby or of any other agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any short position
or any borrowing or lending of shares), the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, or to manage the risk or benefit of share price changes for, or to
increase or decrease the voting power of such person; and all information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of
proxies for the contested election of directors, or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to the Section 14 of the 1934 Act;
(B)
such person’s written consent to being named in such stockholder’s proxy statement as a nominee of
such stockholder and to serving as a director of the Company if elected;
(C)
a reasonably detailed description of any direct or indirect compensatory, payment, indemnification or
other financial agreement, arrangement or understanding that such person has, or has had within the past three years, with any person or entity other than
the Company (including the amount of any payment or payments received or receivable thereunder), in each case in connection with candidacy or
service as a director of the Company (a “Third-Party Compensation Arrangement”); and
(D)
a description of any other material relationships between such person and such person’s respective
affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert with them, on the one hand, and such stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any,
on whose behalf the nomination is made, and their respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert with them, on the other hand;
(2)

as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual meeting:
(A)

a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting;

(B)
the text of the proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and,
if applicable, the text of any proposed amendment to these bylaws);
(C)

the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting;
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(D)
any material interest in such business of such stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if
any, on whose behalf the proposal is made, and their respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert with them; and
(E)
a description of all agreements, arrangements and understandings between such stockholder and the
beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made, and their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert with them, and any
other person or persons (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder; and
(3)

as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or

proposal is made:
(A)
the name and address of such stockholder (as they appear on the Company’s books), of such beneficial
owner and of their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert with them;
(B)
for each class or series, the number of shares of stock of the Company that are, directly or indirectly,
held of record or are beneficially owned by such stockholder, such beneficial owner or their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert
with them;
(C)
a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding between such stockholder, such beneficial
owner or their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert with them, and any other person or persons (including, in each case, their
names) in connection with the proposal of such nomination or other business;
(D)
a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including, regardless of the form of
settlement, any derivative, long or short positions, profit interests, forwards, futures, swaps, options, warrants, convertible securities, stock appreciation
or similar rights, hedging transactions and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered into by or on behalf of such stockholder, such beneficial
owner or their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert with them, with respect to the Company’s securities (any of the foregoing, a
“Derivative Instrument”), or any other agreement, arrangement or understanding that has been made the effect or intent of which is to create or
mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share price changes for or increase or decrease the voting power of such stockholder, such beneficial owner or
their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert with them, with respect to the Company’s securities;
(E)
any rights to dividends on the Company’s securities owned beneficially by such stockholder, such
beneficial owner or their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert with them, that are separated or separable from the underlying
security;
(F)
any proportionate interest in the Company’s securities or Derivative Instruments held, directly or
indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such stockholder, such beneficial owner or their respective affiliates or associates or others acting
in concert with them, is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner of such general or limited
partnership;
(G)
any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) that such stockholder, such beneficial owner
or their respective affiliates or associates or others

-4-

acting in concert with them, is entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of the Company’s securities or Derivative Instruments,
including, without limitation, any such interests held by members of the immediate family of such persons sharing the same household;
(H)
any significant equity interests or any Derivative Instruments in any principal competitor of the
Company that are held by such stockholder, such beneficial owner or their respective affiliates or associates or others acting in concert with them;
(I)
any direct or indirect interest of such stockholder, such beneficial owner or their respective affiliates or
associates or others acting in concert with them, in any contract with the Company, any affiliate of the Company or any principal competitor of the
Company (in each case, including any employment agreement, collective bargaining agreement or consulting agreement);
(J)
a representation and undertaking that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Company as of
the date of submission of the stockholder’s notice and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to bring such nomination or other business
before the meeting;
(K)
a representation and undertaking that such stockholder or any such beneficial owner intends, or is part of
a group that intends, to (x) deliver a proxy statement or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the voting power of the Company’s thenoutstanding stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or to elect each such nominee; or (y) otherwise solicit proxies from stockholders in support
of such proposal or nomination;
(L)
any other information relating to such stockholder, such beneficial owner, or their respective affiliates or
associates or others acting in concert with them, or director nominee or proposed business that, in each case, would be required to be disclosed in a proxy
statement or other filing required to be made in connection with the solicitation of proxies in support of such nominee (in a contested election of
directors) or proposal pursuant to Section 14 of the 1934 Act; and
(M)
such other information relating to any proposed item of business as the Company may reasonably
require to determine whether such proposed item of business is a proper matter for stockholder action.
(iv)
In addition to the requirements of this Section 2.4, to be timely, a stockholder’s notice (and any additional information
submitted to the Company in connection therewith) must further be updated and supplemented (1) if necessary, so that the information provided or
required to be provided in such notice is true and correct as of the record date(s) for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the
meeting and as of the date that is 10 business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment, rescheduling or postponement thereof and (2) to provide any
additional information that the Company may reasonably request. Such update and supplement or additional information, if applicable, must be received
by the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Company, in the case of a request for additional information, promptly following a request
therefor, which response must be delivered not later than such reasonable time as is specified in any such request from the Company or, in the case of
any other update or supplement of any information, not later than five business days after the record date(s) for the meeting (in the case of any update
and supplement required to be made as of the record date(s)), and not later than eight business days prior to the date for
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the meeting or any adjournment, rescheduling or postponement thereof (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of 10 business
days prior to the meeting or any adjournment, rescheduling or postponement thereof). The failure to timely provide such update, supplement or
additional information shall result in the nomination or proposal no longer being eligible for consideration at the meeting.
(b)
Special Meetings of Stockholders. Except to the extent required by the DGCL, and subject to Section 2.3(a), special meetings of
stockholders may be called only in accordance with the Company’s certificate of incorporation and these bylaws. Only such business will be conducted
at a special meeting of stockholders as has been brought before the special meeting pursuant to the Company’s notice of meeting. If the election of
directors is included as business to be brought before a special meeting in the Company’s notice of meeting, then nominations of persons for election to
the Board of Directors at such special meeting may be made by any stockholder who (i) is a stockholder of record at the time of giving of the notice
contemplated by this Section 2.4(b); (ii) is a stockholder of record on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of the
special meeting; (iii) is a stockholder of record on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the special meeting; (iv) is a
stockholder of record at the time of the special meeting; and (v) complies with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(b). For nominations to be
properly brought by a stockholder before a special meeting pursuant to this Section 2.4(b), the stockholder’s notice must be received by the secretary at
the principal executive offices of the Company no earlier than 8:00 a.m., local time, on the 120th day prior to the day of the special meeting and no later
than 5:00 p.m., local time, on the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of the special meeting was first made. In no
event will any adjournment, rescheduling or postponement of a special meeting or the announcement thereof commence a new time period (or extend any
time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice. A stockholder’s notice to the Secretary must comply with the applicable notice requirements of
Section 2.4(a)(iii).
(c)

Other Requirements.

(i)
To be eligible to be a nominee by any stockholder for election as a director of the Company, the proposed nominee must
provide to the secretary, in accordance with the applicable time periods prescribed for delivery of notice under Section 2.4(a)(ii) or Section 2.4(b):
(1)
a signed and completed written questionnaire (in the form provided by the secretary at the written request of the
nominating stockholder, which form will be provided by the secretary within 10 days of receiving such request) containing information regarding such
nominee’s background and qualifications and such other information as may reasonably be required by the Company to determine the eligibility of such
nominee to serve as a director of the Company or to serve as an independent director of the Company;
(2)
a written representation and undertaking that, unless previously disclosed to the Company, such nominee is not,
and will not become, a party to any voting agreement, arrangement, commitment, assurance or understanding with any person or entity as to how such
nominee, if elected as a director, will vote on any issue;
(3)
a written representation and undertaking that, unless previously disclosed to the Company, such nominee is not,
and will not become, a party to any Third-Party Compensation Arrangement;
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(4)
a written representation and undertaking that, if elected as a director, such nominee would be in compliance, and
will continue to comply, with the Company’s corporate governance guidelines as disclosed on the Company’s website, as amended from time to time;
and
(5)

a written representation and undertaking that such nominee, if elected, intends to serve a full term on the Board

of Directors.
(ii)
At the request of the Board of Directors, any person nominated by the Board of Directors for election as a director must
furnish to the secretary the information that is required to be set forth in a stockholder’s notice of nomination that pertains to such nominee.
(iii)
No person will be eligible to be nominated by a stockholder for election as a director of the Company unless nominated
in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.4. No business proposed by a stockholder will be conducted at a stockholder meeting except
in accordance with this Section 2.4.
(iv)
The chairperson of the applicable meeting of stockholders will, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting
that a nomination was not made in accordance with the procedures prescribed by these bylaws or that business was not properly brought before the
meeting. If the chairperson of the meeting should so determine, then the chairperson of the meeting will so declare to the meeting and the defective
nomination will be disregarded or such business will not be transacted, as the case may be.
(v)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.4, unless otherwise required by law, if the stockholder (or a
qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear in person at the meeting to present a nomination or other proposed business, such nomination
will be disregarded or such proposed business will not be transacted, as the case may be, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such nomination or
business may have been received by the Company and counted for purposes of determining a quorum. For purposes of this Section 2.4, to be considered
a qualified representative of the stockholder, a person must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such stockholder or must be authorized by
a writing executed by such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder as proxy at the meeting,
and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the meeting.
(vi)
Without limiting this Section 2.4, a stockholder must also comply with all applicable requirements of the 1934 Act with
respect to the matters set forth in this Section 2.4, it being understood that (1) any references in these bylaws to the 1934 Act are not intended to, and will
not, limit any requirements applicable to nominations or proposals as to any other business to be considered pursuant to this Section 2.4; and
(2) compliance with clause (4) of Section 2.4(a)(i) and with Section 2.4(b) are the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations or submit
other business (other than as provided in Section 2.4(c)(vii)).
(vii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.4, the notice requirements set forth in these bylaws with
respect to the proposal of any business pursuant to this Section 2.4 will be deemed to be satisfied by a stockholder if (1) such stockholder has submitted a
proposal to the Company in compliance with Rule 14a8 under the 1934 Act; and (2) such stockholder’s proposal has been included in a proxy statement
that has been prepared by the Company to solicit proxies
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for the meeting of stockholders. Subject to Rule 14a8 and other applicable rules and regulations under the 1934 Act, nothing in these bylaws will be
construed to permit any stockholder, or give any stockholder the right, to include or have disseminated or described in the Company’s proxy statement
any nomination of a director or any other business proposal.
II.5

NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a notice of the meeting shall be given which shall state the
place, if any, date and hour of the meeting, the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be
present in person and vote at such meeting, the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, if such date is different from
the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the
meeting is called. Except as otherwise provided in the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the notice of any meeting of stockholders
shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of the record
date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting.
II.6

QUORUM

The holders of a majority of the voting power of the capital stock of the Company issued and outstanding and entitled to vote, present in person
or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings of the stockholders. Where a separate vote by a class or
series or classes or series is required, a majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of such class or series or classes or series, present in person
or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with respect to that vote on that matter, except as otherwise provided by law, the
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
If, however, such quorum is not present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, then either (a) the chairperson of the meeting, or
(b) the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time,
without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present or represented. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum is
present or represented, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted at the original meeting.
II.7

ADJOURNED MEETING; NOTICE

When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, unless these bylaws otherwise require, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting
if the time, place, if any, thereof, and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be
present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. At the adjourned meeting, the
Company may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment is for more than 30 days, a notice of
the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. If after the adjournment a new record date for
stockholders entitled to vote is fixed for the adjourned meeting, the Board of Directors shall fix a new record date for notice of such adjourned meeting
in accordance with Section 213(a) of the DGCL and Section 2.11 of these bylaws, and shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to each stockholder of
record entitled to vote at such adjourned meeting as of the record date fixed for notice of such adjourned meeting.
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II.8

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of business and the procedure at the meeting, including such regulation
of the manner of voting and the conduct of business and discussion as seem to the chairperson in order. The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders
shall be designated by the Board of Directors; in the absence of such designation, the chairperson of the Board of Directors, if any, or the chief executive
officer (in the absence of the chairperson of the Board of Directors) or the president (in the absence of the chairperson of the Board of Directors and the
chief executive officer), or in their absence any other executive officer of the Company, shall serve as chairperson of the stockholder meeting. The
chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall have the power to adjourn the meeting to another place, if any, date or time, whether or not a quorum is
present.
II.9

VOTING

The stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.11 of these
bylaws, subject to Section 217 (relating to voting rights of fiduciaries, pledgors and joint owners of stock) and Section 218 (relating to voting trusts and
other voting agreements) of the DGCL.
Except as may be otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, each stockholder shall be entitled to one vote for each
share of capital stock held by such stockholder.
Except as otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws or the rules of the stock exchange on which the Company’s
securities are listed, in all matters other than the election of directors, the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of the shares present in
person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter shall be the act of the stockholders. Except as otherwise required
by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the voting power of the shares present in person or
represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. Where a separate vote by a class or series or classes or series is
required, in all matters other than the election of directors, the affirmative vote of the majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of such class
or series or classes or series present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter shall be the act of such
class or series or classes or series, except as otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws or the rules of the stock exchange
on which the securities of the Company are listed.
II.10

STOCKHOLDER ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING

Subject to the rights of holders of preferred stock of the Company, any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the
Company must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Company and may not be effected by any consent in writing
by such stockholders.
II.11

RECORD DATES

In order that the Company may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, the
Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the
Board of Directors and which record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days before the date of such
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meeting. If the Board of Directors so fixes a date, such date shall also be the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting
unless the Board of Directors determines, at the time it fixes such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for
making such determination.
If no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a meeting of
stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business
on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held.
A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the
meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned
meeting, and in such case shall also fix as the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that
fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to vote in accordance with the provisions of Section 213 of the DGCL and this Section 2.11 at the
adjourned meeting.
In order that the Company may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any
rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful
action, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is
adopted, and which record date shall be not more than 60 days prior to such action. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining
stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto.
II.12

PROXIES

Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders, or such stockholder’s authorized officer, director, employee or agent, may
authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder by proxy authorized by a document or by a transmission permitted by law filed in
accordance with the procedure established for the meeting, but no such proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the
proxy provides for a longer period. The authorization of a person to act as a proxy may be documented, signed and delivered in accordance with Section
116 of the DGCL; provided that such authorization shall set forth, or be delivered with information enabling the Company to determine, the identity of
the stockholder granting such authorization. The revocability of a proxy that states on its face that it is irrevocable shall be governed by the provisions of
Section 212 of the DGCL.
II.13

LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS ENTITLED TO VOTE

The Company shall prepare, at least 10 days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the
meeting; provided, however, if the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote is less than 10 days before the meeting date, the list shall
reflect the stockholders entitled to vote as of the tenth day before the meeting date, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each
stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. The Company shall not be required to include electronic mail addresses
or other electronic contact information on such list. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting
for a period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting: (a) on a reasonably
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accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting, or (b) during
ordinary business hours, at the Company’s principal place of business. In the event that the Company determines to make the list available on an
electronic network, the Company may take reasonable steps to ensure that such information is available only to stockholders of the Company. If the
meeting is to be held at a place, then a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting shall be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting
during the whole time thereof, and may be examined by any stockholder who is present. If the meeting is to be held solely by means of remote
communication, then such list shall also be open to the examination of any stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on a reasonably accessible
electronic network, and the information required to access such list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting.
II.14

INSPECTORS OF ELECTION

Before any meeting of stockholders, the Company shall appoint an inspector or inspectors of election to act at the meeting or its adjournment.
The Company may designate one or more persons as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act.
Such inspectors shall:
(a)

ascertain the number of shares outstanding and the voting power of each;

(b)

determine the shares represented at the meeting and the validity of proxies and ballots;

(c)

count all votes and ballots;

(d)

determine and retain for a reasonable period a record of the disposition of any challenges made to any determination by the

(e)

certify their determination of the number of shares represented at the meeting, and their count of all votes and ballots.

inspectors; and

The inspectors of election shall perform their duties impartially, in good faith, to the best of their ability and as expeditiously as is practical. If
there are multiple inspectors of election, the decision, act or certificate of a majority is effective in all respects as the decision, act or certificate of all.
Any report or certificate made by the inspectors of election is prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
ARTICLE III III.1

DIRECTORS

POWERS

The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors, except as may be otherwise
provided in the DGCL or the certificate of incorporation.
III.2

NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors shall consist of one or more members, each of whom shall be a natural person. Unless the certificate of incorporation
fixes the number of directors, the number of directors shall
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be determined from time to time by resolution of a majority of the Whole Board. No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect
of removing any director before that director’s term of office expires.
III.3

ELECTION, QUALIFICATION AND TERM OF OFFICE OF DIRECTORS

Except as provided in Section 3.4 of these bylaws, each director, including a director elected to fill a vacancy or newly created directorship, shall
hold office until the expiration of the term for which elected and until such director’s successor is elected and qualified or until such director’s earlier
death, resignation or removal. Directors need not be stockholders unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws. The certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws may prescribe other qualifications for directors.
If so provided in the certificate of incorporation, the directors of the Company shall be divided into three classes.
III.4

RESIGNATION AND VACANCIES

Any director may resign at any time upon notice given in writing or by electronic transmission to the Company. A resignation is effective when
the resignation is delivered unless the resignation specifies a later effective date or an effective date determined upon the happening of an event or
events. A resignation which is conditioned upon the director failing to receive a specified vote for reelection as a director may provide that it is
irrevocable. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, when one or more directors resign from the Board of
Directors, effective at a future date, a majority of the directors then in office, including those who have so resigned, shall have power to fill such vacancy
or vacancies, the vote thereon to take effect when such resignation or resignations shall become effective.
Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws or permitted in the specific case by resolution of the Board of
Directors, and subject to the rights of holders of Preferred Stock, vacancies and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized
number of directors elected by all of the stockholders having the right to vote as a single class may be filled by a majority of the directors then in office,
although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and not by stockholders. If the directors are divided into classes, a person so chosen to fill a
vacancy or newly created directorship shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen and until his or
her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.
III.5

PLACE OF MEETINGS; MEETINGS BY TELEPHONE

The Board of Directors may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or outside the State of Delaware.
Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, members of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting
of the Board of Directors by means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the
meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.
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III.6

REGULAR MEETINGS

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined
by the Board of Directors.
III.7

SPECIAL MEETINGS; NOTICE

Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by the chairperson of the Board of Directors,
the chief executive officer, the president, the secretary or a majority of the Whole Board; provided that the person(s) authorized to call special meetings
of the Board of Directors may authorize another person or persons to send notice of such meeting.
Notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be:
(a)

delivered personally by hand, by courier or by telephone;

(b)

sent by United States first-class mail, postage prepaid;

(c)

sent by facsimile;

(d)

sent by electronic mail; or

(e)

otherwise given by electronic transmission (as defined in Section 232 of the DGCL),

directed to each director at that director’s address, telephone number, facsimile number, electronic mail address or other contact for notice by electronic
transmission, as the case may be, as shown on the Company’s records.
If the notice is (i) delivered personally by hand, by courier or by telephone, (ii) sent by facsimile, (iii) sent by electronic mail or (iv) otherwise
given by electronic transmission, it shall be delivered, sent or otherwise directed to each director, as applicable, at least 24 hours before the time of the
holding of the meeting. If the notice is sent by United States mail, it shall be deposited in the United States mail at least four days before the time of the
holding of the meeting. Any oral notice of the time and place of the meeting may be communicated to the director in lieu of written notice if such notice
is communicated at least 24 hours before the time of the holding of the meeting. The notice need not specify the place of the meeting (if the meeting is to
be held at the Company’s principal executive office) nor the purpose of the meeting, unless required by statute.
III.8

QUORUM; VOTING

At all meetings of the Board of Directors, a majority of the Whole Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. If a quorum is
not present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, then the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other
than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present.
The affirmative vote of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors,
except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
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If the certificate of incorporation provides that one or more directors shall have more or less than one vote per director on any matter, except as
may otherwise be expressly provided herein or therein and denoted with the phrase “notwithstanding the final paragraph of Section 3.8 of the bylaws” or
language to similar effect, every reference in these bylaws to a majority or other proportion of the directors shall refer to a majority or other proportion of
the votes of the directors.
III.9

BOARD ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the
Board of Directors, or of any committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may
be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission. Any person (whether or not then a director) may provide, whether through instruction to an
agent or otherwise, that a consent to action will be effective at a future time (including a time determined upon the happening of an event), no later than
60 days after such instruction is given or such provision is made and such consent shall be deemed to have been given for purposes of this Section 3.9 at
such effective time so long as such person is then a director and did not revoke the consent prior to such time. Any such consent shall be revocable prior
to its becoming effective. After an action is taken, the consent or consents relating thereto shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board
of Directors, or the committee thereof, in the same paper or electronic form as the minutes are maintained.
III.10

FEES AND COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to fix the
compensation of directors.
III.11

REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed from office by stockholders of the Company in the manner specified in the
certificate of incorporation and applicable law. No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to
the expiration of such director’s term of office.
ARTICLE IV IV.1

COMMITTEES

COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the Whole Board, designate one or more committees, each committee to
consist of one or more of the directors of the Company. The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any
committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a
committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute
a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified
member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors or in these bylaws, shall have and may exercise all the
powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Company, and may authorize the seal of the
Company to be affixed to all papers that may require it; but no such committee shall have the
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power or authority to (a) approve or adopt, or recommend to the stockholders, any action or matter (other than the election or removal of directors)
expressly required by the DGCL to be submitted to stockholders for approval, or (b) adopt, amend or repeal any bylaw of the Company.
IV.2

COMMITTEE MINUTES

Each committee and subcommittee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings.
IV.3

MEETINGS AND ACTION OF COMMITTEES

Meetings and actions of committees and subcommittees shall be governed by, and held and taken in accordance with, the provisions of:
(a)

Section 3.5 (place of meetings and meetings by telephone);

(b)

Section 3.6 (regular meetings);

(c)

Section 3.7 (special meetings and notice);

(d)

Section 3.8 (quorum; voting);

(e)

Section 3.9 (action without a meeting); and

(f)

Section 7.4 (waiver of notice)

with such changes in the context of those bylaws as are necessary to substitute the committee or subcommittee and its members for the Board of
Directors and its members. However, (i) the time and place of regular meetings of committees or subcommittees may be determined either by resolution
of the Board of Directors or by resolution of the committee or subcommittee; (ii) special meetings of committees or subcommittees may also be called
by resolution of the Board of Directors or the committee or the subcommittee; and (iii) notice of special meetings of committees and subcommittees shall
also be given to all alternate members who shall have the right to attend all meetings of the committee or subcommittee. The Board of Directors may
adopt rules for the government of any committee not inconsistent with the provisions of these bylaws.
Any provision in the certificate of incorporation providing that one or more directors shall have more or less than one vote per director on any
matter shall apply to voting in any committee or subcommittee, unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
IV.4

SUBCOMMITTEES

Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws or the resolutions of the Board of Directors designating the
committee, a committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more members of the committee, and delegate
to a subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee.
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ARTICLE V - OFFICERS
V.1

OFFICERS

The officers of the Company shall be a president and a secretary. The Company may also have, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, a
chairperson of the Board of Directors, a vice chairperson of the Board of Directors, a chief executive officer, a chief financial officer or treasurer, one or
more vice presidents, one or more assistant vice presidents, one or more assistant treasurers, one or more assistant secretaries and any such other officers
as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws. Any number of offices may be held by the same person.
V.2

APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS

The Board of Directors shall appoint the officers of the Company, except such officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of
Section 5.3 of these bylaws, subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment.
V.3

SUBORDINATE OFFICERS

The Board of Directors may appoint, or empower any officer to appoint, such other officers as the business of the Company may require. Each
of such officers shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as are provided in these bylaws or as determined from
time to time by the Board of Directors, any duly authorized committee or subcommittee thereof or by any officer who has been conferred such power of
determination.
V.4

REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS

Subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment, any officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by the
Board of Directors or, for the avoidance of doubt, any duly authorized committee or subcommittee thereof or by any officer who has been conferred
such power of removal.
Any officer may resign at any time by giving notice, in writing or by electronic transmission, to the Company. Any resignation shall take effect
at the date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time specified in that notice. Unless otherwise specified in the notice of resignation, the acceptance
of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Any resignation is without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the Company under any
contract to which the officer is a party.
V.5

VACANCIES IN OFFICES

Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Company shall be filled by the Board of Directors or as provided in Section 5.3.
V.6

REPRESENTATION OF SECURITIES OF OTHER ENTITIES

The chairperson of the Board of Directors, the chief executive officer, the president, any vice president, the treasurer, the secretary or assistant
secretary of this Company or any other person authorized by the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer, the president or a vice president, is
authorized to vote, represent and exercise on behalf of this Company all rights incident to any and all
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shares or other securities of any other entity or entities, and all rights incident to any management authority conferred on the Company in accordance
with the governing documents of any entity or entities, standing in the name of this Company, including the right to act by written consent. The authority
granted herein may be exercised either by such person directly or by any other person authorized to do so by proxy or power of attorney duly executed
by such person having the authority.
V.7

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS

Each officer of the Company shall have such authority and perform such duties in the management of the business of the Company as may be
designated from time to time by the Board of Directors, any duly authorized committee or subcommittee thereof or by any officer who has been
conferred such power of designation, and, to the extent not so provided, as generally pertain to such office, subject to the control of the Board of
Directors.
ARTICLE VI VI.1

STOCK

STOCK CERTIFICATES; PARTLY PAID SHARES

The shares of the Company shall be represented by certificates, provided that the Board of Directors may provide by resolution or resolutions
that some or all of any or all classes or series of its stock shall be uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a
certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the Company. Unless otherwise provided by resolution of the Board of Directors, every holder of stock
represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of, the Company by any two officers of the Company
representing the number of shares registered in certificate form. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer,
transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate has ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or
registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Company with the same effect as if such person were such officer, transfer agent or
registrar at the date of issue. The Company shall not have power to issue a certificate in bearer form.
The Company may issue the whole or any part of its shares as partly paid and subject to call for the remainder of the consideration to be paid
therefor. Upon the face or back of each stock certificate issued to represent any such partly-paid shares, or upon the books and records of the Company in
the case of uncertificated partly-paid shares, the total amount of the consideration to be paid therefor and the amount paid thereon shall be stated. Upon
the declaration of any dividend on fully-paid shares, the Company shall declare a dividend upon partly-paid shares of the same class, but only upon the
basis of the percentage of the consideration actually paid thereon.
VI.2

SPECIAL DESIGNATION ON CERTIFICATES

If the Company is authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class, then the powers, the designations, the
preferences and the relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of the certificate that the Company shall issue to
represent such class or series of stock; provided, however, that, except as otherwise provided in Section 202 of the DGCL, in lieu of the foregoing
requirements, there may be set forth on the face or back of the certificate that the Company shall issue to represent such class or series of
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stock, a statement that the Company will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences
and/or rights. Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated stock, the registered owner thereof shall be given a notice, in
writing or by electronic transmission, containing the information required to be set forth or stated on certificates pursuant to this Section 6.2 or
Sections 156, 202(a), 218(a) or 364 of the DGCL or with respect to this Section 6.2 a statement that the Company will furnish without charge to each
stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or
series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the
rights and obligations of the holders of uncertificated stock and the rights and obligations of the holders of certificates representing stock of the same
class and series shall be identical.
VI.3

LOST CERTIFICATES

Except as provided in this Section 6.3, no new certificates for shares shall be issued to replace a previously issued certificate unless the latter is
surrendered to the Company and cancelled at the same time. The Company may issue a new certificate of stock or uncertificated shares in the place of
any certificate theretofore issued by it, alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, and the Company may require the owner of the lost, stolen or
destroyed certificate, or such owner’s legal representative, to give the Company a bond sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made
against it on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate or uncertificated shares.
VI.4

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors, subject to any restrictions contained in the certificate of incorporation or applicable law, may declare and pay dividends
upon the shares of the Company’s capital stock. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the Company’s capital stock, subject to the
provisions of the certificate of incorporation. The Board of Directors may set apart out of any of the funds of the Company available for dividends a
reserve or reserves for any proper purpose and may abolish any such reserve.
VI.5

TRANSFER OF STOCK

Transfers of record of shares of stock of the Company shall be made only upon its books by the holders thereof, in person or by an attorney duly
authorized, and, if such stock is certificated, upon the surrender of a certificate or certificates for a like number of shares, properly endorsed or
accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignation or authority to transfer.
VI.6

STOCK TRANSFER AGREEMENTS

The Company shall have power to enter into and perform any agreement with any number of stockholders of any one or more classes of stock of
the Company to restrict the transfer of shares of stock of the Company of any one or more classes owned by such stockholders in any manner not
prohibited by the DGCL.
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VI.7

REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS

The Company:
(a)
shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive dividends
and notices and to vote as such owner; and
(b)
shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of another person,
whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.
ARTICLE VII VII.1

MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE AND WAIVER

NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Notice of any meeting of stockholders shall be given in the manner set forth in the DGCL.
VII.2

NOTICE TO STOCKHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

Except as otherwise prohibited under the DGCL, without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to
stockholders, any notice to stockholders given by the Company under the provisions of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws shall
be effective if given by a single written notice to stockholders who share an address if consented to by the stockholders at that address to whom such
notice is given. Any such consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written notice to the Company. Any stockholder who fails to object in writing
to the Company, within 60 days of having been given written notice by the Company of its intention to send the single notice, shall be deemed to have
consented to receiving such single written notice. This Section 7.2 shall not apply to Sections 164, 296, 311, 312 or 324 of the DGCL.
VII.3

NOTICE TO PERSON WITH WHOM COMMUNICATION IS UNLAWFUL

Whenever notice is required to be given, under the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, to any person with whom
communication is unlawful, the giving of such notice to such person shall not be required and there shall be no duty to apply to any governmental
authority or agency for a license or permit to give such notice to such person. Any action or meeting which shall be taken or held without notice to any
such person with whom communication is unlawful shall have the same force and effect as if such notice had been duly given. In the event that the action
taken by the Company is such as to require the filing of a certificate under the DGCL, the certificate shall state, if such is the fact and if notice is
required, that notice was given to all persons entitled to receive notice except such persons with whom communication is unlawful.
VII.4

WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever notice is required to be given under any provision of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, a written waiver,
signed by the person entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitled to notice, whether before or after the time of the
event for which notice is to be given, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such
meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the
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express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of
notice or any waiver by electronic transmission unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
ARTICLE VIII -

INDEMNIFICATION

VIII.1 INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN THIRD PARTY PROCEEDINGS
Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the Company shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as now or
hereinafter in effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “Proceeding”) (other than an action by or in the right of the Company) by reason
of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Company, or is or was a director or officer of the Company serving at the request of the
Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including
attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such Proceeding if
such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company, and, with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful. The termination of any Proceeding
by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person
did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company, and, with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that such person’s conduct was unlawful.
VIII.2 INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN ACTIONS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY
Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the Company shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as now or
hereinafter in effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed Proceeding by or in
the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Company, or is or
was a director or officer of the Company serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in
connection with the defense or settlement of such Proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in
or not opposed to the best interests of the Company; except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which
such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Company unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such
action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such
person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
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VIII.3 SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE
To the extent that a present or former director or officer (for purposes of this Section 8.3 only, as such term is defined in Section 145(c)(1) of the
DGCL) of the Company has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding described in Section 8.1 or
Section 8.2, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and
reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith. The Company may indemnify any other person who is not a present or former director or
officer of the Company against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person to the extent he or she has been
successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any suit or proceeding described in Section 8.1 or Section 8.2, or in defense of any claim, issue or
matter therein.
VIII.4 INDEMNIFICATION OF OTHERS
Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the Company shall have power to indemnify its employees and agents, or any other persons,
to the extent not prohibited by the DGCL or other applicable law. The Board of Directors shall have the power to delegate to any person or persons
identified in subsections (1) through (4) of Section 145(d) of the DGCL the determination of whether employees or agents shall be indemnified.
VIII.5 ADVANCED PAYMENT OF EXPENSES
Expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by an officer or director of the Company in defending any Proceeding
shall be paid by the Company in advance of the final disposition of such Proceeding upon receipt of a written request therefor (together with
documentation reasonably evidencing such expenses) and an undertaking by or on behalf of the person to repay such amounts if it shall ultimately be
determined that the person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VIII or the DGCL. Such expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and
reasonably incurred by former directors and officers or other employees and agents of the Company or by persons serving at the request of the Company
as directors, officers, employees or agents of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise may be so paid upon such terms and
conditions, if any, as the Company deems appropriate. The right to advancement of expenses shall not apply to any Proceeding (or any part of any
Proceeding) for which indemnity is excluded pursuant to these bylaws, but shall apply to any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) referenced in
Section 8.6(b) or 8.6(c) prior to a determination that the person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise determined pursuant to Section 8.8, no advance shall be made by the Company to an officer of
the Company (except by reason of the fact that such officer is or was a director of the Company, in which event this paragraph shall not apply) in any
Proceeding if a determination is reasonably and promptly made (a) by a vote of the directors who are not parties to such Proceeding, even though less
than a quorum, or (b) by a committee of such directors designated by the vote of the majority of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (c) if
there are no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, that facts known to the decision-making party
at the time such determination is made demonstrate clearly and convincingly that such person acted in bad faith or in a manner that such person did not
believe to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company.
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VIII.6 LIMITATION ON INDEMNIFICATION
Subject to the requirements in Section 8.3 and the DGCL, the Company shall not be obligated to indemnify any person pursuant to this
Article VIII in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding):
(a)
for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of such person under any statute, insurance policy, indemnity
provision, vote or otherwise, except with respect to any excess beyond the amount paid, subject to any agreement with respect to subrogation entered into
by the Company;
(b)
for an accounting or disgorgement of profits pursuant to Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act, or similar provisions of federal, state or
local statutory law or common law, if such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to any settlement arrangements);
(c)
for any reimbursement of the Company by such person of any bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation or of
any profits realized by such person from the sale of securities of the Company, as required in each case under the 1934 Act (including any such
reimbursements that arise from an accounting restatement of the Company pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “SarbanesOxley Act”), or the payment to the Company of profits arising from the purchase and sale by such person of securities in violation of Section 306 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act), if such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to any settlement arrangements);
(d)
initiated by such person, including any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by such person against the Company
or its directors, officers, employees, agents or other indemnitees, unless (i) the Board of Directors authorized the Proceeding (or the relevant part of the
Proceeding) prior to its initiation, (ii) the Company provides the indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the Company
under applicable law, (iii) otherwise required to be made under Section 8.7 or (iv) otherwise required by applicable law; or
(e)

if prohibited by applicable law.

VIII.7 DETERMINATION; CLAIM
If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article VIII is not paid in full within 90 days after receipt by the Company
of the written request therefor, the claimant shall be entitled to an adjudication by a court of competent jurisdiction of his or her entitlement to such
indemnification or advancement of expenses. The Company shall indemnify such person against any and all expenses that are actually and reasonably
incurred by such person in connection with any action for indemnification or advancement of expenses from the Company under this Article VIII, to the
extent such person is successful in such action, and to the extent not prohibited by law. In any such suit, the Company shall, to the fullest extent not
prohibited by law, have the burden of proving that the claimant is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses.
VIII.8 NON-EXCLUSIVITY OF RIGHTS
The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VIII shall not be deemed exclusive of any
other rights to which those seeking indemnification or
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advancement of expenses may be entitled under the certificate of incorporation or any statute, bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested
directors or otherwise, both as to action in such person’s official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office. The Company is
specifically authorized to enter into individual contracts with any or all of its directors, officers, employees or agents respecting indemnification and
advancement of expenses, to the fullest extent not prohibited by the DGCL or other applicable law.
VIII.9 INSURANCE
The Company may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the
Company, or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture,
trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such
person’s status as such, whether or not the Company would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of the
DGCL.
VIII.10 SURVIVAL
The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred by this Article VIII shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a
director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.
VIII.11 EFFECT OF REPEAL OR MODIFICATION
A right to indemnification or to advancement of expenses arising under a provision of the certificate of incorporation or a bylaw shall not be
eliminated or impaired by an amendment to or repeal or elimination of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws after the occurrence of the act or
omission that is the subject of the civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding for which indemnification or advancement of
expenses is sought, unless the provision in effect at the time of such act or omission explicitly authorizes such elimination or impairment after such action
or omission has occurred.
VIII.12 CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Article VIII, references to the “ Company” shall include, in addition to the resulting company, any constituent company
(including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power
and authority to indemnify its directors, officers, employees or agents, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such
constituent company, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VIII with respect to the resulting
or surviving company as such person would have with respect to such constituent company if its separate existence had continued. For purposes of this
Article VIII, references to “other enterprises” shall include employee benefit plans; references to “ fines” shall include any excise taxes assessed on a
person with respect to an employee benefit plan; and references to “serving at the request of the Company” shall include any service as a director,
officer, employee or agent of the Company which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, employee or agent with respect to an
employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in
the interest of the participants and

- 23 -

beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “ not opposed to the best interests of the Company” as referred to
in this Article VIII.
ARTICLE IX IX.1

GENERAL MATTERS

EXECUTION OF CORPORATE CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS

Except as otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the Board of Directors may authorize any officer or
officers, or agent or agents, or employee or employees, to enter into any contract or execute any document or instrument in the name of and on behalf of
the Company; such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. Unless so authorized or ratified by the Board of Directors or within the
agency power of an officer, agent or employee, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Company by any contract or
engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any purpose or for any amount.
IX.2

FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Company shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors and may be changed by the Board of Directors.
IX.3

SEAL

The Company may adopt a corporate seal, which shall be adopted and which may be altered by the Board of Directors. The Company may use
the corporate seal by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or in any other manner reproduced.
IX.4

CONSTRUCTION; DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of construction, and definitions in the DGCL shall govern the construction of
these bylaws. Without limiting the generality of this provision, the singular number includes the plural, the plural number includes the singular, and the
term “person” includes a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, and a natural person. Any reference
in these bylaws to a section of the DGCL shall be deemed to refer to such section as amended from time to time and any successor provisions thereto.
IX.5

FORUM SELECTION

Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court
of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or the federal district court for the District of Delaware) shall, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (b) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, stockholder, officer or other employee of the Company to the Company or the
Company’s stockholders, (c) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws (as either may
be amended from time to time) or (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, except for, as to each of (a) through (d)
above, any claim as to which such court determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of such court (and the indispensable
party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of such court within
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10 days following such determination), which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than such court or for which such court
does not have subject matter jurisdiction.
Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall
be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
against any person in connection with any offering of the Company’s securities, including, without limitation and for the avoidance of doubt, any
auditor, underwriter, expert, control person, or other defendant.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any security of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and
consented to the provisions of this Section 9.5. This provision shall be enforceable by any party to a complaint covered by the provisions of this Section
9.5. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing contained in this Section 9.5 shall apply to any action brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the
1934 Act or any successor thereto.
ARTICLE X - AMENDMENTS
These bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the stockholders entitled to vote; provided, however, that the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least 66 2/3% of the total voting power of outstanding voting securities, voting together as a single class, shall be required for the
stockholders of the Company to alter, amend or repeal, or adopt any bylaw inconsistent with, the following provisions of these bylaws: Article II,
Section 3.1, Section 3.2, Section 3.4 and Section 3.11 of Article III, Article VIII, Section 9.5 of Article IX or this Article X (including, without
limitation, any such Article or Section as renumbered as a result of any amendment, alteration, change, repeal, or adoption of any other bylaw). The
Board of Directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole Board shall also have the power to adopt, amend or repeal bylaws;
provided, however, that a bylaw amendment adopted by stockholders which specifies the votes that shall be necessary for the election of directors shall
not be further amended or repealed by the Board of Directors.
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Exhibit 10.9

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE (“Amendment”) is entered into as of November 8, 2021 (the “First Amendment Effective
Date”), by and between CA-MISSION STREET LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a Delaware limited partnership (“ Landlord”), and
FORGEROCK, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”), with reference to the following facts:
A.
Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain Office Lease Agreement dated as of November 19, 2014 (the “ Lease”), pursuant
to which Landlord leases to Tenant space presently deemed to contain approximately 15,744 rentable square feet (the “Original Premises”)
described as Suite No. 2900 in the building located at 201 Mission Street, San Francisco, California (the “Building”).
B.
Landlord has remeasured the Building and the Premises in accordance with the guidelines for such measurements specified in
the American National Institute Publication ANSI/BOMA Z65.1-2017, as adopted by the Building Owners and Managers Association and as
interpreted and applied by Landlord’s measurement firm to the Building (such remeasurement being referred to herein as the “New
Measurement”). As a consequence of the New Measurement, during the First Amendment Extended Term (defined below), the Building shall
be deemed to contain approximately 524,805 rentable square feet, and the Premises shall be deemed to contain approximately 16,943 rentable
square feet.
C.
The Lease by its terms is scheduled to expire on April 30, 2022 (“Current Termination Date”), and the parties desire to extend
the Term, all on the following terms and conditions.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, which by this reference are incorporated herein, the mutual covenants
and conditions contained herein and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and
Tenant agree as follows:
1.
Premises. Effective as of May 1, 2022 (the “First Amendment Extension Date”), the Rentable Area of the Premises shall be
increased from “15,744 square feet” to “16,943 square feet” (the “Remeasured Premises”). Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that such
increase is a result of a remeasurement of the Original Premises and not the result of a relocation, expansion or addition of space. As of the
First Amendment Extension Date, the “Premises”, as defined in the Lease, shall mean the Remeasured Premises. The Rent and all other
charges under the Lease shall remain payable as provided therein with respect to the Original Premises up to and including the Current
Termination Date.
2.
Extension. The Term is hereby extended for a period of eighty-eight (88) months and shall expire on August 31, 2029 (“ First
Amendment Extended Termination Date”), unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms of the Lease. That portion of the Term
commencing on First Amendment Extension Date and ending on the First Amendment Extended Termination Date shall be referred to herein
as the “First Amendment Extended Term”. Accordingly, references in the Lease to the “Term” shall be deemed to include the First
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Amendment Extended Term, and references in the Lease to the “Termination Date” shall mean the First Amendment Extended Termination
Date.
3.

Base Rent.

(a)
Generally. The schedule of Base Rent payable with respect to the Premises during the First Amendment Extended Term is the
following:
Annual Rate Per
Rentable Square Foot
$80.00
$82.40
$84.87
$87.42
$90.04
$92.74
$95.52
$98.39

Period
May 1, 2022 - April 30, 2023
May 1, 2023 - April 30, 2024
May 1, 2024 - April 30, 2025
May 1, 2025 - April 30, 2026
May 1, 2026 - April 30, 2027
May 1, 2027 - April 30, 2028
May 1, 2028 - April 30, 2029
May 1, 2029 - August 31, 2029
*Subject to Abatement as provided in Section 3(b) below

Monthly
Base Rent
$112,953.33 *
$116,341.93
$119,832.19
$123,427.16
$127,129.97
$130,943.87
$134,872.19
$138,918.35

All such Base Rent shall be payable by Tenant in accordance with the terms of the Lease.
(b)
Base Rent Abatement. Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above to the contrary, Tenant shall be entitled to an abatement of Base Rent for a
period of six (6) months beginning either (i) on May 1, 2022, and ending on October 31, 2022, or (ii) provided Tenant gives written notice to
Landlord of Tenant’s election under this subsection, on January 1, 2022 and ending on June 30, 2022 (the applicable period being the, the
“Base Rent Abatement Period”), in an amount not to exceed $677,719.98 (the “Abated Base Rent”). If Tenant is in Default under the Lease
(as amended hereby) at any time from and after the First Amendment Effective Date, then (a) at Landlord’s option, all unamortized Abated
Rent credited to Tenant prior to the occurrence of the Default shall become due and payable to Landlord (with amortization to be calculated on
a straight-line basis over the First Amendment Extended Term); and (b) if the Default occurs prior to the expiration of the Abatement Period,
there will be no further abatement of Base Rent pursuant to this Section 3(b). No such recapture by Landlord of the Abated Rent pursuant to
clause (a) above shall constitute a waiver of any Default of Tenant or any election of remedies by Landlord. During the Base Rent Abatement
Period, only Base Rent shall be abated, and all other costs and charges specified in the Lease (as amended hereby) shall remain as due and
payable pursuant to the provisions of the Lease (as amended hereby).
4.
Expenses, Insurance Expenses and Taxes; Base Year; Gross Receipts Taxes . During the First Amendment Extended Term, Tenant
shall pay for Tenant’s Share of Expenses, Insurance Expenses and Taxes in accordance with the terms of the Lease, as amended herein,
provided, however, during the First Amendment Extended Term, the Base Year for the computation of Tenant’s Share of Expenses, Insurance
Expenses and Taxes is amended to be calendar year 2022. Notwithstanding any provision of the Lease to the contrary, during the First
Amendment Extended Term, Tenant shall pay all gross receipts taxes levied or assessed and
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which become payable by Tenant (or directly or indirectly by Landlord, in which case Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the same), whether
or not now customary or within the contemplation of the parties hereto, which are based upon, measured by or otherwise calculated with
respect to the gross or net rental income of Landlord under the Lease (as amended hereby), including, without limitation, any gross receipts tax
levied by any taxing authority or adopted by any voter initiative or ballot measure, or any other gross income tax or excise tax levied by any
taxing authority or adopted by any voter initiative or ballot measure with respect to the receipt of the rental payable hereunder, including,
without limitation, the San Francisco Commercial Rent Tax for Childcare and Early Education (June 2018 Proposition C) and the San
Francisco Gross Receipts Tax and Business Registration Fees Ordinance (2012 Proposition E) (collectively, the “ Gross Receipts Taxes”). All
Gross Receipts Taxes payable by Tenant shall be paid within thirty (30) days after receipt of a statement from Landlord or the applicable taxing
authority.
5.

Tenant’s Share. During the First Amendment Extended Term, Tenant’s Share shall be 3.23%.

6.
Letter of Credit. The Letter of Credit Amount shall remain at $457,016.67, with no further reductions, and the Final LC Expiration
Date during the First Amendment Extended Term shall be December 9, 2029. Within sixty (60) days after the First Amendment Effective Date,
Tenant shall deliver to Landlord an amendment to the Letter of Credit evidencing the revised Final LC Expiration Date. .
7.
Condition of Premises; Improvements. Tenant is in possession of the Premises and accepts the same “as is” without any agreements,
representations, understandings or obligations on the part of Landlord to perform or fund any alterations, repairs or improvements.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Tenant shall be permitted to perform improvements to the Premises in accordance with the Work Agreement
attached hereto as Exhibit A; and (ii) notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5 of the Original Lease to the contrary, (A) Tenant, at its sole
cost and expense, will promptly comply with any Laws that relate to the Base Building and/or any areas of the Building or the Property outside
the Premises on the 29th Floor of the Building only, but only to the extent such obligations are triggered by Tenant’s use of the Premises (other
than for general office use) or the Tenant Improvements (as defined in the Work Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A); and (B) in addition
to Landlord’s obligations with respect to the Common Area as set forth in Section 5 of the Original Lease, Landlord, at its sole cost and
expense, will promptly comply with any Laws that relate to the Base Building and/or any Common Areas of the Building other than on the
29th Floor of the Building, but only to the extent such obligations are triggered by Tenant’s performance of the Tenant Improvements (as
defined in the Work Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A).
8.
Renewal Option. Tenant shall continue to have the right to extend the Term (the “ Renewal Option”) for the entire Premises then
leased by Tenant for one (1) additional period of five (5) years commencing on the day following the First Amendment Extended Termination
Date and ending on the fifth (5th) anniversary of such date (the “Renewal Term”) pursuant to the terms of Section 2 of Exhibit F of the Lease;
provided, however, that the “Termination Date” in Section 2 of Exhibit F of the Lease shall mean the First Amendment Extended Termination
Date.

3

9.
Right of First Offer.
(a)
Generally. Subject to the rights of Building tenants existing as of the First Amendment Effective Date (“Superior Rights”), Tenant
shall have the right of first offer with respect to the following suites which becomes Available for Lease (described below): Suite 2800
(consisting of approximately 17,017 rentable square feet) and Suite 3000 (consisting of approximately 16,171 rentable square feet) (the
“Offering Space”). Offering Space shall be deemed to be “Available for Lease” as follows: (i) with respect to any Offering Space that is
under lease from time to time to third parties, such Offering Space shall be deemed to be Available for Lease when Landlord has reasonably
determined that such third party will not extend or renew the term of its lease for the Offering Space, no occupant has a Superior Right which
is subject to exercise and Landlord is ready to market such space for lease, or (ii) with respect to any Offering Space that is not under lease,
such Offering Space shall be deemed to be Available for Lease when Landlord has reasonably determined that no occupant has a Superior
Right which is subject to exercise and Landlord is ready to market such space for lease. After Landlord has reasonably determined that any
portion of Offering Space is Available for Lease, Landlord shall advise Tenant (the “ Advice”) of the terms under which Landlord is prepared
to lease such portion of the Offering Space to Tenant for a term that is equal to the greater of (x) three (3) years and (y) the remainder of the
First Amendment Extended Term. Tenant may lease such Offering Space in its entirety only, under such terms, by delivering written notice of
exercise to Landlord (“Notice of Exercise”) within ten (10) business days after the date of delivery of the Advice, except that Tenant shall have
no such Right of First Offer and Landlord need not provide Tenant with an Advice, if:
(i)

Tenant is in Default under the Lease (as amended hereby) at the time Landlord would otherwise deliver the Advice; or

(ii)
the Premises, or any portion thereof, is sublet (other than pursuant to a Permitted Transfer) at the time Landlord would otherwise
deliver the Advice; or
(iii)
the Lease has been assigned (other than pursuant to a Permitted Transfer) prior to the date Landlord would otherwise deliver the
Advice; or
(iv)

Tenant is not occupying all of the Premises on the date Landlord would otherwise deliver the Advice.

(b)
Terms. The term for the Offering Space shall commence upon the commencement date stated in the Advice and thereupon such
Offering Space shall be considered a part of the Premises, provided that all of the terms stated in the Advice shall govern Tenant’s leasing of
the Offering Space and only to the extent that they do not conflict with the Advice, the terms and conditions of the Lease shall apply to the
Offering Space. The Letter of Credit Amount shall (i) be increased by an amount equal to four (4) months’ Base Rent applicable to the Offering
Space as of the last day of the Term and (ii) the Final LC Expiration Date shall be extended accordingly, both pursuant to the terms of either a
substitute Letter of Credit or an amendment to the existing Letter of Credit in the form required under the terms of Section 1 of Exhibit F to the
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Lease, and the Base Year for the Offering Space shall be the calendar year in which the commencement date for the Offering Space occurs.
(c)
Limitation on Right of First Offer. The rights of Tenant hereunder with respect to any portion of the Offering Space shall terminate on
the earlier to occur of: (i) with respect to any portion of the Offering Space that is the subject of an Advice, Tenant’s failure to exercise its
Right of First Offer within the ten (10) business day period provided in Section 9(a) above, and (ii) with respect to any portion of the Offering
Space which would otherwise have been the subject of an Advice, the date Landlord would have provided Tenant an Advice if Tenant had not
been in violation of one or more of the conditions set forth in clauses (i) through (iv) of Section 9(a) above.
(d)
Superior Rights. Landlord believes, but does not warrant, that the Offering Space is subject to the following Superior Rights as of the
First Amendment Effective Date:
(i)
Building.

Suite 2800: Signature Bank has a current right of first offer with respect to Suite 2800, on the twenty-eighth (28th) floor of the

(ii) Suite 3000: Retail Activation Services LLC has a current extension right with respect to Suite 3000, on the thirtieth (30th) floor of
the Building.
( d ) Offering Amendment. If Tenant exercises its Right of First Offer, Landlord shall prepare an amendment (the “ Offering
Amendment”) adding the Offering Space to the Premises on the terms set forth in the Advice and reflecting the changes in the Base Rent,
Rentable Area of the Premises, Tenant’s Share and other appropriate terms. A copy of the Offering Amendment shall be (i) sent to Tenant
within a reasonable time after receipt of the Notice of Exercise executed by Tenant, and (ii) executed by Tenant and returned to Landlord
within fifteen (15) Business Days thereafter, but an otherwise valid exercise of the Right of First Offer shall be fully effective whether or not
the Offering Amendment is signed.
10.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
This Amendment, including the attached exhibit(s), sets forth the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the matters set
forth herein. There have been no additional oral or written representations or agreements.
(b)
Except as herein modified or amended, the provisions, conditions and terms of the Lease shall remain unchanged and in full force and
effect.
(c)
In the case of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Lease and this Amendment, the provisions of this Amendment shall
govern and control.
(d)
Capitalized terms used in this Amendment shall have the same definitions as set forth in the Lease to the extent that such capitalized
terms are defined therein and not redefined in this Amendment.
(e)
Tenant hereby represents to Landlord that Tenant has dealt with no broker in connection with this Amendment other than CBRE, Inc.
(“Tenant’s Broker”). Tenant agrees to indemnify
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and hold Landlord harmless from all claims of brokers, other than Tenant’s Broker and Landlord’s Broker (defined below), claiming to have
represented Tenant in connection with this Amendment. Landlord hereby represents to Tenant that Landlord has dealt with no broker in
connection with this Amendment other than Jones Lang LaSalle America’s Inc. (“ Landlord’s Broker”). Landlord agrees to indemnify and
hold Tenant harmless from all claims of any brokers claiming to have represented Landlord in connection with this Amendment.
(f)
Each signatory of this Amendment represents hereby that he or she has the authority to execute and deliver the same on behalf of the
party hereto for which such signatory is acting.
(g)
This Amendment may be executed in multiple counterparts each of which is deemed an original but together constitute one and the
same instrument. This Amendment may be executed in so-called “pdf” format and each party has the right to rely upon a pdf counterpart of this
Amendment signed by the other party to the same extent as if such party had received an original counterpart.
(h)
Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant is currently in compliance with and shall at all times during the Term
(including any extension thereof) remain in compliance with the regulations of the Office of Foreign Asset Control (“OFAC”) of the
Department of the Treasury (including those named on OFAC’s Specially Designated and Blocked Persons List) and any statute, executive
order (including the September 24, 2001, Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit,
Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism), or other governmental action relating thereto.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have duly executed this First Amendment to Lease as of the First Amendment Effective
Date.
LANDLORD:
CA-MISSION STREET LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,
a Delaware limited partnership
By: NAPI REIT TRS, INC., a Maryland corporation
Its: General Partner

TENANT:
FORGEROCK, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
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Exhibit A
WORK AGREEMENT
THIS WORK AGREEMENT (this “Work Agreement”) is attached to and made a part of that certain First Amendment to
Lease (the “Amendment”) between CA-MISSION STREET LIMITED PARTNERSHIP (“Landlord”) and FORGEROCK, INC., a
Delaware corporation (“Tenant”). All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given such
terms in the Lease (as amended by the Amendment to which this Work Agreement is attached). This Work Agreement sets forth
the terms and conditions relating to the construction of Tenant Improvements (defined below) in the Premises.
SECTION 1
ALLOWANCE; TENANT IMPROVEMENTS
1 . 1 Allowance. Tenant shall be entitled to an allowance (the “ Allowance”) in an amount not to exceed $55.00 per
rentable square foot of the Premises (i.e., $931,865.00) for the costs relating to the design, permitting and construction of
Tenant’s improvements which are permanently affixed to the Premises (the “ Tenant Improvements”). In no event will Landlord
be obligated to make disbursements or incur costs pursuant to this Work Agreement in a total amount which exceeds the
Allowance. Tenant must complete all Tenant Improvements and have submitted Payment Request Supporting Documentation
(defined below) for such work no later than December 31, 2022 (the “Outside Allowance Date”) in order to be entitled to receive
the Allowance for such work. Any amounts not so requested by the Outside Allowance Date shall revert to Landlord and Tenant
shall have no further rights thereto.
1.2

Disbursement of the Allowance.

( a ) Allowance Items. The Allowance shall be disbursed by Landlord only for the following items and costs
(collectively the “Allowance Items”):
(i) Payment of the fees of the Architect and the Building Consultants (as those terms are defined below)
and payment of fees and costs reasonably incurred by Landlord for the review of the Construction Drawings (defined below) by
Landlord’s third party consultants;
(ii)

The payment of plan check, permit and license fees relating to the Tenant Improvements;

(iii)
The cost of construction of the Tenant Improvements, including, without limitation, cost of materials,
after hours charges, testing and inspection costs, freight elevator usage, trash removal costs, and contractors’ fees and general
conditions;
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(iv)
The cost of any changes to the Building when such changes are required by the Construction
Drawings, such cost to include all architectural and/or engineering fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith;
(v)
The cost of any changes to the Construction Drawings (defined below) or Tenant Improvements
required by applicable building codes (collectively, “Code”); and
(vi)

The Supervision Fee (defined below).

Without limiting the generality of this Section 1(a), Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that Landlord shall not disburse any
amount of the Allowance for the following items and/or costs related thereto: Cable, artwork, audio-visual equipment and Tenant’s
fixtures, furniture and equipment.
( b ) Disbursement of Allowance. During the design and construction of the Tenant Improvements, Landlord shall
make monthly disbursements of the Allowance to reimburse Tenant for Allowance Items and shall authorize the release of funds
as follows.
(i) On or before the fifth (5th) day of each calendar month (or such other date as Landlord may reasonably
designate), Tenant shall deliver to Landlord: (A) a request for payment from Contractor (defined below) approved by Tenant, in a
form reasonably approved in advance by Landlord, including a schedule of values and showing the percentage of completion, by
trade, of the Tenant Improvements, which details the portion of the work completed and the portion not completed; (B) invoices
from all of Tenant’s Agents (defined below) for labor rendered and materials delivered to the Premises; (C) executed conditional
mechanic’s lien releases from all of Tenant’s Agents who have lien rights with respect to the subject request for payment (along
with unconditional mechanics’ lien releases with respect to payments made pursuant to Tenant’s prior submission hereunder
made more than 45 days in advance of Tenant current submission) in compliance with all applicable Laws; (D) a copy of the
check(s) which Tenant issued to pay the requested sums to Tenant’s Agents; and (E) all other information reasonably requested
by Landlord (collectively, the “Payment Request Supporting Documentation”).
(ii)
Within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s delivery to Landlord of all Payment Request Supporting
Documentation, Landlord shall deliver a check made payable to Tenant in payment of the lesser of: (x) the amount so requested
by Tenant, as set forth above, less (i) the applicable Over-Allowance Amount (defined in Section 3.2(a) below and (ii) a ten
percent (10%) retention (the aggregate amount of such retentions to be known as the “Final Retention”), and (y) the balance of
any remaining available portion of the Allowance (not including the Final Retention), provided that if Landlord reasonably disputes
any item in a request for payment based on non-compliance of any work with the Approved Working Drawings (defined below) or
due to any substandard work and delivers a written objection to such item setting forth with reasonable particularity Landlord’s
reasons for its dispute (a “Draw Dispute
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Notice”) within ten (10) Business Days following Tenant’s submission of its Payment Request Supporting Documentation,
Landlord may deduct the amount of such disputed item from the payment. Landlord and Tenant shall, in good faith, endeavor to
diligently resolve any such dispute. Landlord’s payment of such amounts shall not be deemed Landlord’s approval or acceptance
of the work furnished or materials supplied as set forth in Tenant’s payment request.
(iii) Subject to the provisions of this Work Agreement, following the final completion of construction of the
Tenant Improvements, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a check made payable to Tenant, or a check or checks made payable to
another party or parties as reasonably requested by Tenant, in the amount of the Final Retention, provided that (A) Tenant
delivers to Landlord properly executed unconditional mechanics’ lien releases from all of Tenant’s Agents in compliance with all
applicable Laws, as reasonably determined by Landlord; (B) Landlord has reasonably determined in good faith that no
substandard work exists which adversely affects the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, heating, ventilating and air conditioning, lifesafety or other systems of the Building, the curtain wall of the Building, the structure or exterior appearance of the Building, or any
other tenant’s use of such other tenant’s leased premises in the Building; (C) Architect delivers to Landlord a certificate, in a form
reasonably acceptable to Landlord, certifying that the construction of the Tenant Improvements has been finally completed;
(D) Tenant supplies Landlord with evidence that all governmental approvals required for Tenant to legally occupy the Premises
have been obtained; and (E) Tenant has fulfilled its Completion Obligations (defined below) and has otherwise complied with
Landlord’s standard “close-out” requirements regarding city approvals, closeout tasks, closeout documentation regarding the
general contractor, financial close-out matters, and Tenant’s vendors.
SECTION 2
CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS
2 . 1 Selection of Architect; Building Consultants; Construction Drawings. Tenant shall retain an architect/space planner
approved in writing, in advance by Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld (the “Architect”) to prepare the
Construction Drawings. Tenant shall retain the engineering consultants designated by Landlord listed below (the “ Building
Consultants”) to prepare all plans and engineering working drawings and perform all work relating to mechanical, electrical and
plumbing (“MEP”), HVAC/Air Balancing, life-safety, structural, sprinkler and riser work:
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MEP:

Amit Wadwha Associates

Air Balancing:

Comfort Dynamics or AR&B

Life Safety:

Red Hawk or Capitol Electric

Structural:

Rivera Consulting Group, Inc.

Sprinkler:

Red Hawk or RLH or Ayoob & Peery

Riser Management:

IMG Technologies

The plans and drawings to be prepared by Architect and the Building Consultants hereunder (i.e., both the Space Plan and
the Working Drawings, as each term is defined below) shall be known collectively as the “Construction Drawings. ” All
Construction Drawings shall comply with the drawing format and specifications determined or approved by Landlord and shall be
subject to Landlord’s prior written approval, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. All MEP drawings must be
fully engineered and cannot be prepared on a “design-build” basis. Landlord’s review of the Construction Drawings shall be for its
sole purpose and shall not obligate Landlord to review the same, for quality, design, Code compliance or other like matters.
Accordingly, notwithstanding that any Construction Drawings are reviewed by Landlord or its space planner, architect, engineers
and consultants, and notwithstanding any advice or assistance which may be rendered to Tenant by Landlord or Landlord’s space
planner, architect, engineers, and consultants, Landlord shall have no liability whatsoever in connection therewith and shall not be
responsible for any omissions or errors contained in the Construction Drawings. Tenant will design the Tenant Improvements to
conform with Landlord’s existing sustainability practices for the Property and the U.S. Green Building Council’s Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (“LEED”) rating system (or other applicable certification standard) applicable to the Building.
2 . 2 Space Plan. Tenant shall supply Landlord for Landlord’s review and approval, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, with four (4) copies signed by Tenant of its space plan for the Premises (the
“Space Plan”) before any architectural working drawings or engineering drawings have been commenced. The Space Plan shall
include a layout and designation of all offices, rooms and other partitioning, their intended use, and equipment to be contained
therein. Landlord may request clarification or more specific drawings for special use items not included in the Space Plan.
Landlord shall advise Tenant within ten (10) Business Days after Landlord’s receipt of the Space Plan (or, if applicable, such
additional information requested by Landlord pursuant to the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence) if the same is
approved or is unsatisfactory or incomplete in any respect. If Tenant is so advised, Tenant shall promptly cause the Space Plan to
be revised to correct any deficiencies or other matters Landlord may reasonably require.
2.3 Working Drawings. After the Space Plan has been approved by Landlord, Tenant shall supply the Architect and the
Building Consultants with a complete listing of
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standard and non-standard equipment and specifications, including, without limitation, B.T.U. calculations, electrical requirements
and special electrical receptacle requirements for the Premises, to enable the Architect and the Building Consultants to complete
the Working Drawings and shall cause the Architect and the Building Consultants to promptly complete the architectural and
engineering drawings for the Premises, and Architect shall compile a fully coordinated set of architectural, structural and MEP
working drawings in a form which is complete to allow subcontractors to bid on the work and to obtain all applicable permits
(collectively, the “Working Drawings”) and shall submit the same to Landlord for Landlord’s review and approval, which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Tenant shall supply Landlord with four (4) copies signed by Tenant of
the Working Drawings. Landlord shall advise Tenant within ten (10) Business Days after Landlord’s receipt of the Working
Drawings if Landlord, in good faith, determines that the same are approved (as so approved, the “Approved Working
Drawings”) or are unsatisfactory or incomplete. If Tenant is advised that the Working Drawings are unsatisfactory or incomplete,
Tenant shall promptly revise the Working Drawings to correct any deficiencies or other matters Landlord may reasonably require.
2 . 4 Landlord’s Approval. Landlord’s approval of any matter under this Work Agreement may be withheld if Landlord
reasonably determines that the same would violate any provision of the Lease or this Work Agreement or would adversely affect
the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, heating, ventilating and air conditioning, life-safety or other systems of the Building, the
curtain wall of the Building, the structure or exterior appearance of the Building, or any other tenant’s use of such other tenant’s
leased premises in the Building.
SECTION 3
CONSTRUCTION OF THE TENANT IMPROVEMENTS
3.1

Tenant’s Selection of Contractors.

(a) The Contractor. A general contractor selected by Tenant from Landlord’s list of approved general contractors,
or otherwise reasonably approved by Landlord, shall be retained by Tenant to construct the Tenant Improvements (“Contractor”).
(b) Tenant’s Agents. All subcontractors, laborers, materialmen and suppliers used by Tenant (such subcontractors,
laborers, materialmen and suppliers, and the Contractor to be known collectively as “Tenant’s Agents ”) must be reasonably
approved in writing by Landlord (Landlord will approve or disapprove Tenant’s Agents within fifteen (15) Business Days following
Tenant’s written request), provided that Landlord will require Tenant to retain the Building Consultants. All of Tenant’s Agents
shall be licensed in the State of California, capable of being bonded and union-affiliated in compliance with all then existing
master labor agreements.
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3.2

Construction of Tenant Improvements by Tenant’s Agents.

(a) Construction Contract. Tenant’s construction contract and general conditions with Contractor (the “ Contract”)
shall comply with all relevant provisions of this Work Agreement. Prior to the commencement of the construction of the Tenant
Improvements, Tenant shall provide Landlord with a schedule of values consisting of a detailed breakdown, by trade, of the final
costs to be incurred or which have been incurred, for all Allowance Items in connection with the design and construction of the
Tenant Improvements, which costs form the basis for the amount of the Contract (“ Final Costs”). Prior to the commencement of
construction of the Tenant Improvements, Landlord and Tenant shall identify the amount (the “ Over-Allowance Amount”) equal
to the difference between the amount of the Final Costs and the amount of the Allowance (less any portion thereof already
disbursed by Landlord, or in the process of being disbursed by Landlord, on or before the commencement of construction of the
Tenant Improvements). In the event that the Final Costs are greater than the Allowance (such excess, the “Over-Allowance
Amount”), then Landlord will reimburse Tenant on a monthly basis, as described in Section 1.2(b)(ii) above, for a percentage of
each amount requested by the Contractor or otherwise to be disbursed under this Work Agreement, which percentage shall be
equal to the Allowance divided by the amount of the Final Costs (after deducting from the Final Costs any amounts expended in
connection with the preparation of the Construction Drawings, and the cost of all other Allowance Items incurred prior to the
commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements), and Tenant shall be solely responsible for any Over-Allowance
Amount. If, after the Final Costs have been initially determined, the costs relating to the design and construction of the Tenant
Improvements shall change, any additional costs for such design and construction in excess of the Final Costs shall be added to
the Over-Allowance Amount and the Final Costs, and Landlord’s reimbursement percentage, shall be recalculated in accordance
with the terms of the immediately preceding sentence. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary, construction of
the Tenant Improvements shall not commence until Tenant has procured and delivered to Landlord a copy of all Permits for the
applicable Tenant Improvements.
(b)

Construction Requirements.

( i ) Landlord’s General Conditions for Tenant’s Agents and Tenant Improvement Work . Construction of the
Tenant Improvements shall comply with the following: (A) the Tenant Improvements shall be constructed in strict accordance with
the Approved Working Drawings and Landlord’s then-current published construction guidelines, which may be obtained from
Landlord; (B) Tenant’s Agents shall submit schedules of all work relating to the Tenant Improvements to Landlord and Landlord
shall, within five (5) Business Days of receipt thereof, inform Tenant’s Agents of any reasonable changes which are necessary
thereto, and Tenant’s Agents shall adhere to such corrected schedule; and (C) Tenant shall abide by all commercially reasonable
rules made by Landlord’s Building manager with respect to the use of freight, loading dock and service elevators, any required
shutdown of utilities (including life-safety systems), storage of materials, coordination of work with the contractors of Landlord or
other tenants, and any other matter in connection with this Work Agreement,
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including, without limitation, the construction of the Tenant Improvements. Tenant shall pay an oversight and supervisory fee (the
“Supervision Fee”) to Landlord in an amount equal to $1.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises (i.e., $16,943.00).
(ii) Indemnity. Tenant’s indemnity of Landlord as set forth in the Lease shall also apply with respect to any
and all costs, losses, damages, injuries and liabilities related in any way to any act or omission of Tenant or Tenant’s Agents, or
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them relating to the construction of the Tenant Improvements, or in connection
with Tenant’s non-payment of any amount arising out of the Tenant Improvements and/or Landlord’s disapproval of all or any
portion of any request for payment. Such indemnity by Tenant, as set forth in the Lease, shall also apply with respect to any and
all costs, losses, damages, injuries and liabilities related in any way to Landlord’s performance of any ministerial acts reasonably
necessary (A) to permit Tenant to complete the Tenant Improvements, or (B) to enable Tenant to obtain any building permit or
certificate of occupancy for the Premises.
( i i i ) Requirements of Tenant’s Agents . Each of Tenant’s Agents shall guarantee to Tenant and for the
benefit of Landlord that the portion of the Tenant Improvements for which it is responsible shall be free from any defects in
workmanship and materials for a period of not less than one (1) year from the date of completion thereof. Each of Tenant’s
Agents shall be responsible for the replacement or repair, without additional charge, of all work done or furnished in accordance
with its contract that shall become defective within one (1) year after the completion of the work performed by such contractor or
subcontractor. The correction of such work shall include, without additional charge, all additional expenses and damages incurred
in connection with the removal or replacement of all or any part of the Tenant Improvements, and/or the Building (including the
Common Areas) and/or the Property that are damaged or disturbed thereby. All such warranties or guarantees as to materials or
workmanship of or with respect to the Tenant Improvements shall be contained in the Contract or subcontract and shall be written
such that such guarantees or warranties shall inure to the benefit of both Landlord and Tenant, as their respective interests may
appear, and can be directly enforced by either. Tenant covenants to give to Landlord any assignment or other assurances as may
be necessary to effect such right of direct enforcement.
(c)

Insurance Requirements.

( i ) General Coverages. All of Tenant’s Agents shall carry employer’s liability and worker’s compensation
insurance covering all of their respective employees, and shall also carry commercial general liability insurance, including
personal and bodily injury, property damage and completed operations liability, all with limits, in form and with companies as are
required to be carried by Tenant as set forth in the Lease.
( i i ) Special Coverages. Tenant or Contractor shall carry “Builder’s All Risk” insurance in an amount
approved by Landlord covering the
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construction of the Tenant Improvements, and such other insurance as Landlord may require, it being understood and agreed that
the Tenant Improvements shall be insured by Tenant pursuant to the Lease immediately upon completion thereof. Such insurance
shall be in amounts and shall include such extended coverage endorsements as may be reasonably required by Landlord, and
shall be in form and with companies as are required to be carried by Tenant as set forth in the Lease.
(iii) General Terms. Certificates for all of the foregoing insurance coverage shall be delivered to Landlord
before the commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements and before the Contractor’s equipment is moved onto the
site. To the extent available, all such policies of insurance must contain a provision that the company writing said policy will
endeavor to give Landlord thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of any cancellation of such insurance; provided if such notice is not
provided by contract, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a copy of any such notice received by Tenant within two (2) business days
after receipt. In the event that the Tenant Improvements are damaged by any cause during the course of the construction thereof,
Tenant shall immediately repair the same at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Tenant’s Agents shall maintain all of the foregoing
insurance coverage in force until the Tenant Improvements are fully completed and accepted by Landlord, except for any
Products and Completed Operations Coverage insurance required by Landlord, which is to be maintained for one (1) year
following completion of the work and acceptance by Landlord and Tenant. All policies carried hereunder shall insure Landlord and
Tenant, as their interests may appear, as well as Tenant’s Agents. All insurance, except Workers’ Compensation, maintained by
Tenant’s Agents shall preclude subrogation claims by the insurer against anyone insured thereunder. Such insurance shall
provide that it is primary insurance as respects Landlord and Tenant and that any other insurance maintained by Landlord or
Tenant is excess and noncontributing with the insurance required hereunder. The requirements for the foregoing insurance shall
not derogate from the provisions for indemnification of Landlord by Tenant under the Lease and/or this Work Agreement.
( d ) Governmental Compliance. The Tenant Improvements shall comply in all respects with the following: (i) all
applicable Laws including, without limitation, the Code and other federal, state, city and/or quasi-governmental laws, codes,
ordinances and regulations, as each may apply according to the rulings of the controlling public official, agent or other person or
entity; (ii) applicable standards of the American Insurance Association (formerly, the National Board of Fire Underwriters) and the
National Electrical Code; and (iii) building material manufacturer’s specifications.
(e) Inspection by Landlord. Landlord shall have the right to inspect the Tenant Improvements at all times, provided
however, that Landlord’s failure to inspect the Tenant Improvements shall in no event constitute a waiver of any of Landlord’s
rights hereunder nor shall Landlord’s inspection of the Tenant Improvements constitute Landlord’s approval of the same. Should
Landlord reasonably disapprove any portion of the Tenant Improvements, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of such
disapproval and shall specify the items disapproved. Any defects or deviations in, and/or disapproval by Landlord of, the Tenant
Improvements shall be rectified by Tenant at no expense to Landlord, provided however, that in the event Landlord determines
that a
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defect or deviation exists or disapproves of any matter in connection with any portion of the Tenant Improvements and such
defect, deviation or matter might adversely affect the MEP, heating, ventilating and air conditioning or life-safety systems of the
Building, the structure or exterior appearance of the Building or any other tenant’s use of such other tenant’s leased premises,
Landlord may take such action as Landlord reasonably deems necessary, at Tenant’s expense and without incurring any liability
on Landlord’s part, to correct any such defect, deviation and/or matter, including, without limitation, causing the cessation of
performance of the construction of the Tenant Improvements until such time as the defect, deviation and/or matter is corrected to
Landlord’s satisfaction.
( f ) Meetings. Tenant shall hold periodic meetings at a reasonable time with the Architect and the Contractor
regarding the progress of the preparation of the Construction Drawings and the construction of the Tenant Improvements, which
meetings shall be held at a location designated or reasonably approved by Landlord, and Landlord and/or its agents shall receive
prior written notice of, and shall have the right to attend, all such meetings. Upon Landlord’s request, certain of Tenant’s Agents
shall attend such meetings. In addition, minutes shall be taken at all such meetings, and Landlord will be included in the
distribution list for such minutes. To the extent applicable, one such meeting each month shall include the review of Contractor’s
current request for payment.
3 . 3 Notice of Completion; Copy of Record Set of Plans. Within fifteen (15) days after completion of construction of the
Tenant Improvements, Tenant shall cause a Notice of Completion to be recorded in the office of the Recorder of San Francisco
County shall furnish a copy thereof to Landlord upon such recordation, and shall timely give all notices required pursuant to the
California Civil Code. If Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may execute and file such Notice of Completion and give such notices on
behalf of Tenant as Tenant’s agent for such purpose, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Within thirty (30) days following the
completion of construction, (i) Tenant shall cause the Architect and Contractor (A) to update the Approved Working Drawings as
necessary to reflect all changes made to the Approved Working Drawings during the course of construction, (B) to certify to the
best of their knowledge that the updated drawings are true and correct, which certification shall survive the expiration or
termination of the Lease, and (C) to deliver to Landlord such updated drawings in accordance with Landlord’s then-current CAD
Requirements, and (ii) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a copy of all warranties, guaranties, and operating manuals and
information relating to the improvements, equipment, and systems in the Premises. Tenant’s obligations set forth in this Section
are collectively referred to as the “Completion Obligations.”
SECTION 4
MISCELLANEOUS
4 . 1 Tenant’s Representative . Tenant has designated John Fernandez as its sole representative with respect to the
matters set forth in this Work Agreement, until
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further notice to Landlord, who shall have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf of Tenant as required in this Work
Agreement.
4 . 2 Landlord’s Representative. Landlord has designated Trish Moosbrugger to serve as its sole representative with
respect to the matters set forth in this Work Agreement, who, until further notice to Tenant, shall have full authority and
responsibility to act on behalf of Landlord as required in this Work Agreement.
4.3 Tenant’s Default. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in the Lease, if a Default by Tenant under
the Lease (or, without limitation, a breach of Tenant’s obligations under this Work Agreement) has occurred at any time on or
before the substantial completion of the Tenant Improvements, then (i) in addition to all other rights and remedies granted to
Landlord pursuant to the Lease, Landlord shall have the right to withhold payment of all or any portion of the Allowance, and
(ii) all other obligations of Landlord under the terms of this Work Agreement shall be suspended until such time as such default is
cured pursuant to the terms of the Lease.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OFTHE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Francis Rosch, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ForgeRock, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ Francis Rosch
Francis Rosch
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John Fernandez, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ForgeRock, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 12, 2021

By:

/s/ John Fernandez
John Fernandez
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of Global Operations
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Francis Rosch, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of
ForgeRock, Inc. for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2021 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and that the information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
ForgeRock, Inc.
Date: November 12, 2021

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Francis Rosch
Francis Rosch
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

I, John Fernandez, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
of ForgeRock, Inc. for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2021 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and that the information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
ForgeRock, Inc.
Date: November 12, 2021

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ John Fernandez
John Fernandez
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of Global Operations
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

